
 

 

NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Scrutiny Panel 1 (Child Sexual Exploitation) 

 

Your attendance is requested at a meeting to be held on 
Thursday, 10 November 2016, 

commencing at 6:00pm in the Jeffery Room at the Guildhall 
 

D Kennedy 
Chief Executive  

 

 

  
  
  
  
 
If you need any advice or information regarding this agenda please 
phone Tracy Tiff, Scrutiny Officer, direct dial 01604 837408 email 
ttiff@northampton.gov.uk who will be able to assist with your enquiry.  
For further information regarding Scrutiny Panel 1 -  Child Sexual 
Exploitation (CSE) please visit the website 
www.northampton.gov.uk/scrutiny 
 
Members of the Panel    
 

Chair  Councillor Dennis Meredith 

Deputy Chair 
 
Panel Members 

Councillor James Hill 
 
Councillor Rufia Ashraf 
Councillor Sally Beardsworth 
Councillor Muna Cali 
Councillor Janice Duffy 
Councillor James Hill (James) 
Councillor Cathrine Russell 
Councillor Brian W Sargeant 
Councillor Zoe Smith 
Councillor Danielle Stone 
Councillor Graham Walker 
 

 
Calendar of meetings    
 

Date  Room   

  5 January 2017   6:00 pm 
16 March 

All meetings to be held in the Jeffery 
Room at the Guildhall unless 
otherwise stated 

www.northampton.gov.uk/scrutiny


Northampton Borough Scrutiny Panel 1 -  Child 
Sexual Exploitation (CSE) 

     

 
 

Agenda 
Item No 
and Time 

Title  Pages Action required  

1.   
6:00pm 

 

Apologies  The Chair to note apologies for 
absence. 

2.   
 

 

Deputations and Public 
Addresses 

 The Chair to note public address 
requests. 
  
The public can speak on any agenda 
item for a maximum of three minutes per 
speaker per item.  You are not required 
to register your intention to speak in 
advance but should arrive at the 
meeting a few minutes early, complete a 
Public Address Protocol and notify the 
Scrutiny Officer of your intention to 
speak. 

 

3.   
 

 

Declarations of Interest 
(Including Whipping) 

 Members to state any interests. 

4.   
 

 

Minutes 1 - 5 Members to approve the minutes of the 
meeting held on 8 September 2016. 

5.   
 

 

Witness Evidence  The Scrutiny Panel to receive a 
response to its core questions from key 
expert advisors. 

5 (a)   
6:05pm 
 

Cabinet Member for Children's 
Services and Director of 
Children's Services, NCC 

6 - 95  

5 (b)   
6:20pm 
 

Chair, Northamptonshire 
Safeguarding Board 

96 - 115  

5 (c)   
6:40pm 

Cabinet Member for Adult 
Services ,NCC 

  

5 (d)   
7:00pm 

Director, Education Services, 
NCC 

116 - 
118 

 

5 (e)   
7:15pm 

Children's Rights Officer, 
Children's Rights Group 

  

5 (f)   
7:30pm 
 

Leader of the Council, Cabinet 
Member for Community Safety, 
Director of Customers and 
Communities and 
Environmental Health and 
Licensing Manager, NBC 

119 - 
125 

 

http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=16171


Northampton Borough Scrutiny Panel 1 -  Child 
Sexual Exploitation (CSE) 

     

6.   
7:50pm 

 

Background data 126 - 
149 

The Scrutiny Panel to receive a briefing 
note on best practice elsewhere. (Copy 
to follow) 



 
Scrutiny Panel 1 -  Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) Minutes - Thursday, 8 September 2016 

NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

MINUTES OF SCRUTINY PANEL 1 -  CHILD SEXUAL EXPLOITATION (CSE) 
 

Thursday, 8 September 2016 
 

 
COUNCILLORS 
PRESENT: 

Councillor James Hill (Deputy Chair – In the Chair);  Councillors 
Rufia Ashraf, Zoe Smith and Danielle Stone 
 

 
  

  

 
Witnesses 
 

  
Rich Tomkins, RISE Team, Northants Police 
Det. Sup. Steve Lingley, Head of Vulnerable People, Northants 
Police 
Shirley Davies, Executive Director, NPH 
 

Officers Phil Harris, Head of Housing and Wellbeing 
Tracy Tiff, Scrutiny Officer 

 

 
 
1. APOLOGIES 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Dennis Meredith (Chair), Janice 
Duffy, Catherine Russell, Brian Sargeant and Graham Walker. 
 
Councillor James Hill, Deputy Chair, was in the Chair for the meeting. 
 
2. DEPUTATIONS AND PUBLIC ADDRESSES 

There were none. 
 
3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST (INCLUDING WHIPPING) 

There were none. 
 
4. MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 7 July 2016 were signed by the Chair as a true and 
accurate record. 
 
5. WITNESS EVIDENCE 
 

(A) CHAIR, COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP 

A written response to the core questions was received from the Chair of the Community 
Safety Partnership. 
 
 
 
 

1

Agenda Item 4



 
Scrutiny Panel 1 -  Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) Minutes - Thursday, 8 September 2016 

 
The Scrutiny Panel made comment and observations: 
 

 Concerns were raised regarding over-crowding in properties and sexual activity; 
specific concerns were raised regarding children sharing bedrooms with their 
parents.  

 
 
AGREED: That the information provided informs the evidence base of this Scrutiny 
Review. 
 
(B) SENIOR CASE MANAGER, ASB 

The Chair advised the Scrutiny Panel that the Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) Unit had 
nothing further to add to the responses to the core questions that had been submitted by 
the Chair of the Community Safety Partnership. 
 
The following information was provided by the Chair from the ASB Unit: 
 
In the ASB Unit, Officers do occasionally deal with young people, both boys and girls, who 
cause concern regarding the possibility of them having been groomed and exploited.  We 
are all mindful of CSE and where appropriate link in with the appropriate teams.  Both the 
RISE team and the ASB Unit use one shared database called E-CINS which is for 
partnership work.  Officers always share access to the RISE team for any of our shared 
cases, but acknowledge that their work is sensitive and confidential, so they do not share 
access to their work with the ASB. The ASB is happy to work together to address any 
welfare and safeguarding issues above action that it might take against the youths in all its 
work with both offenders and victims/witnesses. 
 
The ASB is always looking at the best long-term solutions, at interventions and partnership 
working, long before we look at enforcement. 
 
The Scrutiny Panel made comment: 
 

 It was queried whether there was a link between the Northampton Diverse 
Communities Forum and other such Community Groups and whether such Groups 
are equipped with dealing with reports of CSE and not just “signposting” Groups. 

 It was suggested that a potential recommendation of the final report could be 
around training for Community Groups on acknowledging and referring information 
regarding CSE.  It was highlighted that sharing of information is key. 

 
AGREED: 
 

1 That the information provided informs the evidence base of this Scrutiny Review.  
 

2 That a potential recommendation of the final report could be around training for 
Community Groups on acknowledging and referring information regarding CSE. 

 
 
 

2



 
Scrutiny Panel 1 -  Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) Minutes - Thursday, 8 September 2016 

(C) SERVICE MANAGER, RISE CSE TEAM 

Consideration of agenda items 5 (c) and 5(d) were taken together. 
 
Det. Supt Steve Lingley, the Head of Protecting Vulnerable People, Northants Police, set 
the context advising on how the Police and various partners working together and 
operation in relation to CSE.  He emphasised that the Safeguarding Board has the 
strategic oversight for CSE and has commissioned a sub group that has been running for 
around 18 months. The sub group comprises a high level Chair and it has responsibility for 
the delivery of the Strategy and Action Plan and ensuring joint working.  It was highlighted 
that Rich Tompkins, Service Manager, Rise Team, reports to a Social Worker in his 
capacity of a Police Officer which shows excellent joint working. 
 
Steve Lingley went on to explain about safeguarding, the Missing Persons Team and how 
intelligence analysis is undertaken.  The Team looks at National Best Practice. 
 
A written response to the core questions was received from The Service Manager, RISE 
CSE Team, Northants Police.  Rich Tompkins elaborated on the key points contained 
within the response. 
 
The Scrutiny Panel asked questions, made comment and heard: 
 

       There is strong community safety engagement and a strong presence from 
Community Safety Partnerships 

       Concerns were raised that sex education and the correct vocabulary is not 
compulsory in schools.  It was reported that there are links between education and 
the Safeguarding Board.  It was suggested that a potential recommendation of the 
final report could be around sex education and use of correct vocabulary in schools 
to be put to the Schools Forum 

       Rich Tompkins advised that a publicity campaign had significantly raised awareness 
of CSE. There were now typically around 15-20 referrals per month.   

       A young person is allocated an engagement worker for an average of six months. 

       In response to a query whether the work of the RISE Team is preventative, Rich 
Tompkins advised that it is a combination of both.  Many are already victims and he 
gave examples of young children that are not yet victims but potentially could be. 

       The Health Nurse links in with schools and covers medical, mental and sexual 
health. 

       There is a team of six Police Officers that do proactive work and develop 
intelligence. 

       In response to a question about social media, Rich Tompkins confirmed that a large 
proportion of case work involves social media, especially around smart „phone 
usage, for example Sexting. The opportunity to commit online offenses is prevalent. 

       All CSE incidents, intelligence and new crimes are reviewed daily as an agenda 
item of the RISE daily meeting.  

       The organisation, CAN, who operate as part of RISE provides a service conducting 
work to support young people involved with drugs and alcohol. 

       A large proportion of the young people working with RISE are females but the team 
do work with males and currently have 2 such cases (4% of the total).  It was 
acknowledged that young boys are less likely to report.  An example was provided 

3



 
Scrutiny Panel 1 -  Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) Minutes - Thursday, 8 September 2016 

to the Panel. The RISE team manager is going to a workshop held by Blast in 
October – this is an organisation that works with young male victims of CSE. RISE 
will be seeking learning and idea‟s from the workshop.  

       In response to a question regarding historical incidents of CSE in Children‟s homes 
and whether this is now in the past, Rich Tompkins advised that the ability to 
identify risky behaviour has improved people‟s confidence to come forward earlier. 
The officers pointed they recognised the vulnerabilities of children in care, the aim 
to prevent child abuse and the challenges to achieving this.   

       In response to a query regarding minority ethnic group reporting, Rich Tompkins 
advised that reports are anonymised but 87% of  young person‟s working with RISE 
are white British. It was suggested by the Police that there are opportunities to 
improve dialogue with LGBT and disabled people. Some work has been 
undertaken, for example CSE awareness raising to Pearls of Peace, a Muslim 
women‟s group based in Northampton. This was organised by the Police‟s two 
Community Engagement Officers. 

       In answer to a question regarding missing children, the Scrutiny Panel heard that 
following every missing child episode in Northants an independent return home 
interview  is conducted, ideally within 72 hours. This is  to try and minimise future 
risk to those children by understanding why they went missing and taking 
safeguarding action. In the county around 3/4 children are missing each day, 
equating to approximately 120 per month. The RISE and IRT Team have robust 
procedures in place, as positively commented on by OFSTED in a review they 
conducted in February this year. RISE has links with all neighbouring authorities 
which works very well. 

       In answer to a question regarding whether the RISE Team would let a community 
deal with an incident of CSE, i.e. let the Community Leaders deal with it, Steve 
Lingley advised that the Team has a duty to take positive action. It was 
acknowledged that there is a need to improve on language skills and that the 
various Communities could assist with this. 

       In answer to a query regarding homeless children living as rough sleepers, Phil 
Harris confirmed that if a young person under 18 is homeless, Housing Services 
and Social Services have to house them. 

 
 
Steve Lingley and Rich Tompkins were thanked for their comprehensive address. 
 
AGREED:              That the information provided informs the evidence base of this 
Scrutiny Review. 
 
 
(D) HEAD OF PROTECTING VULNERABLE PEOPLE, NORTHANTS POLICE 

Consideration of this agenda item was taken together with 5(c). 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4



 
Scrutiny Panel 1 -  Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) Minutes - Thursday, 8 September 2016 

(E) CHIEF EXECUTIVE, NPH 

A written response to the core questions was received from the Chief Executive, and 
Executive Director, NPH.    Shirley Davies elaborated on the key points contained within 
the response. 
 
The Scrutiny Panel asked questions, made comment and heard: 
 

 In response to a query regarding training for workmen, Shirley Davies advised that 
workmen have a card that they complete if they have any concerns.  In addition, 
workmen have “Toolbox Talks” and awareness raising sessions.  The Scrutiny 
Panel commented that it is important that all have training on awareness raising. 

 The Scrutiny Panel suggested that there is a need to ensure that the   outdoor 
environment is as safe as possible where children are likely to play in external 
communal areas.  

 
Shirley Davies was thanked for her comprehensive address. 
 
AGREED: That the information provided informs the evidence base of this Scrutiny 
Review. 
  
 
6. BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

The Scrutiny Panel received a briefing note that detailed information about various 
published papers around CSE. The Scrutiny Officer highlighted the key points contained 
within the briefing note. The Panel supported the toolkits produced by the LGA and 
referred to a Toolkit put together by the Northamptonshire Safeguarding Children‟s Board 
(NSCB). It was suggested that a potential recommendation of the final report is that all 
Councillors are sent a copy of both Toolkits. 
 
 
AGREED:  
 

(1) That the information provided informs the evidence base of this Scrutiny Review. 
 

(2) That a potential recommendation of the final report is that all Councillors are 
issued with a copy of the Toolkits - LGA “Tackling CSE – A resource pack for 
Councillors” and the NSPCC Toolkit  “Solution Focussed Practice Toolkit – 
Helping Professionals use the approach when dealing with children and young 
people.” 

 
 
 
The meeting concluded at 7:14 pm 
 
 

5



Information for Northampton Borough Council 
Scrutiny Panel

Key Line of Enquiry:

• To gain an understanding of the work currently being 
undertaken by partnerships, statutory and voluntary undertaken by partnerships, statutory and voluntary 
organisations, and the police to address these issues

6

A
genda Item

 5a



To gain an understanding of the work currently being 
undertaken by partnerships, statutory and voluntary 
organisations, and the police to address these issues

Northamptonshire Safeguarding Children’s Board:

-The statutory partnership place where CSE is addressed 
(the borough/district council representative is the CEO (the borough/district council representative is the CEO 
from Wellingborough Council);

-A specific CSE and Missing Children sub-group;

7



To gain an understanding of the work currently being 
undertaken by partnerships, statutory and voluntary 
organisations, and the police to address these issues

Northamptonshire Safeguarding Children’s Board:

-Multi-agency CSE Strategy in place with priorities:

Ensure a coordinated multi-agency response to CSE throughout 
Northamptonshire;Northamptonshire;

Raise awareness amongst professionals in universal and specialist services of 
their role in identifying and addressing CSE;

Raise awareness of CSE amongst young people and their parents and carers;

Map out the needs within the local community where young people are at 
risk; and

Provide enhanced support to victims to help disrupt offender rings and ensure 
justice for the victims and their families.

8



To gain an understanding of the work currently being 
undertaken by partnerships, statutory and voluntary 
organisations, and the police to address these issues

Northamptonshire Safeguarding Children’s Board:

- Recent activity:

Northamptonshire Police: production of CSE Problem Profile

Northamptonshire County Council: mapping exercise of service provision for Northamptonshire County Council: mapping exercise of service provision for 
CSE

Health: production of a CSE resource toolkit for public and professionals to 
help identify CSE and offer support. This will be launched at a conference in 
May 2015.

A partnership CSE communications campaign has been developed to raise 
public awareness with specific targeting to hotels, taxi drivers etc.

A training needs analysis has been undertaken.

9



To gain an understanding of the work currently being 
undertaken by partnerships, statutory and voluntary 
organisations, and the police to address these issues

Northamptonshire Safeguarding Children’s Board:

-Training:

CSE training is made available to all partners via Barnardo’s.  It can be booked 
via the NSCB website:

http://www.northamptonshirescb.org.ukhttp://www.northamptonshirescb.org.uk

-Toolkits:
Resources for multi-agency professionals, schools, voluntary organisations, 
parents and carers

-Campaigns:
Planned and delivered on behalf of the partnership via the NSCB

10



To gain an understanding of the work currently being 
undertaken by partnerships, statutory and voluntary 
organisations, and the police to address these issues

Multi-agency CSE Team (RISE):

A multi-professional team of police, social workers, family 
support workers, and health, with access to therapeutic 
support for victims.

The team disrupts CSE activity, arrests and prosecutes 
perpetrators, supports victims, provides education.

11



To gain an understanding of the work currently being 
undertaken by partnerships, statutory and voluntary 
organisations, and the police to address these issues

Kayleigh’s Story:

A DVD based on the real events of a CSE case in 
Leicestershire in 2015 which led to the sad death of a 15 
year old girl.  The grooming took place over a short period 
of just a few weeks and involved the perpetrator sending of just a few weeks and involved the perpetrator sending 
thousands of texts.

This is the trailer for the video which will be shown in 
Northamptonshire schools this term: 
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=kahRV5DGEVo

12



To gain an understanding of the work currently being 
undertaken by partnerships, statutory and voluntary 
organisations, and the police to address these issues

Further information:

‘Time to listen’ – a joined up response to child sexual 
exploitation and missing children:  a report by Ofsted, 
HMIC, HMIP an the Care Quality Commission, published 
September 2016.September 2016.

www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/.../response-to-
child-exploitation-and-missing-children

13



 RESTRICTED 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Child Sexual Exploitation 
August 2016 
Partnership Assessment 
 
 
Mark Healey, Northamptonshire Police 
Lynne Taylor and Luiza Morris-Warren, Northamptonshire County Council 
26/10/2016 
 
 
 
 
 

This profile, commissioned by the Northamptonshire Safeguarding Children Board, examines Child 
Sexual Exploitation (CSE) in Northamptonshire in 2015/16.  The profile focuses on the current nature 
and scale of CSE but has a particular emphasis on the links to children and young people that 
frequently go missing.  This work was co-authored by analysts from Northamptonshire Police and 
Northamptonshire County Council, and is the first Northamptonshire CSE profile to bring together 
the information held by the two organisations into one narrative.  This local profile has been created 
to inform regionalised safeguarding responses to CSE.  It is not designed as a public facing document 
nor should it be used/ referenced in related reporting accordingly. Permission for onward 
dissemination or use must be sought from the report originator via the Northamptonshire 
Safeguarding Children Board (NSCB) prior to any activity being undertaken.  This is shared in trust 
with you or your organisation as a key valued safeguarding partner. 

 

 

14



 

P a g e  2 | 82 

 

 

CONTENTS 
Key Findings and Executive Summary ........................................................................................................... 3 
Summary of Recommendations .................................................................................................................... 5 

1. Introduction ............................................................................................................................................... 8 
1.1 Aim and Purpose............................................................................................................................ 8 
1.2 Commissioned by .......................................................................................................................... 8 
1.3 Data Sources .................................................................................................................................. 8 
1.4 Methodology and Scope ................................................................................................................ 8 
1.5 Definition of CSE ............................................................................................................................ 8 
1.6 Crime Recording .......................................................................................................................... 10 
1.7 Recording in Children’s Social Care ............................................................................................. 10 
1.8 Context ........................................................................................................................................ 11 
1.9 Departments that work with CSE ................................................................................................ 11 

2. Vulnerability – Understanding Victims .................................................................................................... 17 
3. Understanding Perpetrators .................................................................................................................... 19 

3.1. Motivation ................................................................................................................................... 19 
3.2. Control and exchange .................................................................................................................. 19 
3.3. How do Perpetrators Maintain this Control? .............................................................................. 20 
3.4. High Risk Locations Where Victims are Targeted ........................................................................ 20 
3.5. Grooming Including Online Abuse ............................................................................................... 21 

4. Level and Types of Child Abuse Reported in Northamptonshire ............................................................ 23 
4.1. Levels of Child Sexual Exploitation in Northamptonshire ........................................................... 24 
4.2. The Location of CSE Recorded CSE in Northamptonshire ........................................................... 25 

5. Types of Child Sexual Exploitation in Northamptonshire ........................................................................ 28 
5.1. Online Grooming ......................................................................................................................... 28 
5.2. Online Safety training .................................................................................................................. 32 
5.3 Offline Grooming leading to CSE ................................................................................................. 32 
5.4 Peer to Peer Sexual Exploitation ................................................................................................. 33 
5.5 CSE Conducted by Persons in Authority ...................................................................................... 33 
5.6 CSE by Prostitution ...................................................................................................................... 34 
5.7 Sexual Exploitation in Organised Crime Groups (OCGs) or Networks ......................................... 34 
5.8 Other Potential Risk Factors ........................................................................................................ 35 
5.9 AlterEgo Creative Solutions - Chelsea’s Choice, A Preventative Play .......................................... 35 
5.10 Child Sexual Abuse – Stranger Contact Offences ........................................................................ 37 
5.11 Non-Crime Incidents .................................................................................................................... 37 
5.12 Referrals to Children’s Social Services ......................................................................................... 38 
5.13 Multiple CSE referrals .................................................................................................................. 42 
5.14 CSE Crime referrals ...................................................................................................................... 43 
5.15 Initial Assessments by NCC with flagged risk of CSE ................................................................... 44 
5.16 Initial Assessment with the RISE Team (Northamptonshire multi-agency team) ....................... 47 
5.17 Children Open to Children’s Social Care At Risk of CSE ............................................................... 51 

6. Collecting Intelligence ............................................................................................................................. 52 
7. Frequently Missing Persons Under 18 ..................................................................................................... 55 

7.1 Referrals to Children’s Social Services for Missing Children & Young People ............................. 61 
7.2 All Missing Children, Initial Contacts Demographics ................................................................... 62 
7.3 Frequently Missing ...................................................................................................................... 65 
7.4 Both CSE and Missing .................................................................................................................. 66 
7.5 Initial Assessment by NCC with flagged as risk of Missing .......................................................... 68 

8. Victim Profile ........................................................................................................................................... 72 
9. Offender Profile ....................................................................................................................................... 77 
10. Conclusion and Next Steps .................................................................................................................. 80 
11. References and Useful Websites ......................................................................................................... 81 
12. Appendix A - Local Profiles .................................................................................................................. 82 
 15



 

P a g e  3 | 82 

 

Foreword 

 

Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) is sexual abuse and can have a serious long-term impact on every 

aspect of the victim’s life, health and education. A number of high profile cases of CSE have all 

received national attention, with a series of inquiries, reports and research into what went wrong 

in local and national systems, how the abuse could have been prevented, and how victims could be 

better supported in future. 

Northamptonshire Safeguarding Children Board is committed to tackling the issue of CSE and the 
commissioning of this local problem profile is a key requirement to ensure that we use evidence and 
information to understand what is happening locally, develop a strategic response, support victims 
and facilitate police disruption activity and prosecutions.  
 
Tackling CSE requires a genuine multi-agency approach. Partners need to work collaboratively to 

ensure that progress at the strategic level filters down to the front line. Identifying and protecting 

children and young people is everyone’s responsibility. Our duty, as a Local Authority and as 

individual agencies, is to work effectively together to prevent CSE, intervene early when risks are 

identified, help, protect and support children who are being exploited and determinedly pursue the 

perpetrators. 

The publication of this problem profile is a timely opportunity to reaffirm our collective 

determination to continue to tackle Child Sexual Exploitation in Northamptonshire. 

I do urge you to read this report and take the findings back into your organisation.  

 

Lesley Hagger 

Director of Children, Families and Education 

 

 

  

16



 

P a g e  4 | 82 

 

Key Findings and Executive Summary  

There were 170 victims of CSE crimes recorded by Northamptonshire Police between 01/04/2015 and 

31/03/2016. 

65 of these occurred prior to the reporting period. 

During 2015/16, 456 children and young people (CYP) were recorded by Children’s Social Care at Initial 

Contact (IC) stage with a presenting issue of CSE, a total of 512 times.   

Repeat contacts were made about 50 children who had 105 ICs for CSE between April 2014 and March 2015; 

of these, 5 had 3 referrals and the remaining 45 had 2 referrals each. 

In Northamptonshire during 2015/16, a total of 534 Initial Assessments (IAs) were completed by Children’s 

Social Care that indicated a risk or known concerns around CSE or Missing for a total of 497 children being 

assessed. 

There are other risks associated with CSE, which also increase the likelihood of CSE occurring such as going 

missing, emotional abuse and a history of sexual abuse. 

Northamptonshire Partnership organisations have dramatically improved their response to CSE compared to 

two years ago, in a number of ways: 

 Better at supporting victims 

 Better at recording criminal offences 

 Better at targeting perpetrators 

 Better at multi-agency coordination 

 Better at training frontline staff 

 Better leadership and organisational structure with increased accountability 

 Better use of intelligence 

 Better at raising CSE awareness in young people and the overall community 

 

However, there is still one main area of concern: could Northamptonshire partner agencies be more 

proactive in targeting vulnerable children and their potential perpetrators? 

There are opportunities to be more proactive in analysing what we know about victims and perpetrators in 

identifying CSE networks.  So far there has been little analysis of children and young people identified from 

existing lower level intelligence that is being linked to CSE indirectly.   

Equally, there are geographic areas in Northamptonshire where intelligence has not been submitted in the 

same quantities as other areas.  This may mean that CSE is not occurring in these areas but experiences from 

other parts of the country suggest that unless intelligence is sought in a proactive way then it is more likely 

that CSE in these areas remains hidden. 

Finally, there are still problems with the accuracy and quality of data recording within all agencies. 

  

17



 

P a g e  5 | 82 

 

Summary of Recommendations 

 

Below is a list of recommendations that have been drawn together from the following report and have been 

made based on the intelligence and data presented. The recommendations should be taken into 

consideration when planning improvements to the current services offered around CSE.  

National Recommendations:  

 Training should be developed for frontline staff in services for children and young people to 

recognise the warning signs and risk factors of child exploitation and how to respond using child 

protection procedures.  This should include understanding the elements of grooming and coercion 

so that a child or young person’s behaviour is not dismissed as rebellious or consenting to the 

abuse – National Working Group for CSE. 

 All agencies should be fully involved with multi-agency arrangements for intelligence gathering and 

sharing in relation to CSE – National Working Group for CSE. 

 

Local Recommendations: 

1. To ensure that a CSE referral flag is implemented on the Niche Crime Recording Database on all CSE 

offences. 

2. All professionals who work with children and young people should be aware of the early warning 

indicators of CSE.  It is unlikely that professionals individually see a complete picture, so it is 

essential that they work together to recognise these signs. 

3. To produce local CSE profiles identifying locations, offenders and victims with increased 

vulnerability for CSE for each of Northamptonshire’s seven districts and boroughs (See Appendix A). 

4. To have a joint partnership code of practice that provides guidance on intervention options for 

each stage of grooming. 

5. To target areas with low level of CSE intelligence via a greater degree of awareness campaigning.  

Local profiles would also help to identify issues. 

6. Training is required to give all professionals guidance around social media and other software 

applications that make children and young persons vulnerable to CSE. 

7. Northamptonshire Police to consider evaluating the Sussex initiative to decide whether it could 

work in Northamptonshire.  Adopting this initiative may also help in generating new intelligence. 

8. To ensure that all children and young people found to be in an inappropriate relationship due to 

their age difference are advised about issues associated with CSE.  In particular, advice should be 

provided on consent and choice. 

9. To ensure that the CSE Assessment is carried out by the appropriate service for all young people 

found to be in an inappropriate relationship due to their age difference.  

10. Northamptonshire partner organisations should regularly review their intelligence on offenders, 

victims and frequently missing persons to proactively seek out potential CSE offender networks.  

Any intelligence gaps should also be acted upon. 

11. To conduct regular proactive analysis on all sexual offences to under 18 year olds (U18s) with the 

aim of identifying possible serial CSE offenders. 

12. To provide Police officers with guidance on how to record CSE crimes and non-crimes using the CSE 

referral flag on Niche. 

13. To regularly conduct audits on non-crimes which have been labelled as ‘child safeguarding’ to 

ensure where there is CSE risk that they also have the ‘CSE referral’ flag. 

18



 

P a g e  6 | 82 

 

14. MASH to review data recording procedure for referrals, with particular emphasis on ensuring that 

only those within a sibling group at risk of CSE are coded as ‘at risk of CSE’.  

15. Explore the possibility of creating work streams aimed at encouraging male victims of CSE to report 

and seek support within Northamptonshire.   

16. Work with Secondary Schools to raise young people’s awareness of the risk of CSE, given this is the 

age group most likely to be affected, including: 

a. Young people’s understanding of early warning indicators of grooming and CSE 

b. Risk factors  

c. Parental understanding of CSE and risk factors and support available  

d. Work with School Governors and designated Governor for CSE   

17. Work with local community groups, youth groups, sports teams and clubs to enable better 

understanding of CSE, welfare and safeguarding concerns both in relations to the groups and their 

members.   

18. Improve data capture of ethnicity in Children’s Social Care records, through service-wide training, 

management of data quality by the service, to better identify ethnic groups so that future 

preventative work can be better targeted.  

19. Develop understanding around increased numbers of initial contacts for CSE in Kettering. 

20. To analyse the rates of referrals to RISE to deepen the understanding of the upwards trend in levels 

of referrals and investigations.  Possible focuses could include:    

a. Cases re-referred to RISE  

b. Capacity of team compared to referred caseload 

c. Evidence of repeat referrers for both accepted and avoidable referrals 

21. To develop understanding of CSE concerns in the LAC cohort and commonalities such as 

accommodation, education location or group ties. 

22. To amend the various plans in the Children’s Social Care system to include more detail on CSE in 

line with the Ofsted 2015/16 data collection requirements.  These should include:  

a. Add a ‘CSE risk’ and ‘Subject to CSE’ tick in the Q2.  Review Child In Need Plans and Initial 

Child In Need Plan 

b. Add a ‘CSE risk’ and ‘Subject to CSE’ tick in the ‘CP Conference Minutes NEW’ form. 

c. Add a ‘CSE risk’ and ‘Subject to CSE’ tick in the ‘LAC review chairs report’. 

23. Partnership professionals to target intelligence gathering initiatives in areas where currently there 

is an intelligence gap.  This should start with Wellingborough as the first priority. 

24. All U18s with intelligence flagged as ‘CSE’ to be periodically reviewed by partnership agencies.  

25. To conduct analysis at the locations most often mentioned in intelligence to help identify whether 

perpetrators are targeting these locations.  

26. In Niche intelligence to use either the field named ‘Remarks’ or the field named ‘Location Type’ to 

record the main location type associated quoted within an intelligence  

27. A new warning flag within the Northamptonshire Police database should be created, called 

‘Missing/CSE Vulnerable’.  All of the U18s that go missing more than 3 times within a 6 month 

period should be flagged with this warning marker. 

28. To provide a factsheet with advice on alcohol/ drugs and helpline contacts to all U18 missing 

persons. 

29. Standardise taxi drivers training across the county via the Community Safety Partnerships (CSP)  

30. Introduce CSE training for Licensing Officers, Environmental Officer and Park Rangers 

31. Regular analysis of recovery locations should be conducted for U18 missing persons as a whole, to 

identify commonality and locations of greater risk to vulnerable children and young people in 

Northamptonshire.  

19

http://sv-carefirst-live-app.corp.northamptonshire.gov.local/cfi/application_store/system/index.cfm?action=CFQS010C&sub=assess&asm_id=A1242257&preview=true&CFID=326693&CFTOKEN=79221217&jsessionid=0103a2f2d6256c791e31165121356c303a29


 

P a g e  7 | 82 

 

32. A CSE ANPR hot-list should be created with suspect vehicles.  Intelligence on vehicles should be 

sourced from all agencies.  This would be a proactive response to missing persons that may have 

been targeted by CSE perpetrators. 

33. To regularly review return interviews as a whole, to identify where strategic learning can be gained.  

34. To consider the benefits of replicating the Northumberland example of best practice in risk 

assessing and acting upon return interviews for U18 missing persons. 

35. To review the way in which partnership agencies provide support to U18 missing persons to ensure 

that this is adequate and addresses the reasons why they go missing. 

36. Conduct a publicity campaign to increase the awareness of CSE among boys and young men for 

both the general public and professionals working with U18s. 

37. Particular attention needs to be given to the issues with the reporting of gay, lesbian and 

transsexual CSE offences.  Victims may not be reporting because of fear of shame. 

38. Custody Sergeants to receive tailored training on CSE which would include highlighting potential 

CSE risk indicators in arrested young people 

a. To review the number of female Custody Sergeants 

b. To revise the prisoner release leaflet to include contact numbers for CSE helplines 

c. To consider having a workshop for Custody Sergeants and partnership staff where they 

would act out a scenario involving a CSE element. 

39. When an under 18 child or young person becomes the victim of a violent crime or sexual offence, 

early intervention needs to take place to help prevent that person from becoming subject to a 

further sexual offence including CSE. 

40. The significant consequences of committing CSE offences need to be publicised in order that 

potential offenders realise the implications these offences will have on them. 

41. To conduct a Northamptonshire communities profile focusing on cultural beliefs with respect to 

relationships and sexual consent.  This should then be used to tailor social media messages on CSE 

with both an enforcement and preventative perspective. 

42. To find partners outside of the usual Police, Health, Education and Social Services arena, for 

example within the night time economy, hospitality, leisure, and retail industries to work with. 

  

20



 

P a g e  8 | 82 

 

1. Introduction 

1.1 Aim and Purpose 

The aim of this report is to provide an update on the original report on Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) in 

Northamptonshire which was published in February 2015.  The way that Northamptonshire partnership 

organisations (Children’s Services in Northamptonshire County Council, Northamptonshire Police, Health 

etc.) deal with CSE has changed considerably since this point.  In addition, a fresh look will be given to 

partnership working and the data available from partner agencies.  There will also be an emphasis in this 

report on the connection between missing children and young people and CSE. 

1.2 Commissioned by 

This report has been commissioned by the Northamptonshire Safeguarding and Children Board through the 

CSE and Missing Persons Sub-Group (multi-partner forum).  Det. Supt. Steve Lingley is the responsible officer 

of the report for Northamptonshire Police, Iain Low, (Strategic Manager) is the responsible officer for 

Northamptonshire County Council (NCC). 

The report is co-authored by Northamptonshire Police and NCC analysts. 

1.3 Data Sources 

 Northamptonshire Police Crime, Incident and Intelligence databases 

 NCC data: Initial Contacts for CSE and missing into Children’s Social Care, Initial Assessments, RISE 

team caseload. 

1.4 Methodology and Scope 

All sexual offences in Northamptonshire in the period between 01/04/2014 and 31/03/2016 relating to U18s 

were examined to determine which of these offences were CSE.  CSE offences have then been analysed 

further.  Partnership data (detailed analysis of data collected by Children’s Social Care in NCC) has been used 

to provide further understanding of CSE in Northamptonshire.   

1.5 Definition of CSE 

The current definition is under discussion at a national level within the Government and Home Office.  The 

proposed Police definition, and the one used by the Police in determining CSE in this report is:  

“Child sexual exploitation is a form of child abuse.  It occurs where anyone under the age of 18 

is persuaded, coerced or forced into sexual activity in exchange for, amongst other things, 

money, drugs/ alcohol, gifts, affection or status.  Consent is irrelevant, even where a child may 

believe they are voluntarily engaging in sexual activity with the person who is exploiting them; 

child sexual exploitation does not always involve physical contact and may occur online”. 

The definition of CSE used by Children’s Social Care is outlined in the 2009 statutory guidance Safeguarding 

Children and Young People from Sexual Exploitation1 as:  

“Sexual exploitation of children and young people under 18 involves exploitative situations, 

contexts and relationships where young people (or a third person or persons) receive 

‘something’ (e.g. food, accommodation, drugs, alcohol, cigarettes, affection, gifts, money) as a 

result of them performing, and/ or another or others performing on them, sexual activities.  

Child sexual exploitation can occur through the use of technology without the child’s immediate 

recognition; for example being persuaded to post sexual images on the internet/ mobile phones 

                                                           
1 HM Government (2009)  Safeguarding Children and Young People from Sexual Exploitation Page 9 21

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/278849/Safeguarding_Children_and_Young_People_from_Sexual_Exploitation.pdf


 

P a g e  9 | 82 

 

without immediate payment or gain.  In all cases, those exploiting the child/ young person have 

power over them by virtue of their age, gender, intellect, physical strength and/ or economic or 

other resources.” 

However, on Police officers’ crime reports it is not always immediately clear whether an exchange has taken 

place between the perpetrator and victim for two reasons: 

1. The victims often do not realise that they are being exploited and therefore do not disclose to 

officers the detail identifying any exchange.  It is also sometimes the case that although the victim 

may have had no immediate gain through an exchange, they perceive that one will take place at 

some point in the future. 

2. Some officers who do not understand the importance of an exchange do not therefore ask for or 

record the details of an exchange.  However, it is possible to derive from the MO of a crime when 

an exchange has occurred, by looking at the crime report in greater detail. 

 

Child Sexual Abuse (CSA) and CSE - Why is this profile not covering both? 

The official Police definition (as stated above) does not mention intra-familial abuse.  However, intra-familial 

and extra-familial abuse contains very different forms of sexual exploitation.  They have different types of 

perpetrators and the opportunities for offending are different.  Extra-familial offences are more likely to be 

more predatory and targeted in nature as they will deliberately befriend and groom the victim before 

committing a sexual offence.  Intra-familial perpetrators, although also predatory, have easier access to the 

child and the opportunities to offend therefore are clearly different. It is unusual (certainly within 

Northamptonshire) for an intra-familial offender to also have targeted children outside of their own family 

(although there have been exceptions to this). 

The current Northamptonshire Police Control Strategy for 2016/17 has Child Sexual Abuse (CSA) as one of its 

key priorities. This is because around four children or young people per one thousand, living in 

Northamptonshire, reported sexual offences against them last year, and the majority of these were females.  

CSE is a small sub-category within CSA and accounts for around one fifth of CSA cases. 

80% of CSA is sexual abuse to victims mainly from family members (familial abuse).   

Therefore, CSE in this report is based on victims that have been targeted by non-family perpetrators that 

target their victims deliberately and have pre-meditated motives.  At the commissioning of this report it was 

decided that a report on CSA as a whole would not focus in enough detail on CSE.  It is also the case that 

making a distinction between these two branches of CSA puts a clearer focus on the CSE victims’ 

vulnerabilities and allows a greater identification of the threat and risks involved with this group, particularly 

in respect to perpetrators. 

Although there are overlaps between CSE and CSA, it is the case that the perpetrators of these offences do 

have different motivational and psychological factors. These different criminal behaviours also need different 

models of intervention, support and investigation from a policing and partnership perspective.  

Northamptonshire Police also has different departments for dealing with these different types of offences. 

These are the Child Abuse Unit and the RISE Team.  It has been decided for this report to exclude intra-familial 

offending, which will be the subject of another report in the coming months. 

To clarify, the sexual offences that will be analysed within this report are: 

Victims of a sexual offence who are under 18 where: 

22



 

P a g e  10 | 82 

 

 The victim has been persuaded, coerced or forced into that sexual activity 

 The victim has received something in exchange for that sexual activity (though the victim may 

perceive this will happen in the future) 

 The sexual activity is extra-familial. 

 
Only in those offences where there is ambiguity on whether an exchange did or did not occur, a set of 

guidelines were used in order to decide whether there was sexual exploitation taking place.  One or more of 

the following needed to have taken place: 

 The sexual offending from an abuser to a victim has been or is being repeated 

 The victim appears, or is perceived to have been, or is being, groomed and this includes online 

grooming 

 The abuse or intended abuse has been facilitated first by online activity 

 There is an age difference of concern between the victim and the offender 

 The abuser is in a position of authority or has coerced the victim with threats (which can be 

perceived) or violence used to force the victim into sexual activity 

 The abuser has had a previous history of CSE offending. 

 
It is also worth remembering that sexual abuse is not solely perpetrated by adult males.  Women can also 

commit these crimes, as can other children. 

1.6 Crime Recording 

With the introduction of Niche as the recording database across the East Midlands including 

Northamptonshire, there is no longer a system that ‘flags’ individual CSE crimes on the crime recording 

database.  Previously, the Modus Operandi code was used to mark crimes that fell within the definition of 

CSE.  Although this was reliant on correct interpretation and awareness of the code, it did provide a starting 

point for analysis.  With this facility removed, analysis and even extraction of CSE crimes is very difficult. 

Consistently monitoring CSE levels for short term patterns and trends for quick reports is therefore not 

currently possible. 

 

 

1.7 Recording in Children’s Social Care 

In Children’s Social Care, Initial Contacts (ICs) regarding children or young people perceived to be at risk of 

CSE (or other) are received by the Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH).  Upon screening, some of them 

lead to Initial Assessments2 (IAs) being carried out, during which the risk of CSE and other risks can be 

identified.  Sometimes, assessments carried out for different risks also identify a risk of CSE.  It is, therefore, 

possible to understand what associations are present between the risk of CSE and other identified risks to 

the child or young person.  

                                                           
2 From mid-January 2016, Safeguarding and Children’s services no longer carried out Initial Assessments (IA), these were 
replaced by the Single Assessment (SA). 

Recommendation: To ensure that a CSE referral flag is implemented on the Niche Crime Recording 
Database on all CSE offences. 

 

23



 

P a g e  11 | 82 

 

1.8 Context 

The original report3 from February 2015 concluded that safeguarding children in Northamptonshire at risk 

from CSE could be improved.  In particular, it identified that a more consistent approach was needed in 

identifying risk and that partnership working in general could be more efficient.  A lack of proactivity existed 

at this time both in identifying victims and targeting CSE perpetrators. 

Much has changed since this report and significant advances have been made, safeguarding children has 

improved considerably.  40 recommendations were made in the original, all of which have been actioned. 

The report was based on data from 2014 and this data was almost entirely sourced from Police crime and 

intelligence databases.  But Police recorded crime data cannot show the full picture.  Attempts were made 

to collect data from partner agencies in Health, Education and Social Services but little was available at that 

time.  This new report has benefitted from easier access to other data sources.  It is also the case that partner 

agencies have started to collect CSE related data that previously they were not collecting. 

The original report also found an absence of organised crime groups (OCGs) or networks involved in the 

sexual exploitation of children and young people.  This did not necessarily mean Northamptonshire did not 

have these problems.  The report stressed that there was an awareness gap and that reporting mechanisms 

needed to be improved in order to identify possible CSE OCGs.  

Across the country, reports have shown that amongst the most vulnerable children and young people are 

those that regularly go missing.  This report will also set out to identify what that vulnerability looks like in 

Northamptonshire. 

2. Departments that work with CSE  

Northamptonshire Safeguarding Children Board 

Northamptonshire Safeguarding Children Board (NSCB) is a statutory multi-agency board.  It is independently 

chaired and consists of senior representatives of all the principal agencies4 and organisations in the county 

whose staff come into contact with children and young people, their parents and carers. 

The aim of NSCB is that every child has the opportunity to reach their full potential.  This means that: 

 All children grow up in a safe environment; 

 All children and young people achieve their best in education, are ready for work, and have skills 

for life; 

 All children grow up healthy and have improved life chances; and 

 Children who are looked after achieve at least as good outcomes as those who are not. 

All partners are expected to support these aims and to deliver the highest standard of service. All share 

responsibility for safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children and young people, whether as a parent 

or family member, a friend or neighbour, an employer, or as a paid or volunteer worker. 

The purpose of the NSCB is to safeguard and promote the welfare of children in Northamptonshire.  This is 

done by coordinating the work of those people and organisations represented on the board, and ensuring 

that what they do is effective. 

                                                           
3 Child Sexual Exploitation in Northamptonshire – Feb 2015 (Available from the Principal Analyst, Northamptonshire Police). 
4 Local Authority, Police, Health Service, Probation Trust, Youth Offending Service, the Voluntary Sector and others. 24



 

P a g e  12 | 82 

 

The NSCB also has a strategic role in challenging the overall safeguarding work of the Children and Young 

People’s Partnership Board (CYPPB) and for ensuring continuous improvement in practice.  Working closely 

with the CYPPB, the NSCB takes lead responsibility for coordinating the safeguarding work of the CYPPB 

partners and for monitoring the quality and consistency of safeguarding practice and training across all 

partner agencies. 

The NSCB is not an operational body.  Its role is to ensure the coordination and effectiveness of the services 

provided to children, young people and their families by member organisations. The NSCB holds its member 

organisations to account for their performance and contributes to the broader planning, commissioning and 

delivery of services.  

The NSCB are currently reviewing the way in which the board engages with young people through 

consultation with a number of Youth Groups and schools across the county with the aim to re-establish a 

Young People’s NSCB.  The Young People’s NSCB will offer young people the chance to have a direct route to 

the people making decisions and planning services that keep them safe in the county.  

The RISE Team (Reducing Incidents of Sexual Exploitation) 

RISE is a dedicated multi-agency team tackling Child Sexual Exploitation. It comprises staff from Police, 

Safeguarding and Children’s Services, CAN (3rd sector drug, alcohol and homeless service), and Health, co-

located at Force Headquarters. 

There are 5 investigators within RISE, managed by a Detective Sergeant.  A second Detective Sergeant 

manages the Safeguarding Proactive Team (SPT), comprising 6 constables who lead on the proactive work of 

the RISE team.  They develop intelligence and undertake enforcement activity such as the issuing of Child 

Abduction Warning Notices (CAWNs) as well as safeguarding activity including searching for missing children.  

They are not exclusively focused on CSE and spend a proportion of their time supporting the protection of 

vulnerable people from sex offenders and domestic abuse perpetrators. 

Police officers within RISE provide 7 day cover from 8AM to 10PM.  Children’s Services staff within RISE 

include 3 Family Support Workers (FSWs), these engage with the 50+ young people open to the service. One 

CAN employee performs the same role.  Four other FSWs complete independent return home interviews for 

young people,  following missing/ found episodes. These are overseen by Safeguarding and Children’s 

Services: Practice Managers and a Team Manager, who are qualified social workers. The Health Service 

provides a specialist nurse to RISE.  She undertakes direct work with the young people open to the service 

as well as promoting awareness of CSE and acting as the point of contact to other Health professionals in the 

county. 

A daily RISE meeting takes place Monday to Friday, where information from across the partnership is 

considered, this includes the preceding 24 hours CSE related crimes, incidents, current missing children in 

the county and concerns received from other professionals sent into the team.  The team receives in the 

region of 20 formal referrals per month, which are completed using the CSE risk assessment.  These are heard 

at a weekly referrals meeting that also includes the Youth Offending Service and Education.  Where a young 

person is accepted into RISE, ordinarily through the identification of the case being high risk, an engagement 

worker is allocated and an individual risk management plan commenced.  Associated criminal investigations 

are normally owned by RISE Police officers. 

This report will look at the cohort of children and young people currently engaged with the team, to 

understand their characteristics.  

 25



 

P a g e  13 | 82 

 

Northamptonshire Police 

The way that Northamptonshire Police deals with reports of CSE has developed rapidly since the last profile 

was completed.  The remit of existing teams at the time has changed and new teams have also been 

introduced.  This section describes the work of six of the teams that are most closely linked to and working 

with CSE.  All work with partners to a greater or lesser extent. 

 

 

POLIT (Police Online Investigation Team) 

POLIT is a team of ten dedicated Police officers comprising an inspector, two sergeants, seven officers, two 

civilian investigators and one intelligence officer.  The team’s primary function is to safeguard children by 

detecting abuse and prosecuting offenders for the possession and distribution of indecent images of 

children (IIOC). 

POLIT’s work is to investigate allegations of online child abuse and offences relating to IIOC in accordance 

with current statutory, procedural and local management guidelines.  POLIT also provides guidance to 

officers across the force, in respect of IIOC/ online grooming offences.  POLIT develops and disseminates 

intelligence for enforcement/ action within Northamptonshire, to other Police forces and to external partner 

agencies. 

POLIT undertake warrants and searches of properties in order to identify evidence of IIOC, provide guidance 

for all cases involving indecent images of children, attend strategy meetings and ensure the safeguarding of 

victims and that possible victims of abuse are safeguarded. 

The team also conduct online investigations stemming from operations and intelligence filtered through 

CEOP and other external agencies. 

FIB Safeguarding Team (Force Intelligence Bureau) 

The Safeguarding Team consists of eight staff, six of which are Field Intelligence Officers.  Around 25% of the 

workload relates to CSE victims and perpetrators. 

26



 

P a g e  14 | 82 

 

When the FIB Safeguarding Team receive intelligence that a person is at risk of CSE or a suspected perpetrator 

of CSE, it looks to develop that intelligence so that it can be actionable.  Tactics are employed which are both 

overt and covert.  All potential activity by the team is discussed with the RISE Team to ensure a multi-agency 

approach is adopted.  The threat, harm and risk are discussed during this consultation period within the 

appropriate meetings.  Safeguarding the victim is the priority and any proactive intelligence development 

follows safeguarding actions. 

MOSOVO (Management of Sexual Offenders and Violence Offenders) 

The MOSOVO team is responsible for the supervision and management of all registered sex offenders 

resident within the community.  Some of these offenders will have been convicted of CSE related offences 

and/ or it is assessed that they pose a further risk of Child Sexual Exploitation. 

Within the team, one Police Officer position was commissioned and is dedicated as a specialist CSE post.  The 

officer holds the same responsibilities as other officers in the team but is a single point of contact relating to 

convicted CSE offenders as a specialist in this area of work. 

As a whole, the MOSOVO team works closely with the CSE team and it is not uncommon for them to conduct 

joint investigations where appropriate to make sure CSE offenders are identified and targeted with the full 

force of specialists available. 

The MOSOVO team has an extremely close working relationship with the National Probation Service and 

they work hand in hand through the MAPPA process to effectively manage the ongoing risk posed by CSE 

offenders and ensure victims and potential victims are protected. 

The Proactive Safeguarding Team 

This is a team of six officers and one sergeant who work primarily alongside the RISE multi-agency team.  The 

team take tasking from the daily RISE meeting that scans all CSE related incidents including current and 

reported missing children.  These tasks look to identify early indications of potential CSE and disrupt and 

safeguard appropriately around these identified risks. 

The team provide a proactive capability to both POLIT and MOSOVO and regularly assist in arrests, execution 

of warrants and searches. The team also attend the CSE and Missing Forum and take responsibility for all 

Police actions agreed. 

The Cybercrime Department 

The Cybercrime Department provides specialist support services to all departments within 

Northamptonshire Police.  CSE investigations come from many different angles, assisting in Child Protection 

Team enquiries, supporting CID, the RISE team as well as helping with missing persons who may be at risk of 

CSE. 

The unit receives referrals into the force for investigation, directly from CEOP and from law enforcement 

agencies worldwide, including the FBI and the Canadian Police. The Cybercrime Unit works closely with the 

POLIT team to develop intelligence to identify offenders. The Unit also provides expert advice and 

investigation with two dedicated DMIs (digital media investigators) who seek to identify perpetrators from 

their digital footprint. 

The High Tech Crime Team and Digital Triage Team provide specialist examination skills to examine devices 

seized from suspects and look for evidence of their offending. They provide expert witness testimony in terms 

of digital forensic reports to the Courts to support the prosecution of offenders. 

27



 

P a g e  15 | 82 

 

Children’s Social Care – Safeguarding and Children’s Services 

Children's Social Care aims to work with parents, carers and young people in a partnership based on respect, 

equality and fairness, and to offer advice and support before a situation reaches crisis point.  It also works in 

partnership with, and may refer to, other services and community groups, including education, Health, 

housing, benefits agencies and the Police. 

The NCC teams covered include: Safeguarding and Care Planning (S&CP), Looked After Children (LAC), Early 

Help and Prevention (EHP), Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC), Leaving Care, Fostering and 

Adoptions.  

All vulnerable children and young people have unique experiences and circumstances, which must be taken 

into account when providing services.  Children’s Social Care works in partnership with them and their 

families to improve outcomes. 

As part of the assessment for Children’s Social Care support, levels of need or risk identified and appropriate 

support is evaluated using the ‘Northamptonshire Thresholds and Pathways’5 document.  As part of this, 

additional toolkits have been developed to support referrers in better understanding the risks and where 

appropriate what support could be gained.  One such toolkit is the Tackling CSE Toolkit6, which has been put 

together to provide advice for parents and young people, professionals and frontline workers on their 

responsibilities in relation to identifying CSE and what action should be taken if this is identified. 

MASH 

Whenever anyone is worried about a child, for example, a teacher or health visitor, they will make a referral 

to the MASH. 

The MASH team brings together staff and information from the following agencies within Northamptonshire:  

 Children's Social Care 

 Crime Reduction Initiative 

 Domestic Abuse Advisor 

 Early Help Team 

 East Midlands Ambulance Service 

 Education 

 Fire and Rescue Service 

 Health 

 Housing 

 Police 

 Probation Service 

 Youth Offending Team  

The MASH team are able to identify risks to and needs of children at the earliest possible point and respond 

with the most effective joined up actions. The aim of the MASH is to make the right decisions for the right 

families at the right time.  

Children and young people may come to the attention of the MASH team because: 

 a parent or carer may have requested support directly 

 a professional may feel that a family needs help or support 

 a child or their family come into contact with the Police 

                                                           
5 Northamptonshire Safeguarding Board   -   Northamptonshire Thresholds and Pathways Document 
6 CSE - Toolkit for Social Care Professionals in Northamptonshire 28

http://www.northamptonshirescb.org.uk/social-care/social-care/thresholds-and-pathways/
http://www3.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/children-families-education/help-and-protection-for-children/protecting-children-information-for-professionals/Documents/NCC114615_Thresholds%20and%20Pathways%20June%202014_AW3.pdf
http://www.northamptonshirescb.org.uk/social-care/social-care/cse-professionals/tackling-cse-toolkit-social-care/


 

P a g e  16 | 82 

 

 a child tells someone about abuse, either physical, sexual or emotional. 

When a child is referred, the case is assigned to a professional group within the MASH who will gather any 

information about the child/ family as quickly as possible.  

A senior and experienced Social Work Practitioner will use a guidance document called Thresholds and 

Pathways to decide if the child's circumstances mean that the case should be dealt with by the MASH or if 

the Early Help Team should provide support.  

Early Help 

Early Help7 Northamptonshire has a single goal: to enable children and families to access appropriate support 

as early as possible so that they can maintain their quality of life, prevent any problems getting worse and 

feel stronger, happier and more confident. 

Early help means “providing support as soon as the problem emerges, at any point in the 

child’s life from the foundation years through to the teenage years.” (Working Together, 2015) 

The Northamptonshire Early Help Partnership and the NSCB champion the vital importance of helping 

children and young people at the earliest point to provide them with the best opportunity for the future.  

Reducing demand for high-need services will deliver better outcomes for children and families and reduce 

escalation of concerns.  Equally, it will reduce demand for services and interventions which are more costly 

for Children’s Services and other public services to address.  

The new Early Help Strategy explains that: 

 Northamptonshire has specific needs and early help is critical 

 Every person working with or engaging with children and families has a responsibility to help 

deliver early help, regardless of their position, status or organisation 

 Arrangements for setting aims and expectations for all partner organisations will be improved 

through the work of the Children’s Early Help Partnership 

 Early identification and risk profiling of children and families with the highest probability of poor 

outcomes will be improved, along with long-term tracking of the impact of our interventions. 

The strategy sets very clear partnership outcomes for early help.  All partners will be held to account for 

contributing to delivering those outcomes through their existing strategies, plans and programmes. This will 

be done by the Children’s Early Help Partnership.  

The strategy includes: 

 12 partnership objectives that the Children’s Early Help Partnership and NSCB will focus on to 

improve the early help system 

 31 measurable indicators that will show the effectiveness of early help in Northamptonshire and 

whether early help is having an impact. 

A requirement for all partners involved in supporting early help is to focus rigorously on the four early help 

outcomes, with associated performance indicators, ensuring all their strategies, programmes and plans make 

a demonstrable contribution. 

                                                           
7 http://www.northamptonshirescb.org.uk/about-northamptonshire-safeguarding-children-board/publications/nscb-
business-docs/early-help-strategy/    29

http://www.northamptonshire.gov.uk/thresholdsandpathways
http://www.northamptonshire.gov.uk/thresholdsandpathways
http://www.northamptonshirescb.org.uk/about-northamptonshire-safeguarding-children-board/publications/nscb-business-docs/early-help-strategy/
http://www.northamptonshirescb.org.uk/about-northamptonshire-safeguarding-children-board/publications/nscb-business-docs/early-help-strategy/


 

P a g e  17 | 82 

 

3. Vulnerability – Understanding Victims 

What makes a child or young person vulnerable to CSE?  The previous report on CSE from Northamptonshire 

Police explained what CSE vulnerability looks like and it is worth repeating here.  Because victims often do 

not regard themselves as victims and do not report initial problems which then may lead to further 

exploitation it is vital that professionals can identify situations that make a child or young person vulnerable 

at an early stage. 

Part of the challenge for professionals working in the CSE field is trying to understand children and young 

persons.  Below is a series of quotes from Tina aged 14 who was interviewed by the Marie Collins Foundation8 

a charity involved in protecting abused children – Tina had been abused online. 

 

These quotes describe where the vulnerability lies in children and young people, like Tina, who reach an age 

where they want to experiment.  Professionals working with children have to find methods to mitigate the 

vulnerability and raising awareness is a way to doing this. 

Another important reason for understanding children and young people better is that it may help CSE victims 

after they have been abused.  This includes recognition that they are indeed victims.  Aiding them to recover 

and live a safe and fulfilling life afterwards can only be achieved by properly recognising their issues. 

Over the last 18 months undoubtedly this awareness has improved across all partnership organisations in 

Northamptonshire.  But awareness of CSE indicators needs to be maintained particularly with new staff or 

managers working with children.  These indicators can be split into three groups: Family Concerns, 

Relationship Concerns and Individual Concerns.  They are shown in the diagrams below. 

However, these indicators are not exhaustive, any child or young person from any social or ethnic background 

can become a victim of CSE.  Below are some of the characteristics of children and young people who were 

at risk of CSE or victims of CSE, based on cases dealt with by the Police and other organisations.  This is not 

an exhaustive list and it also doesn’t imply that all victims will present these risk factors.  

                                                           
8 The Marie Collins Foundation website - http://www.mariecollinsfoundation.org.uk/. Quotes taken from presentation made 
by Tink Palmer (CEO, Marie Collins Foundation) 'From discovery to recovery – the journey facing child victims, their families 

and professionals when children are sexually abused and exploited online. Download Tink's presentation - PDF 1.3 MB    
Made to the University of Bedford, 18 January 2016 

The internet is a weird 
version of the real world 

where we can do 
everything

Groomers don't have to 
worry about being 

suspicious
Children can act like adults

I used to talk to people 
online to make myself feel 

good

Girls get involved with men 
because nothing much 
seems to be happening 

when you're 12-14 but you 
want to be older

The most talkative (girls) 
online are the quietest 

offline

The most normal (man) 
online is a real weirdo 

offline

We rarely talk about 
behaviour online - kind of 

embarrassing

30

http://www.mariecollinsfoundation.org.uk/
http://www.beds.ac.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0007/490444/Tink-Palmer-Jan-2016.pdf
http://www.beds.ac.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0007/490444/Tink-Palmer-Jan-2016.pdf


 

P a g e  18 | 82 

 

Family Concerns: 

 

Relationship Concerns: 

 

Individual Concerns: 

 

Outward Indicators in Children and Young People: 

As well as a situational evaluation of where the vulnerability lies, there are outward indicators within 

individual children or young people that should be evaluated for an indication of exploitation.  

 

The illustrations shows where professionals in various capacities can more easily identify these indicators 

within their own working experiences.  Some work has already been conducted to improve awareness skills 

among different agencies but this needs to be continued and developed.  

Being a young 
carer

Chaotic or 
dysfunctional 

family

Domestic 
abuse in 
family

Problematic 
parenting

Parents 
misuse drugs 

or alcohol

Parent with 
health 

problems

Recent 
bereavement

History of 
abuse in family

Involved in 
gang activity

Living in care, 
foster care, 

hotels or B&B

Unsupervised 
use of social 
networks or 
chat rooms

Being friends 
with other 
CSE victims

Not having 
friends in 

their own age 
group

Having 
associations 
with gangs 

through 
relatives or 

peers

Living in a gang 
neighbourhood

Low self 
esteem or 

self 
confidence

Unsure 
about own 

sexual 
orientation

Unable to 
confide in 

family

Misuse of 
alcohol or 

drugs

Excluded from 
mainstream 
education

Being 
bullied

Being 
homeless

Going 
missing 

regularly

Mental ill 
health

Physical 
disabilities

Social or 
learniing 

disabilities

Behaviour: Temperament, Depression, Mood, Secrecy, Emotional wellbeing 

Family Relationships: Becoming estranged, Going missing, Hostility

Personal Relationships: Sexually active, Association with risky adults 

Health: Drug/alcohol use, unexplained injuries, self harming, STD's, Suicidal

Education: Change in performance, Truanting, Disengagement 

Identity: Unexplained gifts or new possessions, Change in appearance

31



 

P a g e  19 | 82 

 

 

4. Understanding Perpetrators 

In order to safeguard victims and better target perpetrators, it is necessary to attempt to understand the 

people who commit these offences.  What is their motivation and how do they maintain control over their 

victims?  This section has been written using data both from Northamptonshire and data from a similar report 

written by Devon and Cornwall Police9. 

4.1. Motivation 

There have been many academic research projects conducted on theories of why sexual abuse against 

children occurs. Understanding why it happens is necessary if effective prevention measures can be 

introduced. One theory of understanding is the ‘Four Pre-Conditions Model’ which Finklehor (1984) 

proposed.10  For sexual abuse to take place, the abuser has to overcome both internal and external obstacles.  

Understanding these obstacles can provide opportunities for intervention and disruption. 

 

 

4.2. Control and exchange  

An essential element within a sexual offence for it to be determined as exploitative is that an ‘exchange’ has 

taken place between the two parties. This is the method by which the perpetrator gains control over their 

victim.  This exchange can take the form of either a reward or through threats and coercion.  The reward can 

be something as simple as affection. In this way, the perpetrator creates an imbalance in the relationship 

with the victim that is unequal and exploitative.  

                                                           
9 Child Sexual Abuse and Exploitation (June 205) – Devon and Cornwall Police 
10 David Finklehor: Pre-condition Model 1984 (http://www.secasa.com.au/pages/theories-on-why-sexual-abuse-
happens/the-four-pre-conditions-model/) 

1. Motivation

Sexual contact with a child satisfies the 
offender's emotional needs and 
represents the source of sexual 

gratification for the abuser.  Other sources 
of sexual gratification are seen by the 

abuser as less satisfactory.

2. Inhibitions

The offender has to overcome internal 
inhibitions like taboos, by seeking 

justification to themselves that what they 
desire is acceptable.  Contacting other like 
minded offenders helps them believe their 

behaviour is acceptable.

3. Inhibitors

External inhibitors that deny the abuser 
the opportunity to abuse. Offenders may 
attempt to isolate the victim from friends 
or family.  Or they engage in a relationship 
in order to abuse or convince others that 

they are trustworthy.

4. Resistance

The abuser has to overcome the child’s 
possible resistance to being sexually 

abused.  Therefore they target who they 
consider to be vulnerable like those with 

low self-esteem.  They may view a victim’s 
lack of resistance as a sign of compliance.

Recommendation: Professionals who work with children and young people should be aware of these 

early warning indicators.  It is unlikely that professionals individually see a complete picture so it is 

essential that they work together in recognising these signs. 

32

http://www.secasa.com.au/pages/theories-on-why-sexual-abuse-happens/the-four-pre-conditions-model/
http://www.secasa.com.au/pages/theories-on-why-sexual-abuse-happens/the-four-pre-conditions-model/


 

P a g e  20 | 82 

 

4.3. How do Perpetrators Maintain this Control? 

All of these methods are nationally recognised as methods that perpetrators use.  The examples given here 

are actual recorded offences of CSE in Northamptonshire in 2015/16.  This shows that the local picture in 

Northamptonshire does reflect the national picture.  

How Perpetrators Maintain Control                               Actual Cases in Northamptonshire  

     

4.4. High Risk Locations Where Victims are Targeted 

 

 

 

Rewards or 
Gifts

Alcohol/ drugs

Presents

False promises 
of love or 
affection

Offering false 
opportunities 
e.g. modelling

Threats and 
Coercion

Physical 
violence

Mental 
manipulation

Blackmail

Fear

Debts

(drugs)

17 year old offender tells 
13 year old victim that he 

loves her and that she 
should self harm to prove 

she loves him. 

30 year old male 
befriends 11 year old 

victim on more than one 
occasion and hands over 
gifts and money, believed 

for sexual favours.

42 year old offender 
grooms 15 year old victim 

online, takes her to a 
hotel and provides 

alcohol and cocaine. 
Sexual offence takes 

place.

A male tells 15 year old 
victim he has modelling 
agency. Indecent images 

are exchanged. 
Arrangements made to 

meet at a hotel.

23 year old male regularly 
verbally abuses a 14 year 

old victim and uses 
violence against her. 
Victim described it as 

“playful violence”.

16 year old female victim 
sent indecent images to 
male because she feared 

that if she didn’t the 
relationship would end.

Schools
Door Staff/ 
Teachers

Pubs

Hotels
Licensing 

Officers
Bus/Train
Stations

Cafes
Wardens/ 
Trading 
Standards

Parks

Fairs
Health 

Visitors/ 
Council Visitors

Taxis

Offenders which commit CSE know that there 

are locations where children congregate and 

offenders are good at identifying those who 

are the most vulnerable at these locations. 

Professionals from partnership agencies need 

to be aware of these locations and be able to 

identify potentially inappropriate behaviour. 

All of the location types listed here are likely 

to have visits from partnership staff at some 

point.  It is essential that these opportunities 

to safeguard children are co-ordinated and 

any intelligence gathered is used to form a 

broader picture of how CSE may be occurring 

in Northamptonshire. 

 

33



 

P a g e  21 | 82 

 

This requires staff that work in these locations to have basic awareness training in order to recognise the 

signs of CSE.  The training should also include an understanding of the nature of abuse and exploitation and 

the difference between inappropriate behaviour and what constitutes consenting. People who work in these 

locations are more likely to see a child or young person’s natural behaviour. This is an advantage over a 

Police/ Health/ education officer’s contact with a child or young person. In these more formal settings, a 

child’s or young person’s true behaviour may not be revealed.  Therefore, being aware of behaviour at these 

high-risk locations may better complete a ‘jigsaw’ of understanding. 

Later in this report, the methods that perpetrators use to commit their offences in Northamptonshire are 

discussed. One of these methods is for a person in a position of authority to abuse their position to exert 

control and exploit a child or young person.  Indeed, some of the more determined perpetrators will attempt 

to gain employment in positions where they know they will have contact with children or young people. 

This makes it even more important that Police and other partner agencies establish a relationship with people 

who work in these locations. This may encourage other employees to express concerns about colleagues, 

should they arise. 

It is also the case that different towns in Northamptonshire have a different local profile as to where the 

hotspot locations may exist. For example, some towns in Northamptonshire may have a train station, some 

have a hotel area, some a secluded park. Local profiles are needed to identify locations within an area that 

could be targeted. 

 

 

 

 

4.5. Grooming Including Online Abuse 

To understand perpetrators of CSE it is necessary to understand the grooming processes that they use to 

initiate and continue contact with a child or young person. It is possible to break down grooming into 

different stages, which show a gradual increase in pressure and control placed on the victim over time.  In 

this way, it is easier to understand how a victim is ‘ensnared’ into the perpetrator’s demands. This is 

particularly relevant for online grooming. However, no CSE case is the same as another and some CSE 

perpetrators, over time, will adapt and refine their grooming process. This means that sometimes a CSE 

victim is subjected to a sexual offence at an earlier stage. 

 

  

Recommendation: To produce local CSE profiles identifying locations, offenders and victims with 

increased vulnerability for CSE for each of Northamptonshire’s seven main towns (See Appendix A). 

 
National Recommendation: “Training should be developed for frontline staff in services for children and 
young people to recognise the warning signs and risk factors of child exploitation and how to respond 
using child protection procedures. This should include understanding the elements of grooming and 
coercion so that a child or young person’s behaviour is not dismissed as rebellious or consenting to the 
abuse” – National Working Group for CSE. 

 

National Recommendation: “All agencies should be fully involved with multi-agency arrangements for 
intelligence gathering and sharing in relation to CSE” – National Working Group for CSE. 

34



 

P a g e  22 | 82 

 

The Escalation of Online Grooming from a Victim and Offender Perspective 

(Based on the analysis of actual offences recorded in Northamptonshire in 2015/16) 

Victim Perspective Stage of Grooming Offender Perspective 

Victim sees this as just another 
friend request and accepts like 

she would for anyone else. 
1 

An offender targets a large number of 
potential victims on Social Media asking 
for friends requests on Facebook or KIK 
for example. 

1 
A non-threatening ‘friendly’ 
message like “hi, how r u?” 

They seem friendly, the 
conversation is casual, they show 

interest, are a good listener and 
flattering. 

2 

The offender is friendly with the victim 
gaining trust and confidence from the 
victim. This stage may last days or 
months. 
Eventually the conversation becomes 
flirtatious. 

2 

The offender is gradually 
gaining trust, avoiding 
giving a reason for the 
victim to distrust them. 
They no longer a stranger. 

The victim thinks why not after all 
they are a ‘friend’. 

3 
The offender eventually asks for video 
communication with the victim. 

3 
The offender has now 
gained trust and has the 
confidence of the victim. 

The victim thinks it is no big deal, 
it is exciting, someone older likes 

them, where is the harm?  It’s 
only a picture? 

4 

The offender’s conversation becomes 
more sexualised and they may ask the 
victim for indecent images or an 
exchange of images.  They will 
sometimes send an indecent image first 
to again get trust.  This image is often 
not of themselves and may be of a 
person much younger. 

4 
The offender now has a 
hold on the victim and is 
gaining control. 

Why does the victim still maintain 
the relationship? They may be 

excited and want to experiment.  
They may want to please their 

‘boyfriend/ girlfriend’.  

5 

The offender encourages the victim to 
conduct sexual activity live over a 
webcam based social media app like 
Omegle.  The offender will also 
sometimes take part in sexual activity. 

5 

The offender is now in a 
position where they can 
exert threats and coerce 
the victim. 

The victim at these stages may 
feel like they have no choice 

particularly if there are blackmail 
threats to share images.  Or the 

victim believes they are in a 
boyfriend/ girlfriend relationship 

and does not realise they have 
been groomed and are now a 

victim. 

6 
The offender asks the victim if they can 

meet in person. 
6 

The offender is in complete 
control. 

7 

 

The offender and victim meet and a 
contact sexual offence takes place.  
This may be a one off offence or the 
relationship and offences continue. 

7 
The offender is now looking 
to isolate the victim from 
friends and family. 

 

Note that some offenders move faster than others through these stages, some may even skip a stage.  It is 

also the case that different victims will recognise that something is wrong and will exit and even re-enter the 

relationship between these stages.  However, offences of exploitation are recorded at any of these stages 

and recording is dependent on the persistence of the grooming and the coercion of the offender. 

The questions that professionals need to address here are: 

1. Are parents taken seriously when reporting concerns at an early stage? 

2. At which points can they intervene? 

3. How should they respond to a discovery at any particular stage? 

4. How should they encourage victims to disclose at any of the stages? 

5. How can they safeguard children and young people?  

 35



 

P a g e  23 | 82 

 

 

 

5. Level and Types of Child Abuse Reported in Northamptonshire 

Although this report, as discussed earlier, focuses on CSE only, it is useful to see this type of sexual abuse in 

context with the other forms of CSA.  Between 01/04/2015 and 31/03/2016 there were a total of 854 sexual 

offences committed against U18s.  They have been categorised into the four groups shown below: 

No of Reported Offences of CSA (01/04/2015 to 31/03/2016) 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

316

270

170

98

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

37% 32% 20% 11%

Other Offences Intra-Familial Child Sexual
Exploitation

Within a Relationship

N
o

 o
f 

R
e

co
rd

e
d

 C
ri

m
e

s
Recommendation: To have a joint partnership code of practice that provides guidance on intervention 
options for each stage of grooming. 

 

This group 

contains one off 

sexual offences. 

They could have 

been committed 

by a person 

known to the 

victim (though not 

within a 

relationship) or 

they were a 

stranger offence. 

Intra-familial 

offences can be 

divided into four 

groups: 

 Immediate 

family 

 Grandparents 

 Extended family 

 Close friends or 

neighbours with 

access to the 

child’s home. 

 

These 170 

offences fell 

within the 

definition of CSE 

as described 

above.  

This meant that 

an exchange took 

place, coercion 

was used or there 

was evidence of 

grooming. 

Sexual abuse 

does occur within 

relationships. 

This can include 

boyfriend/ 

girlfriend and 

marital 

relationships and 

includes ex 

partners. 

36



 

P a g e  24 | 82 

 

5.1. Levels of Child Sexual Exploitation in Northamptonshire 

All recorded CSE: 

 

 

There has been a significant increase in recorded CSE offences over the last two years as the graphic above 

illustrates.  There may be a number of reasons for this increase: 

1. Victims are becoming increasingly aware that grooming is an offence; 

2. High profile celebrity cases have highlighted the issues; 

3. CSE offender networks in other parts of the country have been featured heavily in the media, 

for example in Rochdale, Rotherham and Oxfordshire; 

4. The Government, local Police and partnership agencies are raising the profile of CSE and 

encouraging the reporting of CSE and sexual offences in general and the support of victims; 

5. When victims and their families see that justice has been served in other cases they too are 

encouraged to seek justice themselves. 

6. In May 2015 a new ‘CSE Toolkit’ was launched in Northamptonshire. This was seen as a fresh 

start in partnership working and led to more victims and offences being recognised.  

The increase, therefore, does not necessarily indicate that more incidents are actually occurring. 

Northamptonshire is not alone in this as other forces are also having large increases for the same reasons. 

The overall increase has also been affected by the amount of non-recent or historical offences being 

reported.  This is a measure of increasing confidence in victims who feel the Police will take their incidents 

seriously. 

Non-recent recorded CSE: 

 

 

Non-recent crimes are offences that took place before the recording period that is the period 01/04/2015 to 

31/03/2016, but were reported and recorded within these dates.  A break-down of when these offences 

occurred is shown below: 

Other types of sexual abuse both to children and adults have also seen increases in non-recent reporting. 

Therefore from this point of view these trends in CSE are not atypical.  

10+
• 30 crimes older than 10 years

5-10
• 6 crimes between 5 and 10 years old

2-4
• 9 crimes between 2 and 4 years old

1 yr
• 16 crimes between 1 and 2 years old

Now
• 109 new crimes occuring and reported in the last year. 

2014/15 

90 offences 

+80 offences (+89%) 2015/16 

170 offences 

2014/15 
35 offences 

+26 offences (+74%) 2015/16 
61 offences 

37



 

P a g e  25 | 82 

 

5.2. The Location of CSE Recorded CSE in Northamptonshire 

The following map and analysis is provided to show how offences are distributed across the county by 

districts and boroughs.  However, this may not always indicate ‘hotspots’ of offending.  This is because where 

the eventual sexual offence takes place may not necessarily be the key location.  Grooming may have taken 

place elsewhere or even taken place online over a period of time. 

The number of reported non-historic CSE offences recorded in Northamptonshire (2015/16) and per 1,000 

of the U18 population: 

 

Low levels in a single area do not necessarily indicate a low level of offending as these statistics reflect 

reported/ recorded crimes only.  In fact, low levels in areas like Corby, Wellingborough and South Northants 

may indicate areas where there are lower levels of confidence in victims to disclose offences.  A local profile 

for each of the districts and boroughs would focus on reasons why this could be occurring. 

 

 

38



 

P a g e  26 | 82 

 

As can be seen in the table below, the incidence of CSE peaks between the ages of 12 and 14, for both current 

and historic cases.  Due to data quality issues, some of the cases have not been included in the below analysis.  

Age at time of 

incident 
Current cases Historic cases 

7 1 2 

8 0 2 

9 4 1 

10 8 3 

11 14 2 

12 20 11 

13 27 6 

14 28 4 

15 15 0 

16 9 4 

17 5 0 

39 1 0 

 

Three sibling groups were identified.  One of them referred to two females, 12 and 13 year olds, while the 

other two were mixed gender (14 and 16, and 11 and 4 years old, respectively).  

Five children appear several times in the list of cases.  The frequency of crimes recorded varies, with time 

lapse between crimes ranging from 1 month to 8 months.  

In terms of registered address of the victim, 4 were not disclosed or not known and 38 were out of county 

(17 of these referring to historic cases).  Of the remaining addresses, the distribution by district and borough 

is as below:  

 

 

It is relevant to note that there are 12 cases recorded against Rushden addresses (East Northants).  

39



 

P a g e  27 | 82 

 

As can be seen in the map below, the wards with the highest numbers of CSE victims recorded by 

Northamptonshire Police in 2015/16 are also in some of the most deprived11 areas of the county: 

 Rectory Farm, Northampton  

 Rushden Pemberton, East Northamptonshire 

 Abbey North, Daventry 

 St Michael’s and Wicksteed, Kettering  

 Pipers Hill, Kettering  

 Hemmingwell, Wellingborough.  

12 

                                                           
11 Northamptonshire Analysis - IMD Summary for Northamptonshire The IMD (Indices of Multiple Deprivation) is constructed in 
hierarchical format using numerous national indicators to build up seven subject area, or ‘domains’, which then come together to 
create the overarching IMD. These domains are weighted and at the end of this process, each LSOA geography is given a 
‘deprivation score’. 
12 The English Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) 2015 – (Guidance) is the official measure of relative deprivation for small 
areas or neighbourhoods (LSOA) in England. Areas are divided into 10 equal groups to create deciles that each show 10% of 
the LSOAs with a similar level of deprivation with 1 the most deprived and 10 the least deprived. 40

https://www.northamptonshireanalysis.co.uk/profiles/profile?profileId=59&geoTypeId=#iasProfileSection1
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/464430/English_Index_of_Multiple_Deprivation_2015_-_Guidance.pdf


 

P a g e  28 | 82 

 

6. Types of Child Sexual Exploitation in Northamptonshire 

20% of CSA cases in Northamptonshire in the reporting period (170 offences) have been classified as CSE.  

The method of exploitation that occurs is varied.  For this report they have been classified into five groups: 

 

Each of the categories are examined in more detail further on in this document. 

 
6.1. Online Grooming  

Over recent years there has been an increase in CSE initiated through an online element.  It is now the most 

likely method of grooming by which a child or young person will be targeted.  62% of victims were targeted 

in this way.  The proliferation and use of social media applications has facilitated this increase.  Indeed there 

are now applications that actually encourage strangers to meet each other in an online environment. These 

include Oovoo and Omegle which are webcam based video chat rooms. Young girls and boys in 

Northamptonshire are being approached using these applications by predatory adults in order that they can 

be sexually exploited. 

Online recorded CSE: 

 

 

 Victims: 94% females, 6% males. 

Not all online grooming offences lead to a physical contact offence, though most do lead to an exchange of 

indecent images.  There were 29 offences which did lead to physical contact (28%). 

The social media applications and the other software applications that children and young people use 

conduct very few checks to ensure that younger children do not gain access.  The application providers/ 

administrators (such as Facebook) recommend that only 13 year olds and above use them. 

But many under the age of 13 do have accounts with social media applications because it is so easy to by-

pass the checks.  It only requires a user to tick a box online to verify age.  Some apps like Omegle state they 

are strictly 18+ only, but again to gain access requires just a ‘one click’ age verification.  With Omegle, in 

particular, the home screen is unsuitable for minors (showing extremely explicit images) and immediately 

encourages contact with strangers for sexual activity.  A list of apps accessed by U18s in Northamptonshire, 

which subsequently led to an offence of CSE being recorded is shown below. 

76

33 30 29

2

0

20

40

60

80

45% 19% 18% 17% 1%

Online Grooming
without Contact

CSE from an
Offender in an

Authortive Position

Non Online
Grooming

Online Grooming
Leading to a Contact

Offence

Exploitation through
Prostitiuton

N
o

 o
f 

R
e

co
rd

e
d

 C
ri

m
e

s

2014/15 

56 offences 
+50 offences (+89%) 2015/16 

106 offences 

41



 

P a g e  29 | 82 

 

CSE Online Grooming: Leading to physical contact or where that was an attempt to have physical contact 

 

CSE Online Grooming: Where at the point of intervention there had been no physical contact at that stage 

 

It is sometimes the case that these online offences facilitated through social media are not taken as seriously 

by professionals as would very similar offences in a one-to-one situation.  This is possibly because some 

professionals do not understand this sometimes hidden world and do not realise how easy it is for 

perpetrators to access children and young persons using these methods.  Indeed it is the case that officers 

spoken to while conducting this report have been unaware completely of the existence of some of these 

software applications.  In Northamptonshire, very young children are being targeted by these means on a 

regular basis and professionals working in this field need to know how they work. 

Facebook, in particular, remains the most common application by which children and young people are 

targeted.  53 victims in Northamptonshire were first approached using Facebook last year.  The average age 

of the victims contacted via Facebook was 13 and they ranged between 9 years old and 16 years old.  11 of 

the 53 people were aged under 13.   

Often children and young persons will use a variety of different applications and can be encouraged by others 

to use applications that have fewer restrictions and seen as more daring.  Some CSE perpetrators are aware 

that the more recognised software applications like Facebook can conduct checks through their own 

reporting processes.  They too will encourage potential victims to use other social media. 

It is important for professionals working with children and young people to have a full understanding of these 

and other social media applications.  If they come across them being used, strong guidance should be given 

0 5 10 15 20 25

Facebook

KIK

Snapchat

Instagram

Gaming

HabHotel

Dating Websites

Tagged

BBM

Not Known

No. of Recorded Crimes

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35

Facebook

KIK

Snapchat

Instagram

Oovoo

Skype

Messenger

Omegle

Gaming

Twitter

Clickster

Not Known

No. of Recorded Crimes

42



 

P a g e  30 | 82 

 

and parents made aware of the very dangerous situations these young people are placing themselves into 

without realising the danger. 

Most of these online offences of grooming are stranger offences, in that victims do not know the offender. 

This makes identifying and investigating online abuse challenging.  This explains why there is a high figure for 

unidentified offenders. 

 

Analysis of Online Victims 

It is interesting to note that there are no victims aged 17 and that the number of victims reduces after 14. 

Does this indicate that perpetrators are only interested in younger age groups or that older age groups are 

more aware of their safety and the consequences of online contact with strangers?  Is there a lack of 

education on online safety aimed at under 14 year olds? 

When a vulnerable young person reaches 18 years old and falls outside of the official definition of a CSE 

victim because they are deemed to be an adult, they will have less contact with professionals. However this 

arbitrary cut off point does not make that person less vulnerable. Although it is outside the remit of this 

report it may be necessary for partnership agencies in Northamptonshire to consider their response to young 

vulnerable adults. If there is a threat and risk to this group then it would appear appropriate to examine 

whether currently there is a correct and adequate assessment of this risk. 

It is also the case that a large number of online grooming offences are likely to be under-reported.  We rely 

on children and young people to report concerns and abuse and many children may not realise that what 

they are experiencing is abuse or a crime.  Some parents often do not supervise their children’s online activity 

and therefore may not notice that something is wrong.  New legislation (The Serious Crime Act 2015 Section 

67) is to be introduced in the near future and this will criminalise sexual communication or even attempted 

sexual communication by those aged 18 or over with a child under 16.  Police officers and other professionals 

need to be made aware of this new offence once it does become law.  Education on online safety for parents 

and children is also vital to help prevent these offences being committed. 

 

Recommendation: Training is required to give all professionals guidance around social media and other 

software applications that make children and young persons vulnerable to CSE. 

 

43



 

P a g e  31 | 82 

 

In order to better analyse online grooming, more detail is required to determine exactly what online language 

was used.  This could be gained by questioning victims in more detail when they are reporting their offences.  

This would help in providing better advice around online safety.  MO recording will usually state “Female 

receives a request” or “Victim is contacted by male” or “I/P met a male via a website”.  This does not provide 

the kind of detail needed to find commonality within grooming techniques.  If this was available then it could 

be possible to identify perpetrators.  But as a minimum, it would allow tailored guidance for advising future 

potential victims. 

Sextortion is a term given to a type of online grooming where a victim provides an indecent image of 

themselves and is subsequently blackmailed into providing even more explicit images or videos.  If the 

request is refused the offender threatens to publish the original image online to friends and family. Sextortion 

of this kind is occurring in Northamptonshire.  In the reporting period for this report, there are at least five 

reported examples. The National Crime Agency have recognised this as an increasing problem. 

New Initiative in Sussex 

Sussex Police Paedophile On-Line Investigation Team uses surveillance powers to track people who have 

downloaded or trafficked in indecent images of children.  The Police then visit people who are linked with 

images at the lowest level of seriousness.  The aim is to deter them from offending, and provide letters of 

advice about the consequences if they continue with that behaviour.  This allows Police resources to deal 

with people linked with the more serious images. Since November 2015, the Police have sent letters out to 

24 suspected offenders. 

Sussex Police stated “Every indecent image of a child represents an image of abuse, and offenders should be 

in no doubt that we use every lawful investigative technique to track them down.  We will continue to identify 

individuals engaged in this type of activity, and using intelligence we will continue to execute warrants to 

secure evidence and support prosecutions wherever appropriate”.  The force’s Independent Advisory Group 

(IAG) and the three Independent Local Safeguarding Children’s Boards in Sussex were consulted first.  A Police 

spokesman said: “This helps the team to focus on offenders who are suspected of acquiring the more serious 

level of images, and those who may attempt or succeed in carrying out online or direct ‘contact’ offending 

against children”. 

The advice, sometimes accompanied by a letter, is an early warning stating that police have information 

making it clear that someone connected to an Internet Protocol (IP) address has accessed indecent images 

of children, even though at present the individual responsible for the suspected activity linked to the IP 

address may not have been identified, but that research has been carried out to identify any local child 

safeguarding concerns. 

Officers tell the IP owner that if they are aware of this unlawful behaviour they should take measures to 

ensure it stops immediately, and that any further reports to Police linked to the same address or any of the 

occupants may lead to arrest, recovery and forensic examination of all computer equipment and storage 

devices and potentially prosecution. 

It is too soon to determine whether this initiative will have a long term impact. 

 

 

Recommendation: Northamptonshire Police to consider evaluating this initiative to decide whether it 
could work in Northamptonshire.  Adopting this initiative may also help in generating new intelligence. 

 

44



 

P a g e  32 | 82 

 

6.2. Online Safety training 

As part of the effort to protect children and young people in the county, an E-Safety Officer is employed to 

support and ensure that professionals, young people and parents are aware of how to remain safe online 

and keep others safe while online.  

The vast majority of work undertake by the E-Safety Officer is with schools, who are able to organise events 

with the safety officer for staff, parents and young people to attend13.  The sessions delivered in schools are 

aimed at young people, teachers and parents.  The main focus is to make everyone aware of:  

o Online grooming, including warning signs and sexting 

o Social Media  

o Healthy Digital footprint  

o Teaching resources  

o Reporting  

o Online bullying 

o Real cases in Northamptonshire  

o Mental health and social media  

The sessions aim to give young people the skills, education and resilience to navigate their way safely through 

the internet.  Parent sessions are aimed at educating parents to the dangers of the internet and how to keep 

their families safe.  Information on how to support children on internet safety and how to use some of the 

most frequent social media sites (i.e. Facebook, Snapchat, YouTube and Instagram) including their privacy 

settings are provided.  

Practitioners are given the resources and training in keeping children safe online via updated knowledge 

gained from the Police and delivered by the E-Safety Officer.  Guidance is also provided to schools to develop 

an E-safety policy and staff policy and on how to log incidence of e-safety.  

Currently, partnership work is taking place between NCC and Northants Police to create an action plan 

around online safety to challenge the way young people behave online and protect vulnerable adults. 

Partnership working will also enable us as a county see what is being done well and what needs improvement 

around online safety. Designated safeguarding lead training is taking place in November 2016 to train specific 

staff on online safety, the Police will be present to educate staff in keeping young people safe online.    

5.3 Offline Grooming leading to CSE 

There are also another 30 CSE offences that involve grooming without the use of the internet to make the 

initial contact.  These are face-to-face contacts usually through casual meetings or through being introduced 

to someone by a friend, often at parties. 

One recognised model of offline grooming is known as ‘the boyfriend model’. The perpetrator becomes 

friends with a young person which then develops into a ‘relationship’.  The ‘boyfriend’ is typically in their late 

teens or early twenties and the girlfriend a young teenager.  However, this relationship becomes increasingly 

more unequal, the perpetrator forces the young person into unwanted sexual activity and may include sexual 

activity with the ‘boyfriend’s’ friends and associates.  

This type of CSE can be difficult to identify with the victim often not recognising that he/she is being exploited.  

In Northamptonshire, there are many examples of relationships between an early 20s male and a young 

teenager but no evidence of a greater degree of exploitation.  Is this because agencies, including the Police, 

                                                           
13 http://www3.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/children-families-education/help-and-protection-for-
children/protecting-children-information-for-professionals/Pages/bullying-and-online-safety.aspx  45

http://www3.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/children-families-education/help-and-protection-for-children/protecting-children-information-for-professionals/Pages/bullying-and-online-safety.aspx
http://www3.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/children-families-education/help-and-protection-for-children/protecting-children-information-for-professionals/Pages/bullying-and-online-safety.aspx


 

P a g e  33 | 82 

 

have not attempted to dig deeper to expose any exploitative or coercive elements (or to even understand 

the relationship) due to an ‘uncooperative’ victim? These relationships are likely to be labelled as 

inappropriate. 

 

 
 

5.4 Peer to Peer Sexual Exploitation 

A sub-set of the above types of CSE is peer to peer abuse.  This is CSE conducted by children or young people 

under the age of 18 on other U18s.  In many CSE offences it is difficult to establish the true age of the 

perpetrator because the offences are committed online.  In the reporting period for this report, there are 9 

offences that match the peer to peer criteria.  In most there is a narrow age gap and both parties are 

teenagers.  However, there was evidence that grooming had taken place. 

Again this is another area where there is likely to be under-reporting. Is it the case that sexual activity 

between peers of this age is considered as teenagers experimenting with sex and therefore ‘consensual’?  A 

report written in Torbay by Devon and Cornwall Police14 found that authorities were not recognising that 

sexual activity, even between peers, is sexual abuse and may even amount to sexual exploitation. 

5.5 CSE Conducted by Persons in Authority 

The abuse of power by someone in authority in order to conduct sexual offences against a child or young 

person is another form of CSE.  Often these offences come to light years after the offences have occurred, 

when the victim has realised that they were victims.  There have been some high-profile cases in the media, 

particularly in relation to celebrity cases which fall into this category.  These have given some victims the 

confidence to disclose the offences they have been subjected to. 

CSE in Northamptonshire by Persons in Authority (2015/16) 

 

 

The largest group in this section is the church category with 21 offences.  19 of these relate to one CSE 

investigation, Operation Lighthouse.  These crimes occurred between 1970 and 2013 and therefore are part 

                                                           
14 Child Sexual Abuse & Exploitation (June 2015) Devon and Cornwall Police 

21

5
1 1 1 1 1 2

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

64% 15% 3% 3% 3% 3% 3% 6%

Church Teacher DJ Personal
Tutor

Doctor Employer Social
Worker

Carer

N
o

 o
f 

R
e

co
rd

e
d

 C
ri

m
e

s

Recommendation: To ensure that all children and young people found to be in an inappropriate 

relationship due to their age difference are advised about issues associated with CSE. In particular 

advice should be provided on consent and choice. 

Recommendation: To ensure that the CSE Assessment is carried out by the appropriate service for all 

young people found to be in an inappropriate relationship due to their age difference.  

46



 

P a g e  34 | 82 

 

of the non-recent crimes recorded in the reporting period.  Victims’ ages range from 2 years old and 16 years 

old.  There are several offenders who all used their position to take advantage of their victims. 

5.6 CSE by Prostitution  

Another form of CSE is exploitation through prostitution, although there are few recorded cases in 

Northamptonshire (just two reported in the last year).  However, the victims of these specific offences did 

not believe that they were victims.  For this reason, the offences are not reported by them but by third 

parties.  This also makes prosecutions difficult.  There is an intelligence gap as to the extent of this problem 

in Northamptonshire, but with two recent cases, there is clear evidence of this occurring.  

5.7 Sexual Exploitation in Organised Crime Groups (OCGs) or Networks   

In other parts of the country, there have been high profile cases where organised CSE has been taking place 

through a network of perpetrators.  Girls and young women, in particular, have been targeted with the 

deliberate aim of sexual exploitation and using grooming methods to recruit their victims.  Ongoing violence 

and coercion are often used to maintain control over the victims.  Human trafficking has also sometimes been 

involved. 

In Northamptonshire so far, no such organised network has been identified.  However, this does not 

necessarily mean that such networks do not exist in the area.  Reports from areas where they have been 

identified have stressed the need to be proactive in gathering intelligence.  Waiting for the intelligence often 

does not work because of the nature of the offence.  Victims will not realise they are victims and the control 

exerted over them by their offenders means that they can be intimidated to such an extent that they do not 

feel able to disclose their situations. 

Work has been conducted to identify potential networks and this has had some success in identifying 

intelligence gaps.  This has led to identifying individual perpetrators that are linked together but not in any 

recognised or organised format that would indicate a CSE network.  

A brothel in Northampton that was suspected of using underage girls was identified in 2015. Following a 

police investigation a 34 year old female was convicted in 2016 for running this brothel. This may have been 

part of an OCG.  However, further work needs to be conducted to establish whether this is the case.  

One reason why networks may not have been identified so far is the difficulty in joining up intelligence from 

different agencies.  It may be that a more developed picture of intelligence is possible by combining 

information from different sources.  Attempts are being made to facilitate this by the use of Ecins software. 

This was designed for exactly this purpose.  Northamptonshire is in the early stage of using this and it remains 

to be seen whether a more all-encompassing intelligence picture leads to the development and identification 

of new perpetrators and victims.  

For a group of offenders to be classified as part of an OCG they have to achieve a certain score from a 

nationally recognised matrix.  Peer groups or gangs that do not meet this definition therefore operate at a 

lower level of criminality.  In Northamptonshire, several of these lower level groups have been identified and 

analysed.  In some instances, there is intelligence (though unconfirmed) that could suggest that potentially 

some girls are being sexually exploited.  Work is ongoing in developing this intelligence further. 

The key strategy here is that the Police and partners must be proactive rather than reactive in identifying CSE 

either with perpetrators or victims. This may prove or disprove the existence of CSE networks in 

Northamptonshire. 

47



 

P a g e  35 | 82 

 

 

 

5.8 Other Potential Risk Factors 

The Influence of Pornography 

Some CSE reports talk about the influence of adult pornography, mainly on boys, and how it affects their 

attitudes towards sex and females.  It is suggested that pornography at an early age can distort the perception 

of what is ‘normal’ behaviour.  Boys and young men that have been influenced can attempt to persuade their 

victims that they should be following examples seen in pornographic situations.  In Northamptonshire, these 

scenarios are not common, but they do occur.  In four of the cases in the reporting period, pornographic 

videos or images were sent to females.  The implication in at least two offences was that the offender was 

trying to convince their victims that this was what ‘they should be doing’. 

CSE in Rural Areas 

Northamptonshire is a mainly rural county with several large towns but no major cities.  Therefore, risk of 

CSE must be considered differently to other areas with large centres of population.  The following questions 

need to be considered from a rural perspective: 

 Is there a lack of youth services and activities in rural Northamptonshire – is one area affected more 

than another? 

 Are national and local government austerity cuts affecting organised youth support particularly in 

rural areas? 

 Do children in rural areas spend more time online because there may be fewer facilities/ activities 

for them than in more urban areas, and does this make them more vulnerable to online predators? 

 Is it the case that children in isolated or rural areas are more likely to share cars with older teens 

because transport in these areas is poor? 

 Do partnership agencies provide tailored advice focusing specifically on rural communities?  Are 

parents less aware of the dangers/ indicators of CSE in rural areas? 

 Because Northamptonshire is sometimes thought of as a quiet rural area without the problems of 

big city locations, does this mean it is perceived as being safe and that CSE does not happen here? 

 Is Northamptonshire considered a safe environment for children in care by other counties when a 

child requires an ‘out of area placement’?  If Northamptonshire is receiving these placements, is 

there an impact on local children and how is this being managed? 

 
5.9 AlterEgo Creative Solutions - Chelsea’s Choice, A Preventative Play 

A Northampton-based applied theater works with schools, colleges, universities, police forces, social services, 

LSCBs, charities, borough councils, county councils, private businesses, national government agencies and 

NGOs to deliver productions, workshops and training for young people and adults both in the UK and abroad. 

Developed with the support of Northamptonshire Women’s Aid, a number of victims of CSE were interviewed 

and the play was based on the real life story of a Northamptonshire woman who became a victim of CSE, 

though additional elements were added from all the victims that contributed to the writers’ understanding 

of CSE.  The play is designed to raise awareness around the issues of CSE with professionals, teachers, parents 

and carers and young people.  The target audience is those aged 12+, with information suitable for teenagers 

and the adults that support them.  The production runs for 40 minutes and is followed by an interactive 

Recommendation: Northamptonshire Partner organisations should regularly review their intelligence 
on offenders, victims and frequent missing persons to proactively seek out potential CSE offender 
networks. Any intelligence gaps should also be acted upon.  

 

48



 

P a g e  36 | 82 

 

plenary session during which the cast members talk with the audience, expand upon the issues explored in 

the play and answer any question or concerns that they might have.      

Chelsea’s Choice tells the story of a group of three students who discover the diary of a girl called 

Chelsea.  Chelsea was a 15 year old girl who, having fallen out with her friends and family, met a man called 

Gary.  Gary was kind, understanding, had a nice car, had his own flat and listened to her.  Unfortunately Gary 

was not what he seemed to be.  Chelsea's story is played out and examined by the three students who, along 

with their teacher, attempt to understand what happened to Chelsea and how it could have been prevented. 

Within this story a number of themes are covered for the audience to consider, including:  

 What makes a healthy or unhealthy relationship 

 Safe internet use/ sexting 

 What is consent 

 The grooming process, including the differing models and methods  

 Child Sexual Exploitation and the varying forms it can take 

 Where to go for help and advice 

 Awareness of ‘The Warning Signs of CSE’ 

 Raising awareness of the journey that young people may have been on that has resulted in them 

being exploited – a journey that can all too easily make it seem as though they have ‘made their 

own choices’ and can leave them not seeing themselves as victims and fighting against any 

intervention.  

AlterEgo Creative Solutions toured thought Northamptonshire between 25th January and 5th February 2016 

and again between 14th March and 23rd March 2016, during which a total of 31 schools, including 3 

complementary education centres, in all 7 districts and boroughs across Northamptonshire presented the 

play to more than 6,000 secondary school pupils.   

As part of the AlterEgo production a number of audience members at various points throughout the 

production were surveyed.  The data reflects the audience’s responses to 7 different statements about their 

awareness of the issues and the results are shown in the table below: 

Number of young people who saw the play : 6398  

Audience surveyed : 300 

 Agree Disagree 

I now have a better understanding of the issues surrounding Child Sexual 

Exploitation and the different forms that it can take 
99.3% 0.7% 

I now have a better understanding of ‘The Grooming Process’ and how it is 

used to trick, trap and manipulate people into being sexually exploited 
99.1% 0.9% 

I now have a better understanding of ‘Safe Internet Use’ and why I should keep 

myself and my personal information safe online 
99.1% 0.9% 

I now have a better understanding of what makes a ‘Healthy Relationship’ 98.9% 1.1% 

I understand that ‘Grooming’ and ‘Sexual Exploitation’ can happen to young 

boys as well as girls 
98.7% 1.3% 

I am aware that the process that Gary used on Chelsea is not the only way that 

‘Grooming’ and ‘Exploitation’ can work.  It can be done by men, women, boys 

and girls.  It can be done by individuals as well as groups and gangs. 

99.4% 0.6% 

I would recommend watching ‘Chelsea’s Choice’ to other young people my 

age. 
99.3% 0.7% 

Further information can be gathered from the AlterEgo web page for the Chelsea’s Choice Production 

http://www.alteregocreativesolutions.co.uk/chelseas-choice/. 

49

http://www.alteregocreativesolutions.co.uk/chelseas-choice/


 

P a g e  37 | 82 

 

5.10 Child Sexual Abuse – Stranger Contact Offences 

There are a number of sexual offences to U18s that have not been counted as CSE.  This is because they 

appear to be one-off offences with no signs of grooming or exploitative coercion, neither was the victim or 

offender known to each other.  These offences fall within the wider remit of child sexual abuse (CSA). 

However, if it could be established that a single offender was targeting more than one victim with a 

premeditated intention of abusing vulnerable children, this would constitute CSE.  Therefore it is important 

to record these offences accurately so that any commonality is identified.  Similarly, such offences should be 

analysed for CSE by looking at, for example, hotspots (if they do exist) and using other analytical techniques. 

 

5.11 Non-Crime Incidents 

Northamptonshire Police has a procedure for recording incidents where an offence is not immediately 

apparent.  These incidents are recorded as ‘non-crimes’.  If at a later date, with subsequent enquiries, it does 

become clear that an offence has indeed been committed, then a non-crime is converted into a crime. 

Examples of non-crime incidents: 

 Offences against children or young persons reported by Northamptonshire residents where the 

offence took place in another county or country.  This offence would then be recorded in the force 

area where this occurred.  However this is clearly important for Northamptonshire agencies to be 

aware of, because the victim may have been subject to previous crimes in Northamptonshire that 

would be relevant in gaining a better picture of the victim’s history. 

 Incidents being reported because a caller is concerned that a child is in danger of having an 

offence committed against them in the future.  No offences at that point have been committed. 

This needs recording because if future offences do occur it will add to the safeguarding picture for 

that child and increase understanding of the nature of the potential offending 

 Incidents reported by a professional that has concerns about a child’s physical state or about a 

child’s behaviour but has no knowledge that they have been subject to a specific offence. 

However, they have a suspicion that this may be the case.  These suspicions may not, in the end, 

have any criminal foundation and therefore remain a non-crime incident. 

 There is new information about a child that is known to be at risk of sexual exploitation which is 

better recorded formally as a non-crime incident, in order to ensure it is linked to that child’s 

history. 

Although there are only few offences of non-crimes coded as child sexual exploitation this may be because 

the code is not being used as often as it should be.  Awareness of this code among officers has been found 

to be varied. Nevertheless the analysis of non-crimes as a category could be useful if used as intended, as 

another measure of trends and activity within the subject of child sexual exploitation.  

 In 2014/15 there were 26 non-crimes recorded in Northamptonshire flagged as CSE from a total of 

1,741 child–protection non-crimes. 

 In 2015/16 there were 3 non-crimes recorded in Northamptonshire flagged as CSE from a total of 

1,779 child protection non-crimes. 

This is an indication of the poor use of the CSE flag despite the Force promoting its use to all officers in 2015 

following the original CSE report where it was first highlighted. 

Recommendation: To conduct regular proactive analysis on all sexual offences to U18s with the aim of 
identifying possible serial CSE offenders. 

 

50



 

P a g e  38 | 82 

 

With the adoption of new crime recording software in March 2016 (Niche) it remains to be seen whether 

non-crime recording and CSE flagging will continue to have poor usage.  In the first few months of Niche there 

does appear to be little knowledge of how CSE should be recorded in the new database.  A small sample of 

officers were questioned on their awareness of how to record CSE in Niche and several were unaware.  This 

applies to both the recording of crime and non-crime CSE offences.  In order to extract data for this report, 

all sexual offences to U18s had to be examined manually to determine whether they constituted an offence 

of child sexual exploitation.  This was because of the unreliability of the flagging system.  This should be 

considered as an unsustainable process in the long term.  

These recording problems also have implications for statistical returns for the Home Office and 

Northamptonshire Police performance measures.  Combined with the issues around the interpretation of the 

definition, currently, the figures produced for statistical returns do not reflect accurately the true level of CSE 

in Northamptonshire. 

 

 

5.12 Referrals to Children’s Social Services 

During 2015/16, 456 children and young people (CYP) were recorded at initial contact stage (IC) with a 

presenting issue of CSE, a total of 512 times.  Of these 456 CYP, 70.3% (360) were female, 28.5% (146) male 

and 1.2% had no gender information recorded.  

The distribution of all 512 initial contacts by age and gender shows that children and young people of all ages 

are recorded as being at risk of or affected by CSE.  The data quality, however, poses some issues, as some 

unborn babies are also captured as at risk.  This is in part due to the method of recording ICs; for example, 

an IC may be made to MASH by the Police primarily concerning a 15 year old who they believe is at risk of 

CSE, but may also include concerns and information for any siblings.   

As the primary concern is CSE, this will be the recorded reason for all the children and therefore affect the 

age range shown.  This method of recording which includes those children connected with someone at risk 

of CSE means that the true age range of those most at risk is hidden, and while we can surmise that younger 

children are likely to have been included due to having an older sibling at risk, it is not possible to say that all 

will have been included for this reason.  

 

 
However, the information does show changes in the age and gender profiles of the children.  Firstly, the 

number of ICs for girls starts to show a steady increase at age 11 and peaks at 15 years old before decreasing 

again.  For males, there is no evident trend or correlation between age and number of ICs, with those young 

males aged 16 being the largest age group referred during 2015/16 - this is not by many and those aged 15, 

12, 10, 9 and 8 show similar levels.  For those in age groups 3, 4, 8 and 9 years old there are more males 

recorded than females.  All other groups show equal or higher numbers of females at risk.  

Recommendation: To provide officers with guidance on how to record CSE crimes and non-crimes using 
the CSE referral flag on Niche. 

Recommendation: To regularly conduct audits on non-crimes which have been labelled as ‘child-
safeguarding’ to ensure that where there is a CSE risk that they also have the ‘CSE referral’ flag. 

Recommendation: MASH to review data recording procedure  for referral, with particular emphasis on 

ensuring that only those within a sibling group at risk of CSE are coded as ‘at risk of CSE’. 

51



 

P a g e  39 | 82 

 

 

 

Work is being undertaken by the Education Inclusion team to provide training sessions for School Designated 

Safeguarding Leads (DSL) and School Nurses on a rolling programme with expert presenters covering specific 

areas including CSE.  These sessions are due to start in October 2016 and will be at venues across the county 

in order to enable as many School DSL and Nurses to be able to attend.   

 

 

While the ethnicity of those recorded at IC with a presenting issue of CSE during 2015/16 shows that 78.9% 

had a White background (a much lower proportion than in the general population in Northamptonshire), the 

second largest group is those where no ethnicity information was obtained (15.6%).  As data quality issues 

impact on such a large group, any over or under representation of ethnic groups presented in the ICs during 

2015/16 could be attributed to the lack of information.  Therefore it is not possible to make any robust 

assertions around the impact of ethnicity on the likelihood of being a victim of CSE.  

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

-1 0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18

Sexual Exploitation

N
u

m
b

e
r

Age at IC for 

Initial Contacts for CSE during 2015/16 by Age 
and Gender

Male Female

Recommendation: There is a nationally recognised concern about the underreporting of male victims. 

Explore the possibility of creating work streams aimed at encouraging male victims of CSE to report and 

seek support within Northamptonshire.   

Recommendation: Work with Secondary Schools to raise young people’s awareness of the risk of CSE, 

given this is the age group most likely to be affected, including: 

 Young people’s understanding of early warning indicators of grooming and CSE 

 Risk factors  

 Parental understanding of CSE and risk factors and support available  

 Work with School Governors and designated Governor for CSE   

 

Recommendation: Work with local community groups, youth groups, sports teams and clubs to enable 

better understanding of CSE, welfare and safeguarding concerns both in relations to the groups and 

their members.   

52



 

P a g e  40 | 82 

 

Ethnicity group  

Any Asian background 2.3% 

Any Black background 0.2% 

Any mixed background 2.3% 

Any other ethnic group 0.6% 

Any White Background 78.9% 

Information not obtained 15.6% 

Grand Total 100 % 

 

 

ICs originate from a range of organisations and individuals, so in order to get a more solid picture of where 

referrals come from, they have been grouped into 4 headings that cover the 3 most common organisations 

and an ‘Other’15 group that includes smaller and more specialised referrers for which standalone numbers 

are small.  It is evident that the Police made 51% of all the ICs with a presenting concern of CSE during 

2015/16.  As a single group, Health Services made just 6.4% of ICs regarding CSE.  

 Count of ICs  % of ICs  

Education 122 23.8% 

Health Services 33 6.4% 

Other 96 18.8% 

Police 261 51.0% 

Grand Total 512 100% 
 

The Police may make the majority of the ICs for CSE for a number of reasons.  Firstly because of their role in 

locating missing people, the Police maybe find the young person in risky situations that suggest CSE concerns.  

Secondly, in the general work of patrolling, the Police are likely to come across young people in risky 

situations, such as public drinking, that may also be putting themselves at risk of CSE. Finally, due to their 

role investigating CSE and crimes related to indecent images of children, cases that are being investigated 

may bring additional victims to the attention of the Police.   

62.1% of CSE ICs resulted in an outcome of ‘Referral for further assessment is required’, this shows that a 

high proportion of them are treated as a serious concern and further investigation would identify the level 

of CSE risk and any additional concerns.  Further analysis of the assessments completed can be found in 

section 7.5.  16.1% of cases were signposted to Early Help and a further 9.4% were given information or 

advice following the contact of CSE concerns.  Those outcomes recognise that there are some needs for 

support but feel that they are not at the level of need or risk for Children’s Social Care involvement.  By 

working with Early Help it is hoped that initial concerns of CSE can be addressed before reaching the level of 

need that would require Children’s Social Care involvement.  12.4% of ICs for CSE are recorded as a 

notification only with no further action for Children’s Social Care.   

                                                           
15 This includes family member, third-parties, LA services, Probation, legal services and the Court 

Recommendation: Improve data capture of ethnicity in Children’s Social Care records, through service-

wide training, management of data quality by the service, to better identify ethnic groups so that future 

preventative work can be better targeted.  

53



 

P a g e  41 | 82 

 

 

The highest proportion of CSE ICs were for children living in Northampton (33%), this is marginally higher 

than the 30.8% of the overall representation of Northampton in the county totals, as estimated for 201516. 

17% of the recorded CSE ICs came from Kettering, this is an over-representation of the area compared to its 

general population proportion of just 13.5%.  Does this mean that Kettering has an increased problem with 

CSE or that more work has been done to raise awareness and identify CSE concerns in the area?  

All other areas show an under-representation in recorded ICs for CSE compared to their population. 

 

The Index of Multiple Deprivation 201517 (IMD) is the official measure of relative deprivation for small areas 

or neighbourhoods (LSOA) in England.  Each LSOA is ranked 1 (most deprived) to 32,844 (least deprived); 

once indices are calculated, all areas are divided into 10 equal groups to create deciles that each show 10% 

of the LSOAs with a similar level of deprivation.   

Mapping the CSE ICs received during 2015/16 by the IMD of the home postcode recorded for the child shows 

that those children in the 1st or most deprived decile (74 or 14.8%) were most frequently tagged with CSE.  

From there, a general downward trend in the number of CSE ICs with the increase in affluence to the lowest 

                                                           
16 http://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1946157159/report.aspx?town=northampton  
17 The English Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) 2015 – Guidance  

Recommendation: Develop understanding around increased CSE IC numbers in Kettering. 

54

http://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1946157159/report.aspx?town=northampton
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/464430/English_Index_of_Multiple_Deprivation_2015_-_Guidance.pdf


 

P a g e  42 | 82 

 

point in the 10th or most affluent decile (5.2% or 26%).  Overall, this shows that young people from both 

deprived and affluent areas are being identified as at risk of CSE, though those in deprived areas are more 

frequently seen as at risk.  This could indicate that young people from deprived areas are more at risk than 

their affluent peers or that professionals in deprived areas are more familiar with the signs of CSE and more 

likely to raise concerns.   

 

5.13 Multiple CSE referrals  

A total of 50 children had 105 ICs for CSE between April 2014 and March 2015; of these, 5 had 3 referrals and 

the remaining 45 had 2 referrals each.  Within this cohort, 28 families were identified in those contacts 

concerning sibling groups. 

For this group many of the demographic 

details are similar to those of the overall 

CSE referral group. For the Multiple CSE 

referrals group, 79% were female, 

including all those with 3 CSE referrals.  

The age profile shows a broad range, with 

a clear peak between the ages of 10 and 

16.  Those with 3 referrals for CSE are 

aged between 12 and 17.  Of the 50 

children, 80% are recorded as having a 

White background, 3.8% have an Asian 

background and 3.8% have a Mixed 

background; for the remaining 12.4% 

there is no record of ethnicity.   

Nearly half of all ICs for those children with multiple CSE ICs originate from the Police (47.6%).  A smaller 

proportion of referrals are made by Police and Health in regards to this cohort, whereas there is an increase 

in the referrals from ‘other’ organisations. This may be either because the issues are more complex and 

therefore apparent to several organisations working with the child or young person, or because the level of 

risk is not visible enough to make these cases qualify for Police involvement, but cumulative concerns are 

significant as a whole.  

Those with multiple ICs for CSE are recorded as resident in five areas: Corby, Daventry, Kettering, 

Northampton and South Northamptonshire; those with 3 ICs are recorded at addresses in Kettering, 55



 

P a g e  43 | 82 

 

Northampton and South Northamptonshire. Whilst South Northamptonshire is under-represented in regards 

to total numbers of contacts, it is the second most common location when considering repeat referrals.  This 

could be because a handful of cases are being flagged repeatedly, or because children and young people in 

this area are more likely to be seen by several organisations which can then raise concerns.  This information 

needs to be investigated further, to fully understand its significance.     

 

Neither East Northamptonshire nor Wellingborough have any young people with multiple CSE recorded, 

though as both areas showed an under-representation of referrals for CSE compared to population size it is 

not entirely surprising,  

5.14 CSE Crime referrals 

Of the 170 CSE offences identified by Northamptonshire Police, 122 have been known to Northamptonshire 

County Council’s Children’s Social Care team either before, at the time of the crime or since the crime.  

There were a number of crimes for which the victim has not been known to Northamptonshire Children’s 

Social Care as far as current records show.  The majority of those not known are for the historic crimes, but 

16 were for crimes that took place during 2015/16 but in which the victim was not known.  

Known to NCC Children’s Social Care 

 No Yes Grand Total 

Current year 16 108 124 

1 year 1 8 9 

2-4 years 2 5 7 

5-10 years 2  2 

10+ years 27 1 28 

Grand Total 48 122 170 

 
There are a number of reasons why a victim of CSE crime may not be known to NCC Children’s Social Care, 

including that we have been unable to match data held on individuals across the two systems.  

For those who were known to Children’s Social Care around the time of the crime, a range of tags or 

involvement can be seen in the table below by timeframe of when the crime occurred, though for more than 

56



 

P a g e  44 | 82 

 

20 of the individuals that were known to Children’s Social Care at the time of the crime, we were unable to 

identify the reason for involvement.   

Presenting Issue Current year 1 year 2-4 years 10+ years Grand Total 

Both CSE and Missing 6  1  7 

Child Sexually Harmful 7    7 

Family Breakdown 1    1 

CIN 5  1  6 

CPP 6    6 

CPP & LAC 2    2 

Child Sexual Exploitation 36 6  1 43 

Child’s Emotion / Behaviour Issues 3    3 

LAC 4  1  5 

Missing 14    14 

Neglect 1    1 

Sexual Abuse 3    3 

None 20 2 2  24 

Grand Total 108 8 5 1 122 

 

This shows that Children’s Social Care involvement with children at risk of CSE includes concerns about a 

range of other factors. At least 7 of this group where Looked after Children at the time of or shortly after the 

CSE crime data, and a further 12 where classified as ‘Child in Need’ (CIN) or Child Protection Plan (CPP) and 

working with Children’s Social Care. 

5.15 Initial Assessments by NCC with flagged risk of CSE 

Once an initial contact to MASH has been received and a decision for further assessment has been made, the 

case is referred to the Assessment Team.  At the beginning of 2015/16 the Safeguarding and Children’s 

services assessment completed was the Initial Assessment (IA) followed by a core assessment if more in-

depth information was needed.  However, from mid-January 2016, the Initial Assessment was replaced by 

the Single Assessment (SA).  For the purpose of this report, assessments completed during 2015/16 will be 

referred to as Initial Assessments (IA).  

The Department for Education has produced a guideline for assessments entitled ‘Children in Need Census: 

Additional guide on the factors identified at the end of assessment’18.  This document includes definitions of 

risk factors and why it is important that the risk is identified and recorded.  The assessment should take into 

consideration three areas:  

 The child’s development needs 

 The parents’ or caregivers’ capacity to respond appropriately 

 The wider family and environmental factors. 

The list of risk factors included is not exhaustive but should cover key factors that should be evident during 

assessments and could be used to facilitate service planning.  

In Northamptonshire during 2015/16, a total of 534 IAs were completed that indicated a risk or known 

concerns around CSE or Missing for a total of 497 children being assessed.  An IA is completed on each 

individual child within a family, but while there will be overarching concerns that affect all children within 

                                                           
18 Department of Education, (Nov 2015) Children in Need Census: Additional guide on the factors identified at the end of 
assessment Page 5.  57

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/474699/AdditionalGuideOnFactorsAtAssessment.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/474699/AdditionalGuideOnFactorsAtAssessment.pdf


 

P a g e  45 | 82 

 

the family, the IA for each child should be tailored to each child and include any additional risk factors that 

may be specific to an individual child. Some assessments showed concerns of both CSE and Missing; these 

will be discussed in both sections and therefore some will be double-counted for outcomes or risk factors. 

The outcomes of all the IAs completed during 2015/16 that identified a risk of either CSE or Missing are 

presented below.  This shows that for both CSE and Missing, ‘Proceed to Core Assessment’ is the outcome in 

nearly half of all assessments (32.1% and 45% respectively).  For those with the risk of ‘Missing’, ‘Close Case 

- NFA’ 12.6% (33), ‘Step down to Targeted Prevention’ 11.1% (29) and ‘Service Agreed - Ongoing Involvement’ 

9.5% (25) are the main outcomes. 

Outcome Missing CSE 

Case Closure - NFA 33 65 

Case Closure - Step Down to Tier 3 Services 10 17 

Case Closure - Step Down to Universal Services 1 4 

Terminate, Change in Circumstances 2 3 

Step down to Targeted Prevention 29 12 

Service Agreed 10 33 

Service Agreed - Ongoing Involvement 25 56 

CIN Plan required 12 12 

Complete Private Fostering Status 1 0 

Proceed to Core Assessment 118 125 

Proceed to S47 and Core Assessment 21 62 

Grand Total 262 389 

 

A range of 27 risks were identified for those at risk of CSE or missing.  These risk factors identified through 

IAs cover the range of vulnerability factors that are associated with a heighten risk of CSE.  No young person 

was listed as being at risk of all the identified risks listed; the highest number any one individual has is 16 risk 

factors, though the average number is 5 risk factors.  

389 IAs included CSE as a risk factor; below is a list of risk factors that were also identified for those at risk of 

CSE.  The list below shows what other risk factors being at risk of CSE more often is associated with: 

 In 186 cases there were risks of Sexual Abuse (this means that most children and young people at 

risk of CSE have either been a victim of or are also at risk of CSA in its wider sense) 

 In 125 cases there were concerns of Emotional Abuse (meaning that there is a strong correlation 

between the likelihood of a child being emotionally abused and becoming a victim of CSE)  

 117 were at risk of going missing (going missing is often correlated with an increased risk of 

becoming a victim of CSE)  

 106 exhibited socially unacceptable behaviour (this could be that children who already display 

anti-social behaviour are more likely to be targeted in terms of CSE, or that their involvement with 

potential perpetrators makes them more likely to exhibit such behaviours) 

 
The following risk factors also appear in association with CSE risk, to a slightly lesser extent:  

 99 children were listed as having no risk factors identified during IA19 

 97 children were listed with Mental Health concerns 

 95 children were listed as at risk of drug abuse 

 93 children showed signs of self-harm 

                                                           
19 Please see section below on ‘No Risk Factors’ 58



 

P a g e  46 | 82 

 

 In 90 cases there was concerns of neglect 

 79 children were at risk of Domestic Violence 

 75 listed Alcohol concerns for the child  

 67 children were at risk of Physical Abuse 

 64 children were at risk of exposure to parent or carer in a Domestic Violent relationship  

 54 children had parents or carers with Mental Health concerns  

 39 children had learning disabilities 

 36 were at risk of ‘other’ unlisted factors 

 30 were at risk of gang involvement 

 24 children with parents or carers with physical disabilities  

 Of the above 24, 14 were listed as young carers 

 21 listed Alcohol concerns for parents or carers 

 19 children were at risk of exposure to parent or carer drug use  

 10 were at risk of trafficking 

 8 were Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children  

 5 children had physical disabilities 

 3 were privately fostered 

 2 children had parents or carers with learning disabilities. 

Below, each bar represents all 389 children who had an IA during 2015/16 and were identified as being at 

risk of CSE, with the blue section of the bar showing the proportion at risk of the respective factor.  It is 

evident from this that no risk factor was identified for more than half of the cohort, with some of the risk 

factors being identified as a concern for as few as 2 or 3 individuals.  Of a possible total of 27 risk factors that 

could be identified during assessment, including CSE, all 27 risks where identified for at least one young 

person.  This shows that the risks faced by victims of CSE in Northamptonshire are varied but are being 

recognised by Children’s Social Care during assessment.   

 
59



 

P a g e  47 | 82 

 

CSE is rarely an isolated risk factor presented by a child and there are a large number of risk factors associated 

with it, as shown in the list above. By using a Venn diagram with the three risk factors most commonly found 

for those at risk of CSE, it highlights the overlap of some of the concerns. The Venn diagram below represents 

not only the number of children at risk of each concern but also the number of children at risk of all those 

concerns grouped together.  A total of 282 (72%) children that were considered at risk of CSE at IA stage were 

also considered to be at risk of either sexual abuse, emotional abuse or going missing; 29 of those children 

were considered to be at risk of all of these risks.  

It can be concluded therefore that being subject to or at risk of sexual abuse or emotional abuse increases a 

child’s vulnerability to becoming a victim of CSE, whilst at the same time emotional abuse is more likely to 

lead to children going missing, which in turn increases their risk of CSE.  Whilst this can be viewed as an 

abstract way of representing very diverse and complex circumstances, it is a very useful tool when trying to 

understand how certain risk factors group together, in order to better address the root causes of CSE 

victimisation.  

 

5.16 Initial Assessment with the RISE Team (Northamptonshire multi-agency team) 

RISE is Northamptonshire’s dedicated multi-agency team tackling Child Sexual Exploitation.  As covered 

above, it comprises staff from Police, Safeguarding and Children’s Services, CAN (3rd sector drug, alcohol and 

homeless service) and Health. 

For cases where there are concerns of CSE, a referral is sent to the RISE team.  In order to make a referral to 

the RISE team, a completed CSE risk assessment is required.  Those that have a score of 38 or above indicate 

a high risk of CSE and this is generally considered the threshold for RISE involvement.  This assessment is used 

by the RISE management team during the weekly referrals meeting, in combination with professional 

judgment for the acceptance and allocation of cases.  

The RISE team handle on average 50 cases at a time.  The ages of those young people the team work with 

range from 9 to 17 years.  

60



 

P a g e  48 | 82 

 

Once a case has been accepted, the RISE team work with the young person and their families to develop their 

understanding of CSE and how to protect themselves from further risk, as well as to develop self-reliance and 

confidence.  

RISE also complete the monthly Missing Notifications return, displaying key data relating to absent and 

missing children, to inform partners such as Safeguarding Services, Police and Health on the findings from 

their activity.    

At the time of writing, 24 cases were open to RISE that had also had an IA completed during 2015/16.  The 

highest number of risk factors identified in these cases was 15 and the average number was 7; this means 

that those cases taken on by RISE have a higher number of risk factors overall than those that have CSE or 

Missing identified as a risk but are not open to RISE.  The other risk factors identified, ordered by frequency 

of occurrence, are:  

 All 24 were at risk of CSE 

 In 11 cases there were risks of Sexual Abuse  

 10 children were at risk of going missing 

 9 listed alcohol misuse concerns for the child  

 9 children exhibited socially unacceptable behaviour 

 9 children showed signs of self-harm 

 In 9 cases there were concerns of neglect  

 8 children were listed as at risk of drug abuse 

 8 children had Mental Health concerns 

 7 children were at risk of Domestic Violence 

 In 6 cases there were concerns of Emotional Abuse  

 4 children were at risk of exposure to parent or carer Domestic Violent relationship  

 4 child were listed as having no risk factors identified during IA20 

 3 children had parents or carers with Mental Health concerns  

 3 children were at risk of Physical Abuse 

 3 were at risk of ‘other’ unlisted factors 

 2 were at risk of Gang involvement 

 1 listed Alcohol concerns for parents or carers 

 1 child had learning disabilities 

 1 child had physical disabilities. 

 

In the graph below each bar represents all 24 open RISE cases that had IAs during 2015/16, with the blue 

section of the bar showing the proportion at risk of the factor listed.  It is evident from this that no other risk 

factor was identified for more than half (12 or more) of the selected group, with some of the risk factors 

being identified as a concern for as few as 1 or 2 individuals.  Of a possible 27 risk factors that could be 

identified during assessment, including CSE, a total of 19 risk factors were identified for the RISE cohort. This 

shows a range of factors are being identified at assessment for those children and young people who go on 

to work with the RISE team. 

                                                           
20 Please see section on ‘No Risk Factors’ 61



 

P a g e  49 | 82 

 

 

CSE is rarely an isolated risk factor presented by a child and there are a large number of risk factors associated 

with it, as shown in the list above. By using a Venn diagram with the three risk factors most commonly found 

for those at risk of CSE, it highlights the overlap of some of the concerns. The Venn diagram below shows the 

3 risk factors most frequently identified for those open to RISE who had an IA during 2015/16.  A total of 18 

(75%) out of 24 of the children working with RISE were also considered to be at risk of one or more of the 

following, Missing, Sexual Abuse or Alcohol Abuse in addition to CSE.  The strongest correlation found is 

between CSE and risk of sexual abuse.  

 

Working within RISE a CAN: Young peoples Drug and Alcohol Service, appointed voluntary worker is available 

to work with parents of children at risk of CSE and with substance or alcohol abuse concerns.   

62



 

P a g e  50 | 82 

 

It is widely recognised that children and young people who are exploited are the most vulnerable on an 

emotional level and trauma work needs to be targeted and long term to ensure positive mental health 

outcomes for each young person.  This work includes counselling, bereavement support and long term 

therapy from appropriately trained and specialist services.  A process is being developed by the CSE Specialist 

Nurse based within the RISE team to identify the emotional needs of each young person accepted by the 

service and appropriate and timely referrals are made to ensure positive mental health outcomes for each 

young person.   

The RISE team also investigates 

serious incidents of CSE that 

meet risk assessed criteria and 

which require a more complex 

investigation. Other CSE 

investigations are conducted by 

CID. On average, there are 

around 20 referrals a month to 

RISE of which 10-12 are declined 

and 8-9 accepted.  At any one 

time there are approximately 50 

open cases that are being 

investigated.  During the 

reporting period for this report, 

the chart shows that there has been an increasing trend in the level of ongoing investigations (open cases).  

The upward trend of open cases investigated by the RISE team could be attributed to increased resources in 

Police intelligence department around Safeguarding.  

Additionally, in 2015 Safeguarding Training courses focused on CSE were offered by NCC to all professionals 

that work with children and attended by 600 people.  The aim of this training was to increase the general 

awareness of CSE and its associated risk factors with teachers, youth works and other such professionals and 

increase the level of referrals to Children’s Social Care.   

 

  

Recommendation: To analyse the rates of referrals to RISE to deepen the understanding of the upwards 

trend in levels of referrals and investigations.  Possible focuses could include:    

 Cases re-referred to RISE  

 Capacity of team compared to referred caseload 

 Evidence of repeat referrers for both accepted and avoidable referrals 

 

63



 

P a g e  51 | 82 

 

5.17 Children Open to Children’s Social Care At Risk of CSE 

Limited information exists within CareFirst to be able to provide up to date figures on children and young 

people at risk of CSE or subject to CSE that are open cases to Children’s Social Care.  

 

Currently, the following areas can be used to report CSE figures: 

 Presenting issue at IC stage  

 Primary need - Best practice is that this should be updated to reflect the current need if this 

changes throughout the child’s journey 

 Factor of concern in the single assessment – can be selected if the assessment has identified CSE as 

a factor 

 RISE team current cases – requested ad-hoc from the RISE team. 

A further complication is that it is not currently possible to differentiate between ‘at risk of CSE’ or ‘subject 

to CSE’ for a child without reading the individual case notes, visits, observations assessments etc. 

The new requirements from Ofsted21 for the 2015/16 fostering collection requires that Children’s Social Care 

can differentiate between Looked After Children who were at risk of or subject to CSE during the year. 

Therefore, to enable up to date monitoring of CSE within the caseload at any given point, i.e. not looking 

back at what was deemed presenting need several years ago or at contact, a number of recommendations 

have been made regarding amendments to the various plans in the system. 

 

This would mean that along with the initial data on presenting issues, primary needs and assessment factors 

held against the record at the start of a child’s CIN episode, the flags in the reviews/ plans listed above will 

mean that at any point an up to date list of children subject to or at risk of CSE could be produced and our 

understanding of the picture of risk in the county would be greatly improved. 

Whilst the above remains an issue of concern that needs addressing, some information regarding the current 

(at date of writing) LAC population was gathered as a starting point. During September 2016 there were 

nearly 1,000 LAC, of which 66 were recorded with concerns of CSE at either IC, Assessment or Primary Need 

Code during their contact with Children’s Social Care.  

The CSE LAC group contains 34 females and 32 males, with the majority (91%) of the group aged between 

14 and 17 years old.   

For this group, the earliest indication of CSE concern was raised in November 2009, almost a year before 

the child was taken into care; 31 of the children had CSE noted as a concern during 2016.   

                                                           
21 Ofsted annual fostering data collection: 2015 to 2016 form  

Recommendation: To develop understanding of CSE concerns in the LAC cohort and commonalities 

such as accommodation, education location or group ties. 

 

 

Recommendation: To amend the various plans in the Children’s Social Care system to include more 

detail on CSE in line with the Ofsted 2015/16 data collection requirements.  These should include:  

 Add a ‘CSE risk’ and ‘Subject to CSE’ tick in the Q2.  Review Child In Need Plans and Initial Child 

In Need Plan 

 Add a ‘CSE risk’ and ‘Subject to CSE’ tick in the ‘CP Conference Minutes NEW’ form. 

 Add a ‘CSE risk’ and ‘Subject to CSE’ tick in the ‘LAC review chairs report’. 

 

 

64

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/ofsted-annual-fostering-data-collection-2015-to-2016-form
http://sv-carefirst-live-app.corp.northamptonshire.gov.local/cfi/application_store/system/index.cfm?action=CFQS010C&sub=assess&asm_id=A1242257&preview=true&CFID=326693&CFTOKEN=79221217&jsessionid=0103a2f2d6256c791e31165121356c303a29


 

P a g e  52 | 82 

 

6. Collecting Intelligence 

The Police collect and record information and intelligence that is required for policing purposes.  This is then 

evaluated, and some can be shared with partners.  The intention is that this intelligence can be actioned in 

such a way that it can help protect and safeguard individuals and the public in general.  This intelligence can 

take many different forms.  At a basic level, it can indicate which areas may have a CSE issue, both because 

there are high levels of intelligence and just as importantly, which areas have low levels of intelligence.   

Although it is called Police intelligence and it is recorded on Police databases, the origin of this intelligence is 

not restricted to only Police sources.  Partners can and do provide invaluable intelligence as well.  It is 

certainly the case that when there are multiple sources of intelligence on one subject, then that intelligence 

is likely to be more useful because it is likely to be more reliable and will have greater validity. 

Intelligence on CSE is invaluable in identifying areas of threat and risk with perpetrators, victims and 

locations.  The threat, harm and risk can often be identified through intelligence so that a proactive response 

can be made to safeguard children and young people before they become victims. 

The amount of CSE intelligence recorded on the Police database can sometimes reflect the concerns in an 

area better than the levels of recorded crime.  This is because it is widely accepted that there is an under-

recording of CSE due to problems already discussed in this report.  

It is also vital that the levels of intelligence are measured in order to identify where there may be gaps in 

knowledge.  National reports have identified that CSE is likely to be occurring in all parts of the community. 

Recommendations on best practice suggest that Police forces should seek intelligence on CSE rather than 

wait for it to be reported.  Therefore, one purpose for monitoring statistics on CSE intelligence gathering is 

to identify those areas where there is such a knowledge gap.  

 

 

In April 2015 a new desk was set up within the Northants Police Force Intelligence Bureau.  This desk has a 

specific safeguarding remit with a clear emphasis on the proactive targeting of CSE. In addition a pro-active 

Safeguarding Team was also introduced by the police. These initiatives have been a success in generating 

new intelligence.  As can be seen from the chart above, from April 2015, the level of intelligence submitted 

increased considerably.  This shows that when there is a drive to become more proactive and develop 

intelligence and there are resources allocated to target an issue, then some of the knowledge gaps in CSE can 

be filled.  Monthly levels though have varied considerably, and it is necessary to maintain focus. 

2014/15 

2015/16 

65



 

P a g e  53 | 82 

 

Northamptonshire Police Intelligence: Intelligence Logs and Children Linked to CSE (2015/16) 

 
Note: Children and young persons may be suspects, offenders, victims, family members or associates of victims. 

The chart above shows that there are anomalies between the different localities of Northamptonshire, in the 

level of intelligence collected.  In other sections of this report, it was found that both Wellingborough and 

Corby were disproportionately represented in terms of the number of recorded CSE crimes and the number 

of CSE referrals to Social Services.  Here too there are under-representations in intelligence and the number 

of children mentioned within that intelligence. Wellingborough in particular from all these measures 

statistically appears to have very much less of an issue with CSE than either Daventry or Kettering. 

However, the demographic profile of Wellingborough is similar to that of these other locations and there is 

no obvious reason why there would be less of an issue with CSE in this area.  An inference can, therefore, be 

made that there are more unreported offences of CSE and more intelligence gaps in the Wellingborough area 

than in other areas of Northamptonshire. 

 

 
Intelligence on Children and Young People 

In the recorded crime section of this report, it was detailed that 170 children and young people had been the 

victim of a CSE offence currently or in the past. Of this total, 109 were in the 12-month reporting period.  The 

number of children and young people referred to in the intelligence gathered is much higher, with 450 

different people mentioned in the same period. This shows that there may be many more children where 

there are concerns regarding CSE, than those who actually become victims of crime. 

Not all of the intelligence submitted on these children and young people will signal immediate safeguarding 

concerns for that child, if they did they would be actioned by the Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH).  

But currently, there does not appear to be any analytical process that reviews the non-immediate ‘lower 

level’ of children and young people that could be vulnerable to CSE. A regular reassessment to proactively 

review new intelligence on these ‘lower level’ individuals may indicate (when looked at as a whole) new 

threat and risk and reveal that CSE may be actually occurring. 

 

District
Count 

Intel logs

Percent 

Logs

Count 

Children

Percent 

Children

% of Northants 

Population

Northampton District 221 39% 142 32% 31%

Daventry 64 11% 56 12% 11%

Kettering 64 11% 63 14% 14%

Out of Force 51 9% 27 6%

Corby 52 9% 60 13% 9%

Wellingborough 34 6% 26 6% 11%

Northants Elsewhere 31 5% 11 2%

South Northants 28 5% 38 8% 12%

East Northants 20 3% 18 4% 12%

9 2% 9 2%

Total 574 450

Recommendation: Partnership professionals to target intelligence gathering initiatives in areas where 

currently there is an intelligence gap.  This should start with Wellingborough as the first priority. 

Recommendation: All U18s flagged as ‘CSE’ in Police intelligence to be periodically reviewed by 
partnership agencies.   

66



 

P a g e  54 | 82 

 

Intelligence on Locations 

It is difficult to use the Police intelligence database to find commonality within types of locations.  High risk 

locations like parks, takeaways, bus stations and hotels are not recorded within this system as a separate 

entity.  This type of analysis would be useful to determine whether perpetrators are targeting specific 

locations or where in Northamptonshire potential victims may be under a greater threat. 

Some of the more well-known location types known to be linked to CSE vulnerability have been researched 

in Northamptonshire over the reporting period for this report. Flag types searched on were “child 

protection”, “child at risk” and “CSE”.  Without further research, it is not possible to identify the nature of 

the risk at these locations and therefore these tables should only be used as an indicator of potential CSE 

activity. 

Based on Police intelligence, there are several locations which have been linked to potential CSE activities 

during the reporting period.  These cover hotels (in Wellingborough, Kettering, Northampton and Daventry), 

take-away outlets and cafes (Kettering, Northampton, Raunds), parks in Northampton and Daventry and 

children’s homes across the county.  This intelligence is being shared between partnership agencies to ensure 

the safeguarding of children and appropriate responses to risk.’ 

Locations Number of Intel Links 

Hotel 
 

Note: Many intelligence logs refer to ‘a hotel’ 

without it being named. Only named hotels 

appear in this table. 

Euro Hotel, Wellingborough 11 

Royal Hotel, Kettering 3 

Columbia Hotel, Wellingborough 2 

Ibis Hotel, Northampton 2 

Park Inn Hotel, Northampton 1 

Plough Hotel, Northampton 1 

Staverton Park Hotel, Daventry 1 

The Daventry Hotel, Daventry 1 

Cafes, Takeaways, etc 
McDonalds, Kettering 5 

McDonalds, Northampton 2 

McDonalds, Raunds 1 

Bus Station, Train Station Kettering Railway Station 1 

Parks 
Racecourse, Northampton 18 

Abington Park, Northampton 3 

Daventry Country Park 2 

Children’s Homes 
Buckby House, Long Buckby 50 

Eversley House, Northampton 20 

The Spinney, Welford 19 

Salmons House, Middleton Cheney 15 

Welford House, Northampton 11 

Nene House, Towcester 10 

Raven House, Corby 6 

Thornby Hall, Thornby 5 

Abbey House, Northampton 5 

Eden Lodge, Rushden 4 

St Johns Centre, Tiffield 2 

Banyan Tree, Northampton 2 

Lower Lodge Cottage, Pipewell 2 
 

Although these statistics can only be used as a guide they do indicate that the nationally identified pattern in 

the UK at these locations are being mirrored in Northamptonshire.  Locally focused profiles would be useful 

to identify specific local issues. 

67



 

P a g e  55 | 82 

 

The RISE Team hold daily meetings which reviews new intelligence, crime and incidents. Actions are 

generated as a result of these meetings. However regular analysis of commonality over a longer period may 

reveal other avenues for investigation and action. 

 

 
 

7. Frequently Missing Persons Under 18 

In 2013 the then Children’s Minister Edward Timpson said “Children who go missing from care are at serious 

risk of being exploited and harmed”. He went on to say “It is clear we must have robust data on children who 

go missing to work with”22. 

Children and young people under 18 that go missing frequently are considered to be a high risk group that 

could be subject to CSE.  Northamptonshire Police and Northamptonshire Children’s Social Care have, in 

partnership, produced the ‘Northamptonshire Multi-Agency Protocol on children who run away or go missing 

from Home or care’23 relating to all children living in Northamptonshire and Looked After Children in the care 

of Northamptonshire Local Authority placed out of the county. The protocol provides guidance for 

professionals from all agencies and parents on how to respond when a child is absent or missing.  Please refer 

to the ‘References and useful websites’ section at the end of this document for a link to this protocol. 

Those that seek to exploit children for sexual purposes are aware of this vulnerability and target locations 

that these children are known to frequent (see 3.4).  In other parts of the country, exploiters have targeted 

care homes, encouraging young residents to go with them by offering to provide them with drugs or alcohol, 

or even simply free transport, in order to start a grooming process that eventually will lead to CSE. 

Therefore in Northamptonshire, it is important to use this knowledge to proactively find the most vulnerable 

Children and YP.  It is not acceptable to just wait for children to disclose information to agencies as we know 

that they will not always do this.  As frequently missing persons have been identified as a high-risk group, 

potentially vulnerable to CSE, then this is one way to achieve this. 

Northamptonshire Police record all occurrences of people that go missing on a stand-alone database known 

as ‘COMPACT’. For this report, this database has been analysed for all under 18s for the period between 

01/04/2014 and 31/03/2016 (a 2 year reporting period).  

When a caller to the Police reports that a child has gone missing, the reports are classified into one of two 

groups: 

 Absent – because they are not in a place they are expected or required to be and there is no 

apparent risk. 

 Missing – because their whereabouts cannot be established and where the circumstances are out 

of character or the context suggests the child may be subject to crime or at risk of harm to 

themselves or another.  A child can be reclassified from absent to missing if the child is not found 

by their parent(s) or carer(s)24. 

                                                           
22 Edward Timpson MP – Speech at the BAAF Conference in November 2013 
23 Multi-Agency Protocol On Children Who Go Missing From Home or Care  
24 It is agreed procedure that all Looked After Child are considered as ‘Missing’ never ‘Absent’ 

Recommendation: To conduct analysis at the most mentioned locations to help identify whether 
perpetrators are targeting these locations.  

 

Recommendation: In Niche intelligence to use either the field named ‘Remarks’ or the field named 

‘Location Type’ to record the main location type associated quoted within an intelligence log. 

 

68

http://www.northamptonshirescb.org.uk/about-northamptonshire-safeguarding-children-board/policies/missing-children-protocol/


 

P a g e  56 | 82 

 

The following statistics on missing persons in this report refer to those that fall under the definition of 

‘Missing’ only. 

Those under 18 that go missing represented 42% of all persons that went missing in 2014/15.  This proportion 

increased to 49% in 2015/16.  Therefore almost half of missing persons in the most current year were under 

18. This statistic is based on the number of persons, but one person can and often does, go missing more 

than once so the total number of missing person reports is higher.  

In 2015/16 there were 932 reports of missing under 18s (U18) which related to 445 different persons.  This 

is because 203 persons were reported missing more than once. 

In the most current year, there were significant increases in U18 missing persons compared with those in the 

previous year.  As the chart below shows, this was an increase of 47%. This increase is four times that of the 

increase in the over 18s group. 

Missing Persons Under 18 (2014-2016) 

 

Note that in August 2015 a directive was issued that children going missing from Local Authority Care could 

not be classified as ‘absent’ and should always be classified as ‘missing’. This led to an increase at this point 

in the numbers recorded as being missing which would account for some of this increase. 

All of the U18s reported missing in 2015/16 are shown in the chart below with a breakdown on how 

frequently they went missing: 

 

In total, 159 of the 445 missing persons in 2015/16 had 2 or more reports of going missing.  Those children 

and young people that have been missing 6 or more times in the reporting period have been analysed further 

for any commonality in their missing episodes (see below). 

15+
• 4 U18s went missing 15 or more times in the last 12 months

10-15
• 7 U18's went missing 10-15 times in the last 12 months

6-9
• 23 U18s went missing 5-9 times in the last 12 months

2-5
• 125 U18s went missing 2-4 times in the last 12 months

1
• 286 U18s went missing once in the last 12 months.

MISSING PERSONS OVER 18 
 

This increase becomes even more 
significant when compared with 
the much smaller increase in the 
number of over 18s that went 
missing which was 12% (from 415 
persons to 463 persons). 

69



 

P a g e  57 | 82 

 

Frequent U18 Missing Persons 

In the Northamptonshire Multi-agency Missing from Home Protocol, a frequent missing child is defined as 

having “three episodes of missing within a 90 day period”.  When this does occur there is a prescribed course 

of action that has to be followed including strategy meetings. 

For the purpose of this report, it was decided to define ‘frequent’ differently, in order to obtain a meaningful 

number of children and young people that could be analysed.  Therefore the parameters set were those 

persons aged under 18 that had gone missing 6 or more times within a 12 month period. 

In total, there were 34 U18s that went missing 6 or more times during the 12 month reporting period.  

Between them, this amounted to 308 missing reports.  Therefore these 34 individuals accounted for one third 

of all the U18 missing person reports and one fifth of all of the missing person reports. 

These 34 U18s should be considered as potentially being the most vulnerable to CSE. A multi-agency 

partnership agency meeting takes place once a month and this missing persons data is used to help highlight 

those most at risk. 

In 2014/15, 28 U18s that went missing were highlighted for CSE and in 2015/16 this increased to 58, an 

increase of over 100%.  However, this increase may be due to more accurate reporting over recent months. 

Profile of a Missing Person who is Under 18 

 

 
Perhaps surprisingly there are almost as many young males as females that go missing.  The stereotypical 

image of a missing person vulnerable to CSE is a female, but boys are also vulnerable to CSE as demonstrated 

by the number of victims of CSE that are male.  It is important that there is awareness across partners around 

vulnerability in both males and females. 

Children and young people go missing for many different reasons and it can be difficult to make a distinction 

between what is normal teenage behaviour and behaviour that indicates CSE vulnerability.  Going to parties, 

not wanting to explain their whereabouts and experimenting with drugs, alcohol and sexual relationships can 

be part of ‘growing up’ for some teenagers.  However, as discussed in section 2.4 there are indicators that 

can highlight these normal behaviours as more significant when several of these outward signs are present. 

Going missing on its own, even if it is frequent, does not necessarily mean that the child or young person is 

being exploited it but it does increase the risk.  

But where children and young people are experimenting with sexual relationships they need to have the 

confidence to be able to exit risky situations and speak out about abuse or exploitation.  This might involve 

education around what ‘consent’ means with both potential victims and potential offenders.  A document 

0

10

20

30

40

50

12yrs 13yrs 14yrs 15yrs 16yrs 17yrs

Age of Missing Person (U18)

5
7

%
 

4
3

%
 

70



 

P a g e  58 | 82 

 

written by young people from Doncaster and London through the NSPCC define this simply as “it’s when you 

don’t know your choices that other people have all the power”25. 

Why are Frequent Missing U18 Missing Persons more vulnerable? 

The 34 most frequently missing U18s have a profile that indicates their increased vulnerability.  Firstly, on 

average, they each went missing 9 times during the 12 month period.  Each missing episode lasted an average 

of 23 hours.  This represents a large amount of time in which they could have been at risk.  In one case, an 

individual went missing for 16 days and being missing for 3-4 days was not unusual across these 34 

individuals. 

Of the 34 frequently missing U18s there are 19 who have at some point been the victim of a sexual offence 

(though not necessarily occurring while being missing). Nine have reported that they have been raped.  At 

least 10 have reported mental health issues and 9 have had sexual health issues reported.  See the chart 

below. 

All of these factors show that frequently missing U18s are a high-risk group for CSE vulnerability.  Indeed, 19 

of the 34 have been identified and flagged within the Police database as a ‘CSE victim’.  This leaves 15 of 

them without a CSE warning on the Northamptonshire Police database when clearly there is potential for 

CSE vulnerability. 

 

Type of sexual offence victimisation, mental health and sexual health issues, for the most frequently missing 

U18 persons in Northamptonshire 

 

Drugs and Alcohol Use 

Also prevalent among these 34 frequently missing U18 persons was the use of alcohol and drugs.  23 of the 

34 have references within either the COMPACT database or within Police databases to drugs or alcohol.  As 

                                                           
25 www.nspcc.org.uk  

Recommendation:  A new warning flag within the Northamptonshire Police database should be 

created called ‘Missing/CSE Vulnerable’.  All of the under 18s that go missing more than 3 times within 

a 6 month period should be flagged with this warning marker. 

71

http://www.nspcc.org.uk/


 

P a g e  59 | 82 

 

the average age of these 34 frequent missing persons is 16, there are inevitable concerns about this 

substance misuse.  It also raises concerns for sexual exploitation.  Are the drugs/ alcohol being given to these 

children and young people as a means of exploitation or control? Even if this is not the case, their vulnerability 

is increased while under the influence of drugs and alcohol. Indeed, some of the return interview answers 

indicate that wanting to consume alcohol was a reason for going missing. 

However, when referencing crime records against drug treatment data, very few children and young people 

appear to be in receipt of substance misuse treatment.  

 

Usual place of residence for missing U18s’ 

 

 

Recovery Locations – Where Missing U18s are found 

The analysis of the most frequently missing U18s shows that at least five of them travelled outside of 

Northamptonshire, increasing the risk factor for those individuals.  The 308 missing reports for the 34 most 

frequently missing children and young people shows that on 26 occasions they were recovered outside of 

the county borders.  They were located in the West Midlands, Cambridgeshire, Leicestershire, Warwickshire, 

Nottinghamshire, Oxfordshire and Yorkshire.  Travelling long distances increases the risk because they are 

likely to be missing for a longer period, they are further away from friends and family, and more likely to have 

contact with strangers. 

Most U18 missing persons within this group of 34 were found locally within the same town as where they 

went missing from.  Many returned to their home addresses before they could be found.  At least eight of 

the 34 travelled outside of their hometown to another town within Northamptonshire. 

All missing persons are offered a return interview which is conducted by Engagement Workers within the 

RISE Initial Response Team. From these interviews, it is hoped that agencies can learn about the particular 

circumstances regarding that individual so that they can be better protected and increase the chances of 

being found if another instance of going missing occurs.  It should also be possible to gain more general 

learning about missing persons as a collective group by combining the data from all the missing U18s.  This 

would allow a more proactive and preventative strategy to be developed over time.  

However, not all returning missing persons are willing to cooperate with an interview either fully or partially. 

In fact, return interviews were declined 108 times out of a possible 308 interviews.  A further 102 only gave 

Recommendation: To provide a factsheet with advice on alcohol/ drugs and helpline contacts to all U18 
missing persons. 

 

Previous studies of U18 missing persons have 
shown that children and young people in Local 
Authority care are the most vulnerable.  In 
Northamptonshire they do represent the highest 
proportion of those that go missing most 
frequently. 
 
But it is not exclusively children in Local Authority 
care that go missing; children in foster care and 
those from within a family home together 
account for nearly 50% of this group of 34.  

72



 

P a g e  60 | 82 

 

a partial interview. Therefore only 32% gave full interviews26.  These declined and partial interviews represent 

missed opportunities.  

For this report, the 34 frequently missing U18s were analysed for commonality in recovery locations: 

shopping centres, bus stations, train stations, libraries, McDonalds, bars and fast food outlets.  As identified 

earlier in this report these are recognised high-risk location types that perpetrators of CSE are known to 

target.  Also several stated that they used taxis.  This has been an indicator in other Force areas that there is 

an active CSE network in operation. 

    

  

 

 

One of the questions asked to U18 missing persons in their return interviews was their reason for going 

missing.  A summary of their replies is shown below and divided into three main groups: 

 

 

It isn’t clear whether any help is offered to individuals or whether any tactics are employed to address these 

very personal issues.  Clearly, all the reasons given are issues that many young people will have experienced. 

However, most find a coping mechanism without putting themselves at risk by going missing.  These most 

frequently missing persons may not have had an outlet for their anxieties and felt ‘getting away’ was their 

only choice. As discussed earlier, many have mental health issues which will inevitably increase their 

                                                           
26 Information obtained from Northamptonshire Police Missing Person Compact Database (COMPACT) 

Recommendation: Standardise taxi drivers training across the county via the Community Safety 

Partnerships (CSP)  

Recommendation: Introduce CSE training for Licensing Officers, Environmental Officer and Park 

Rangers 

Recommendation: Regular analysis of recovery locations should be conducted for U18 missing persons 
as a whole, to identify commonality and locations of greater risk to vulnerable children and young 
people in Northamptonshire.  

 

Recommendation: A CSE ANPR hot-list should be created with suspect vehicles. Intelligence on vehicles 
should be sourced from all agencies.  This would be a proactive response to missing persons that may 
have been targeted by CSE perpetrators. 

73



 

P a g e  61 | 82 

 

anxieties. Once a young person goes missing for the first time there is an opportunity for safeguarding 

agencies to intervene and provide tailored support. The return interview is an essential element in this as 

demonstrated by the example below. 

 

An Example of Best Practice 

In Northumberland, similar issues to these have been identified. A project called SCARPA was launched 

(Safeguarding Children at Risk – Prevention and Action). The project was awarded £700,000 from the 

National Lottery. Their aim was to help under 18 year olds escape and avoid sexual exploitation and stop 

going missing. What they do differently to most areas is to do risk assessments based on the return interviews 

using a tool they developed called Hart (Holistic Assessment Referral Tool). Using this tool, missing children 

and young people are risk assessed and rated into three groups: green, amber and red.  

Green – for those that have gone missing once or twice: They receive 2-4 “Safe Choice” sessions.  They learn 

how to identify abuse and build the self-esteem needed to exit risk situations. 

Amber – around 40% of clients: Receive longer term one-to-one support on top of the sessions received at 

the green stage. 

Red – around 30% of clients: These require around 12 months of intensive one-to-one support to tackle the 

complex issues involved.  This would include working with the families of the missing persons. 

In a one year period (April 2014–Mar 2015) out of 304 participants, 84% saw a positive change and 81% 

stopped or reduced their missing periods.  

This initiative has been advocated by The Children’s Society. The web-link is available here: 

http://www.cypnow.co.uk/cyp/good-practice/1156610/how-a-project-stops-young-people-going-missing.  

 

7.1   Referrals to Children’s Social Services for Missing Children & Young People 

The Children in Need Census (2009) provides the definition of ‘Missing’ as “Children and young people up to 

the age of 18 who run away from their home or care placement, have been forced to leave, or whose 

whereabouts is unknown”27. 

Research indicates that children in care are particularly at risk of going missing and are three times more 

likely to run away, and young people with drugs and alcohol problems are at least four times as likely to run 

away as those without. Missing children and young people are at risk of real harm when missing including 

from physical and sexual assault.  Frequently going missing is increasingly being recognised as a key indicator 

that a child may be the victim of CSE.  Other concerns include the risk that young people who have run away 

                                                           
27 Department of Education, (Nov 2015) Children in Need Census: Additional guide on the factors identified at the end of 
assessment Page 31. 

Recommendation: To regularly review return interviews as a whole to identify where strategic 

learning can be gained.  

Recommendation: To consider the benefits of replicating the Northumberland example of best practice 
in risk assessing and actioning return interviews for U18 missing persons. 

 

74

http://www.cypnow.co.uk/cyp/good-practice/1156610/how-a-project-stops-young-people-going-missing
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/474699/AdditionalGuideOnFactorsAtAssessment.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/474699/AdditionalGuideOnFactorsAtAssessment.pdf


 

P a g e  62 | 82 

 

could become involved in criminality and homelessness and may suffer mental health problems28. It is also 

of concern that nearly half of all sentenced prisoners reported having run away as a child and nearly half of 

homeless young people at Centrepoint29 ran away as a child.  

The Northamptonshire Multi-Agency Protocol on Children Who Go Missing From Home or Care30 (Oct 2015) 

was jointly developed by Northamptonshire Children’s Social Care and Northamptonshire Police Services in 

accordance with national guidance.  All practitioners working with children and young people should read 

and be aware of this protocol.  It is designed to assist practitioners in developing their understanding of and 

abilities when faced with a child or young person who is missing from home or care.  It lays out the guidance 

for professionals and parents on how to respond when a child is absent or missing.  

7.2   All Missing Children, Initial Contacts Demographics 

During 2015/16, 896 IC were received with a label of ‘Missing’; this related to 585 children, 130 of whom had 

more than one IC regarding Missing during 2015/16.  

The gender split for Missing ICs during 2015/16 is 52.6% male to 47.4% female, meaning more missing ICs for 

males were received that year; this could indicate that overall more males went missing than females or that 

males went missing more frequently. 

The distribution of IC by age and gender shows that though there are missing children of both genders in the 

early years age group, there is a general increase in the number of missing episodes for males starting at 8 

years old and increasing to the highest point at 15 years old (23.8% of all male missing IC) before beginning 

to decline.  For females, the increase in the number of missing ICs recorded begins to rise at age 11 years 

with a large increase between the ages of 13 years (10.7% of all female missing IC) and 14 (24.3% of all female 

missing IC) before beginning a slow decline for those aged 15 (21.7%) and 16 (19%) years old before dropping 

at 17 (6.7%) and again at 18 years (0.2%).  

 

                                                           
28 Department of Education, (Nov 2015) Children in Need Census: Additional guide on the factors identified at the end of 
assessment Page 31. 
29 http://centrepoint.org.uk/ Centrepoint provides a safe place to live for more than 7,800 young people, aged 16-25, every 
year in London and the north east of England 
30 Northamptonshire Safeguarding Children Board, (2015) Multi-Agency Protocol on Children Who Go Missing From Home or 
Care 75

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/474699/AdditionalGuideOnFactorsAtAssessment.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/474699/AdditionalGuideOnFactorsAtAssessment.pdf
http://centrepoint.org.uk/
http://www.northamptonshirescb.org.uk/policies/missing-children-protocol/
http://www.northamptonshirescb.org.uk/policies/missing-children-protocol/


 

P a g e  63 | 82 

 

For the 896 ICs for missing, 84.4% have recorded ethnicities, meaning that 15.6% had no record of ethnicity.  

This is the second largest group behind Any White British background (68.9%) which is greatly under-

represented against the population of Northamptonshire.  Any over or under-representation of ethnic groups 

presented in the ICs during 2015/16 could be attributed to the lack of recording.  Therefore it is not possible 

to make any robust assertions around the impact of ethnicity.  

Ethnicity Groups Missing IC 

Any Asian background 1.3% 

Any Black background 6.0% 

Any mixed background 7.5% 

Any other ethnic group 0.7% 

Any White Background 68.9% 

Information not obtained 15.6% 

Grand Total 100.00% 

 

As with CSE, missing ICs can be received from a range of organisations and individuals, however, 96% (860) 

of all the missing ICs are received from the Police, the remainder are received from Education (0.9%) and 

3.1% ‘Other’31. 

ICs for Missing were received throughout the year, below shows the monthly fluctuation. There is no evident 

pattern to the distribution over the year.  

 

The distribution by locality of the child’s recorded home postcode for Missing ICs is shown below. The highest 

proportion of Missing ICs were for children living in Northampton (32.7%), as with CSE, this is marginally 

higher than the 30.8% of the overall Northamptonshire population that Northampton was estimated at for 

201532. Corby is the only other locality that shows an over representation of Missing ICs (11.7%) compared 

to the 2015 population estimate for the area. All other areas show an under-representation though it is most 

prominent in South Northamptonshire, just 6.4% of Missing ICs are received from South Northamptonshire 

though in 2015 the population estimates was for 12.3% of the Northamptonshire population.  

                                                           
31 Includes Family Members, Other LA Services and Third Parties. 
32 http://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1946157159/report.aspx?town=northampton  76

http://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1946157159/report.aspx?town=northampton


 

P a g e  64 | 82 

 

 

The Missing ICs received during 2015/16 by the IMD of the home postcode recorded for the child in 

Northamptonshire have been analysed to present distribution across the localities. This clearly shows that 

those children that go missing are more likely to be from deprived areas than more affluent areas. The most 

deprived deciles 1st (12.9%), 2nd (15.9) and 3rd (18.5%) represent 47.2% of all the Missing ICs. After the climb 

of the first 3 deciles the level drops to the lowest point for the 4th decile (just 38 or 4.7%), this then begins to 

increase in number till the 9th decile (81 or 9.9%) before dropping again to the 10th decile (42 or 5.1%).  

 

The outcomes of Missing ICs are presented belowError! Reference source not found., this shows that the 

largest group (85.1%) are ‘Missing Child Notification –NFA’; this along with ‘IC; Notification Only  - NFA’ (5.7%) 

and ‘IC; Information Given  - NFA’ (2.1%0 mean that more than 90% of the IC had an outcome of No Further 

Action (NFA).  

77



 

P a g e  65 | 82 

 

 

 

7.3   Frequently Missing 

During 2015/16, 896 IC were received with a label of ‘Missing’; this related to 585 children, 130 of whom had 

more than one IC regarding Missing during 2015/16.  

In line with the Police definition of frequently Missing this section of the analysis will focus on those children 

that have been recorded as missing 6 or more times. 13 children have been reported missing a total of 140 

times ranging from 6 times to 31 missing episodes during 2015/16. 99% of the Missing ICs for this group were 

received from the Police, with the remaining 1% from ‘other’ organisations.  

The age profile for the frequently missing group is confined to the age range of 12-16 years. The gender 

profile of the frequently missing group is 70% male to 30% female, this is an even higher proportion of males 

than is seen when looking at the Missing ICs group as a whole. This suggests that males are more likely to go 

missing frequently than females.  

The frequently missing group displays a range of ethnic groups but 17.9% had no recorded ethnicity and this 

could account for under or over representation of those groups recorded. Due to this lack of data, we are 

unable to make judgements based on the ethnicity of the group.  

Ethnicity Groups Frequently Missing IC 

Any Asian background 1.8% 

Any Black background 2.4% 

Any mixed background 6.5% 

Any other ethnic group 0.5% 

Any White Background 71.0% 

Information not obtained 17.9% 

Grand Total 100% 
 

The outcomes for the frequently missing ICs group resulted in a ‘Missing Child Notification with no further 

action’ 98%, 1 IC was sign posted to early help and 2 (1.3%) were ‘Referred; Further Assessment Required’ 

for two separate individuals.  

78



 

P a g e  66 | 82 

 

7.4   Both CSE and Missing 

 

During 2015/16, 121 ICs were received for 35 children for both CSE and missing. 29 children or 83% of this 

group is female and the general age range is 11 to 16 years old with a sharp increase in the number of girls 

aged 14, 15 and 16 years old. For males, there is also an increase at age 15 though due to the smaller number 

this is less pronounced.  

As with all other ICs group analysis, due to the high number of ICs that have no recorded ethnicity we are 

unable to determine any significant trend based on ethnicity. 

Ethnicity Groups Both CSE & Missing ICs 

Any Asian background 2.5% 

Any mixed background 5.7% 

Any White Background 86.9% 

Information not obtained 4.9% 

Grand Total 100.00% 

 

All ICs for those children with both CSE and Missing ICs during 2015/16 were received from just three groups, 

Police, Education and Other. The majority of the ICs come from the police, this could be accounted for by 

many of the notifications being ‘Child Missing notifications’ and for some of the children to receive these 

multiple times.   

Source of IC Count % 

Education 8 6.61% 

Other 10 8.26% 

Police 103 85.12% 

Grand Total 121 100.00% 

79



 

P a g e  67 | 82 

 

 

 

The distribution by month of ICs for Children with both CSE and Missing is shown in the graph above. Both 

December 2015 and February 2016 show increased numbers of ICs (14% and 14.9% of the year respectively), 

the increase in number could be attributed to pressures of the holiday season or half-term. Primarily due to 

the December and February spikes there has been a general upward trend in the number of ICs for Children 

with both CSE and Missing ICs.   

Locality 

Count of CSE 

and Missing 

% of CSE and 

Missing 

Total Northamptonshire 

population 2015 Mid-

year estimate33 

% of Northamptonshire 

2015 Mid-year 

population estimate  

Corby 6 17.1% 66,900 9.3% 

Daventry 1 2.9% 80,000 11.1% 

East Northants 1 2.9% 89,700 12.4% 

Kettering 6 17.1% 97,700 13.5% 

Northampton 13 37.1% 222,500 30.8% 

South Northants 3 8.6% 89,100 12.3% 

Wellingborough 5 14.3% 77,200 10.7% 

Grand Total 35 100.00% 723,100 100% 

 

The table above shows the distribution of children with both CSE and Missing by the recorded postcode for 

the children’s residents, this shows that compared to the general population by locality Corby (17.1%), 

Kettering (17.1%), Northampton (37.1%) and Wellingborough (14.3%) are all over represented. In 

comparison, Daventry (2.9%) and East Northants (2.9%) are both significantly under represented.  

                                                           
33 http://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1946157159/report.aspx?town=northampton 80

http://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1946157159/report.aspx?town=northampton


 

P a g e  68 | 82 

 

 

The chart shows the ICs for Children with CSE and Missing received during 2015/16 by the IMD of the home 

postcode recorded for the child in Northamptonshire. This clearly shows that those children affected are 

more likely to be from deprived areas than more affluent areas. The more deprived deciles 2nd (28.9%) and 

3rd (24%) represent 52.9% of all the CSE and Missing ICs. The 7th decile (15.7%) shows the third highest levels 

of CSE and Missing ICs; the remaining deciles all show some ICs but are at lower levels.  

 

The outcomes of ICs for children with both CSE and Missing ICs are presented in the above table. The largest 

outcome group is ‘Missing Child Notification –NFA’ (54.5%); this along with ‘IC; Notification Only - NFA’ (9.9%) 

and ‘IC; Information Given - NFA’ (3.3%) mean that 67.8% of the IC had an outcome of No Further Action 

(NFA). While this is not unexpected as Missing Notifications were high for all missing ICs, for a group that are 

considered to have an additional risk, less than a third were sent for further assessment (28.9%).   

7.5   Initial Assessment by NCC with flagged as risk of Missing 

Once an initial contact to MASH has been received and a decision for further assessment has been made the 

case is referred to the Assessment Team. At the beginning of 2015/16 the assessment completed by 

Safeguarding and Children’s services was the Initial Assessment (IA) followed by a core assessment if more 

in-depth information was needed. However, from mid-January 2016, the Initial Assessments was replaced by 

the Single Assessment (SA). For the purpose of this report all assessments completed during 2015/16 will be 

referred to as Initial Assessment (IA).  
81



 

P a g e  69 | 82 

 

The Department of Education has produced a guideline for assessments entitled ‘Children in Need Census: 

Additional guide on the factors identified at the end of assessment’34. This document includes definitions of 

risk factors and why it is important that the risk is identified and recorded. The assessment should take into 

consideration three areas:  

 The child’s development needs 

 The parents’ or caregivers’ capacities to respond appropriately 

 The wider family and environmental factors. 

The list of risk factors included is not exhaustive of all risks that a child may face but should cover key factors 

that should be evident during assessments and could be used to facilitate services planning.  

An IA is completed on each individual child within a family, and while there will be overarching concerns that 

affect all children within the family, the IA for each child should be tailored to each child and include any 

additional risk factors that may be specific to an individual child within the family. In Northamptonshire 

during 2015/16, a total of 534 Initial Assessments (IAs) were completed that indicated a risk or known 

concerns around either CSE or Missing for a total of 497 children being assessed. Some assessments showed 

concerns of both CSE and Missing, these will be discussed in both sections and therefore some will be double 

counted for outcomes or risk factors. 

The outcomes of all the IAs completed during 2015/16 that identified a risk of either CSE or Missing are 

presented in the table below. This shows that for both CSE and Missing, ‘Proceed to Core Assessment’ is the 

outcome in nearly half of all assessments (32.1% and 45% respectively). After this, for CSE an assessment 

results in ‘Close Case - NFA’ 16.7% (65) ‘Proceed to S47 and Core Assessment’ 15.9% (or 62), and ‘Service 

Agreed - Ongoing Involvement’ 14.4% (56). For those with the risk of ‘Missing’, ‘Close Case - NFA’ 12.6% (33), 

‘Step down to Targeted Prevention’ 11.1% (29) and ‘Service Agreed - Ongoing Involvement’ 9.5% (25) are the 

next most common outcomes.  

Outcome Missing CSE 

Case Closure – NFA 33 65 

Case Closure - Step Down to Tier 3 Services 10 17 

Case Closure - Step Down to Universal Services 1 4 

Terminate, Change in Circumstances 2 3 

Step down to Targeted Prevention 29 12 

Service Agreed 10 33 

Service Agreed - Ongoing Involvement 25 56 

CIN Plan required 12 12 

Complete Private Fostering Status 1 0 

Proceed to Core Assessment 118 125 

Proceed to S47 and Core Assessment 21 62 

Grand Total 262 389 

262 IAs included Missing as a risk fact, below is a list of risk factors that were also identified for those at risk 

of missing, these have then been ordered with those identified most frequently at the top: 

 123 exhibited socially unacceptable behaviour 

 117 were at risk of CSE 

 In 101 cases there were concerns of Emotional Abuse  

 101 children were listed as at risk of drug abuse 

                                                           
34 Department of Education, (Nov 2015) Children in Need Census: Additional guide on the factors identified at the end of 
assessment Page 5.  82

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/474699/AdditionalGuideOnFactorsAtAssessment.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/474699/AdditionalGuideOnFactorsAtAssessment.pdf


 

P a g e  70 | 82 

 

 98 children were listed with Mental Health concerns 

 95 children showed signs of self-harm 

 In 80 cases there were concerns of neglect  

 76 children were at risk of Domestic Violence 

 71 listed Alcohol concerns for the Child  

 65 children were at risk of Physical Abuse 

 In 52 cases there was risk of Sexual Abuse  

 49 were at risk of gang involvement 

 49 child were listed as having no risk factors identified during IA35 

 47 children were at risk of exposure to parent or carer Domestic Violent relationship  

 42 children had parents or carers with mental health concerns  

 40 were at risk of ‘other’ unlisted factors 

 32 children had learning disabilities 

 28 children with parents or carers with physical disabilities 

 16 listed Alcohol concerns for parents or carers 

 13 children were at risk of exposure to parent or carers drug use  

 12 at risk of trafficking 

 10 were Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children  

 5 children with parents or carers with learning disabilities 

 5 children had physical disabilities 

 5 were listed as Young Carers 

 3 were privately fostered. 

 

In the below graph each bar represents all 262 children who had an IA during 2015/16 and were identified 

as being at risk of Missing, with the blue section of the bar showing the proportion at risk of the factor listed 

below that bar. As with the RISE and CSE graphs, it is evident from this that no risk factor was identified for 

more than half of the missing cohort, with some of the risk factors being identified as  concerns for as few as 

3 individuals. Of a possible 27 risk factors that could be identified during assessment, including missing, all 

27 risks were identified for at least one young person. This shows that the risks faced by young people that 

go missing in Northamptonshire are varied but are being recognised by Children’s Social Care during 

assessment. 

                                                           
35 Please see section below on ‘No Risk Factors’ 83



 

P a g e  71 | 82 

 

 

 

As has been shown, going missing is rarely 

an isolated risk factor that a child 

presents, and there are a large number of 

risk factors associated with going Missing. 

By using a Venn diagram with the three 

risk factors most commonly found for 

those that go missing, it highlights the 

overlap of some of the concerns. The Venn 

diagram shows the 3 risk factors most 

frequently identified for those at risk of 

Missing. A total of 262 (78%) children at 

risk of Missing at IA were also considered 

to be at risk of one or more of the 

following, Sexual Exploitation, Drug Use or 

Socially unacceptable behaviour, 25 of 

these children were considered to be at 

risk of all.  

No Risk Factors 

One of the selected outcomes of the assessment is ‘No Risk Factors’.  In the publication ‘Children in Need 

Census: Additional guide on the factors identified at the end of assessment’ it is suggested that this option 

84



 

P a g e  72 | 82 

 

would be an unlikely result of an assessment and would only be used “in cases which were closed following 

assessment where it was determined the child was not in need”36.  

A total of 118 assessments were completed during 2015/16 that identified CSE or Missing as a risk while also 

identifying ‘no risk factors’. Of these cases, 58 cases (49.2%) or almost half of all marked as ‘no factors 

identified’ had outcomes37 that required further involvement from Children’s Social Care services; a further 

15 cases (12.7%) were directed to Targeted Prevention or step-down services for the risks identified.  

These cases show that when recording assessments the use of ‘no risk factors’ is not in line with stated 

guidelines, so it could account for different scenarios.  

 

8. Victim Profile 

In order that a current up-to-date picture of CSE victimisation could be analysed only the 125 recorded 

offences of CSE in the last year (01/04/2015 - 31/03/2016) were looked at.  This is because 45 of the 170 

recorded CSE offences in this period actually took place more than two years before this. 

 

 

Girls and young women, in general, report more sexual offence than boys and young men.  Nationally, the 

problem of under-reporting in males has been discussed.  It is important that potential opportunities are not 

missed because of any ingrained cultural perceptions around victims of CSE.  Boys and young men can be 

perceived as at lesser risk in the same situations than girls and young women, for example when a boy or 

young man is late home or if they associate with older peers or is in an inappropriate relationship. This is a 

common perception in the general public and may also exist among some professionals. 

 

The reported crimes over the past year show that a key age group is the 13-15 year old group.  Clearly, 

children and young people of all ages are at risk from exploitation but teenagers are most likely to have 

inappropriate relationships with young adults. 

                                                           
36 Department of Education, (Nov 2015) Children in Need Census: Additional guide on the factors identified at the end of 
assessment Page 5   
37 Including: ‘CIN Plan required’, ‘Proceed to Core Assessment’, ‘Proceed to S47 and Core Assessment’ and ‘Service Agreed - 
Ongoing Involvement’  

Recommendation: To review the way in which partnership agencies provide support to U18 missing 
persons to ensure that this is adequate and includes addressing the reasons why they go missing. 

 

Recommendation: Conduct a publicity campaign to increase the awareness of CSE among boys and 
young men for both the general public and professionals working with U18s. 

 

9
1

%
 

9
%

%
%

 

 

0-9

5%

10-12

33%

13-15

53%

16-17

10%

Age Groups 

85

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/474699/AdditionalGuideOnFactorsAtAssessment.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/474699/AdditionalGuideOnFactorsAtAssessment.pdf


 

P a g e  73 | 82 

 

An area of CSE that has not been fully understood at both a local and national level is the lesbian, gay, bi-

sexual and transgender group.  Barnardo’s have conducted some research and have highlighted concerns 

that boys in particular do not talk to their peers about sexual identity issues.  Instead, they go to online 

chatrooms where they can be targeted by adults who seek confused and vulnerable boys.  This can lead to 

exchanges of indecent images, inappropriately sexualised conversations and may lead to physical contact.  

On its own, this is child abuse but this may also lead to exploitation. 

 

CSE Victims Committing Crime 

Another aspect to a CSE victims profile is whether it can be a determining factor which could lead a victim to 

go on to commit crimes themselves.  The trauma that results from a sexual offence being committed on a 

young person may lead to them taking drugs, shoplifting or committing other offence types.  Previous 

research38 in Northamptonshire has been conducted to show that approximately 30% of victims do go on to 

commit crime. 

But for the Police in particular, awareness of this possibility is important.  For example, if a young female is 

caught shoplifting sex-related items e.g. a pregnancy test, would officers consider this female solely as an 

offender?  They should also consider the possibility that this is a risk indicator for CSE.  There are few 

opportunities for the Police to be proactive in this regard such that evidence of CSE is sought before it is 

reported.  This is an opportunity to gather intelligence and learn more about the person in question and 

possibly identify a CSE perpetrator(s). 

A survey of Northamptonshire Custody Sergeants was conducted in June 2016 by a Northamptonshire Police 

Analyst. Custody Sergeants were chosen for this survey due to their unique position of responsibility within 

the police force; all individuals must be presented to the custody sergeant upon arrest who then “shall 

determine whether he has before him sufficient evidence to charge that person with the offence for which 

he was arrested and may detain him at the police station for such period as is necessary to enable him to do 

so”39. This means that Custody Sergeants come into contact with and consider all those that are brought into 

the custody suite and would be presented with a wide range of concerns for those that are entered into their 

care.  

A scenario was presented to the Custody Sergeants to see whether they would have given consideration to 

the potential of CSE taking place. The scenario they were presented with was: 

- A female aged 15 is brought into custody having been arrested for shoplifting and is in 

possession of a stolen pregnancy test kit. What happens next? 

They were also asked whether they had been given specific training for that role in particular. The tables on 

the following two pages shows a selection of responses. 

At the time of writing this report, there were 26 Custody Sergeants, of which just one was female.  The one 

female sergeant is one of the six respondents to this survey.  It may be coincidence but the answers from the 

female sergeant did show more awareness of the issues and more empathy with the victim in the scenario.  

  

                                                           
38 Northamptonshire Police, ‘Operation Haymaker 3: Repeat Missing Persons (Sep 2014) - Mark Healey 
39 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1984/60/section/37  

Recommendation: Particular attention needs to be given to the issues with the reporting of gay, lesbian 
and transsexual CSE offences.  Victims may not be reporting because of fear of shame. 

 

86

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1984/60/section/37


 

P a g e  74 | 82 

 

Summary of Responses from Custody Sgts 

1. Would you consider that this female could be a victim of CSE? 

 Not based on this info/ scenario without more info coming to light from either FIS or themselves. 

 Potentially yes. Other factors would have to be considered when answering this question, such as why she has stolen it, 

recent intelligence, family concerns etc. 

 I would complete a medical form and get her seen in Custody to discuss this and get any relevant support. 

 Probably not if I’m honest.  I would maybe if there was some surrounding circumstance. 

 Yes, but unless there was supporting intel on Niche/ PNC then enquiries around this would hopefully come about during 

the crime investigation/ interview.  If markers/ intel did exist then I’d direct the officers to deal with those matters. 

 Immediate risk/ custody welfare - Is the detainee pregnant or suspected to be pregnant? 

2. Would this female be questioned about her sexual health/ partner/ welfare? 

 No – standard risk assessment questions. 

 Standard risk assessment would cover physical and mental health.  We would not probe sexual health or relationship 

status as a matter of course.  We may well have conversations with parent/ guardian regarding the female and her recent 

behaviour, issues of concerns etc. 

 As a female I would probably have a chat with her about it. 

 No. 

 Welfare yes, sexual health comes with that, partner would be more of an investigators line of enquiry. 

 I would not dig too deep into these areas, as this would potentially disclose further offences which I need to be kept out 

of the evidential chain, but I would certainly ensure that the OIC gave due consideration to these areas with respect to 

safeguarding follow up. 

3. Would this female have an opportunity to receive support from partner agencies? 

 No unless she requested specific info. 

 Standard detainee release leaflet contains numbers for useful agencies.  If she was bailed to see the Youth Offending 

Service then this could help channel support.  Police Doctor can signpost also but this would require the detainee seeing 

them in the first place. 

 I would expect the arresting officer to complete any referral paperwork. 

 Maybe. 

 Yes if required, more an investigators role, but if mental health was an issue then it would be covered in here. 

 If the detainee appears sexually active, my expectation would be that the officer’s flag this appropriately on NICHE, using 

the PPN recording system.  I would probably check to ensure that this has been or will be done with the OIC prior to the 

detainee’s release.  I must confess however, that my concerns would be based around potential child at risk issues from a 

risky adult rather than CSE.  

4. Are these considerations more appropriate for the arresting or interviewing officers? 

 Interviewing officers probably, I don’t think anyone would consider this without further intel. 

 I will not discount the role Custody Sergeants play in recognising the signs of CSE, but in my opinion the interviewing 

officer/ OIC will be more appropriate as they will be interviewing and seeking to clarify why certain offences are 

occurring.  We have enough issues to manage as it is in custody where the burden of responsibility and accountability sits 

with us without taking extra on.  I do not want this to become another responsibility thrust upon us where in reality it will 

be so that accountability can be directed towards ourselves if and when things go wrong. 

 I expect the arresting officer to complete any referral paperwork as they did when I was on LRO. 

 Both. 

 The detainee would be provided with the standard release information which gives help numbers and contact numbers 

of support agencies; although I do not believe that any of these specifically involve/ tackle CSE. 

5. Do Custody Sergeants receive training on Indicators of CSE? 

 NCALT. 

 No specific custody targeted training.  I vaguely recall an NCALT package. 

 I don’t recall being given any training for indicators of CSE particularly for Custody but I have in force previously. 

 Don’t know. 

 I’ve had CSE training as a front line officer. 

 I certainly haven’t had any specific training in the area of CSE, but I do not know whether this area is covered in the new 

custody courses as it’s been a bit of a while since I did mine. 

87



 

P a g e  75 | 82 

 

Analysis of the responses: 

Scenario: A female aged 15 is brought into custody having been arrested for shoplifting and is in 

possession of a stolen pregnancy test kit. What happens next? 

Respondents: 6 Custody Units Sergeants 

STRENGTHS WEAKNESSES 

 Custody Sergeants are aware of CSE indicators. 

 Sergeants do speak to parents/ guardians about 

welfare issues. 

 Sgts are particularly aware of mental health issues. 

 Some awareness of immediate safeguarding issues. 

 

 

 

 No specific training is given to Custody Sergeants on 

CSE issues they may encounter with prisoners. 

 Unless there is an existing warning marker on Niche, 

Custody Sergeants may not raise CSE vulnerability to 

the interviewing officer. 

 Some Sergeants said they would not have asked 

about welfare issues. 

 Although safeguarding issues were expressed by some 

officers CSE was not a priority within this with the 

exception of one respondent. 

 There is a focus on not jeopardising the potential for 

gaining evidence rather than seeing the bigger 

picture. 

 The prisoner release leaflet providing contact 

numbers for further help does not mention CSE. 

OPPORTUNITIES THREATS 

 This is a chance to intervene at an early stage to 

gather intelligence or safeguard a child. This is one of 

the few opportunities for the police to be proactive 

with regard to CSE. 

 If the arrested person is uncooperative or reluctant 

to disclose they could be offered assistance from 

other agencies. 

 There are opportunities for the police to question 

young offenders about the underlying factors about 

why they are offending or behaving anti-socially. 

 With most responding officers expressing concerns 

about welfare there is an opportunity to ensure that 

CSE is part of that concern. 

 Missed warning signs and missed opportunities to 

safeguard victims of CSE. 

 Some Custody Sergeants state it is the interviewing 

officer’s responsibility to offer support from other 

agencies and some said it was both. 

 Released prisoners that are vulnerable to CSE may be 

more at risk on their release than when they were 

first arrested. 

 A lack of specific CSE training for Custody Sergeants is 

likely to lead to an inconsistent approach and 

response. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Recommendations as a Result of this Survey 
a) Custody Sergeants to receive tailored training on CSE which would include highlighting potential 

CSE risk indicators in arrested young people 
b) To review the number of female Custody Sergeants 
c) To revise the prisoner release leaflet to include contact numbers for CSE helplines 
d) To consider having a workshop for Custody Sergeants and partnership staff where they would 

act out a scenario involving a CSE element. 
 

88



 

P a g e  76 | 82 

 

Repeat Victimisation 

In the reporting period for this report, 167 victims were analysed to see whether they had been victims of 

crime previous to the reporting period for this report (01/04/2015 – 31/03/2016).  Six of the victims had been 

subject to a sexual offence within the same period.  Of these, four had been attacked by their original 

offender, and two had been the victim of an unrelated offence by a second offender. 

These 167 victims of CSE were also analysed for victimisation prior to this reporting period.  38 of the children 

or young people were repeat victims for another sexual offence.  The chart below shows the number of 

sexual offences they have been subjected to in total. As can be seen one CSE victim has been the victim of 

five sexual offences during her lifetime. 

Sexual Offences against CSE Victims 

 

These 167 CSE victims have also been subject to other crime types as the chart below shows. This 

demonstrates that these children and young people are vulnerable to violent crime in particular. 

Crimes Types Committed Against CSE Victims  

 

51 of the children and young people had also been victims of a violent crime.  

These figures demonstrate further the increased vulnerability of CSE victims.  25% of the CSE victims had 

been the victim of a previous sexual offence.  22% had been the victim of a violent crime. 

89



 

P a g e  77 | 82 

 

However, the large majority of the CSE victims in this period (107 or 64%) were a first time victim for any 

police recorded offence type.  This shows that some CSE victims cannot necessarily be predicted by looking 

at their victimisation history. Clearly this makes it more difficult to identify potential victims and highlights 

how important the other indicators, listed in Section 2.4, are in recognising when CSE could be occurring.  

 

9. Offender Profile 

It should be noted that this offender profile is based only on crimes recorded by Northamptonshire Police in 

2015-16.  Of the 170 CSE crimes recorded, only 14 have so far been recorded as detected.  CSE cases can take 

a long time to resolve and therefore more offences could be detected in the future.  Even so, the majority of 

the offences do not have a known offender.  The 14 detected offences have 13 offenders as one offender 

has been disposed as being responsible for two of the crimes.  The source of this offender profile is therefore 

based on just 13 persons. 

Analysis on just 13 offenders is clearly too small a number to make any definite conclusions.  Nevertheless, 

some basic analysis is included below.  In order to achieve a more meaningful analysis, based on a larger 

dataset, the analysis of suspected offenders has also been included, but shown separately below.  In total, 

there are 70 suspected offenders for the 170 crimes recorded in the reporting period for this report. 

Even when using this larger data set which includes suspects there are potential reasons for having skewed 

data.  Offences where there are older offenders can be more difficult to detect because these offenders are 

likely to be more aware of law enforcement methods, particularly offenders who commit CSE type offences. 

Older offenders may also be better at discouraging their victims from reporting crimes.  The greater age 

difference is likely to means that they will have more power over their victims, both psychologically and 

physically. 

Gender, Ethnicity and Age (Detected Offenders): 

13 offenders profiled 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Recommendation: When an under 18 child or young person becomes the victim of a violent crime or 

sexual offence, early intervention needs to take place to help prevent that person from becoming 

subject to a further sexual offence including CSE 

 

15-17

0%

18-21

21%

22-29

21%

30+

57%

Age Groups 

8
%

 

9
2

%
 

92% White European/  0% Black/  0% Asian/  8% Unknown 

 

90



 

P a g e  78 | 82 

 

Gender, Ethnicity and Age (Suspects Only): 

72 suspects profiled 

 

 

 

 

The national picture published in a report in 2013 by ACPO which was based on the findings from 41 Police 

Forces shows similar offender profile results.  In short, offenders that we know about in Northamptonshire 

are White males. There is not a strong representation in any of the age groups.  But this is different to the 

profile of other crime types which generally have a younger age profile than that shown here.  

Demographics – Nationality 

In recent years, Northamptonshire, like other areas in the country, has seen a high level of in-migration, from 

Eastern Europe in particular.  This has resulted in an increased diversity of culture within the population of 

Northamptonshire.  The implications of this diversity need to be considered in the context of sexual consent. 

Different cultures have different values and beliefs, some of which can vary from those in the UK.  It is 

important therefore that the issues surrounding consent are promoted into these different communities. 

The 14 offenders in this profile were all United Kingdom nationals which shows that the issues of consent 

can be difficult for all young persons in general to understand, no matter what their cultural background has 

been.  

Northamptonshire Police have recently been promoting material in an attempt to make consent easier to 

understand.  Through social media using Instagram, Facebook and Twitter, messages were posted daily for a 

week using the hashtag #NoConsentNoSex.  

Various picture messages were posted, for example, the one shown here using the headline “Walking 

someone home is not a crime. Rape is.”  There were also signposts to supporting agencies should anyone 

reading the messages need help.  These included the Northamptonshire Rape Crisis and the Sexual Assault 

Referral Centre (Serenity) and VOICE, the victim support charity. 

6
%

 

9
4

%
 

 

15-17

23%

18-21

16%

22-29

17%

30+

44%

Age Groups 

64% White European/  6% Black/  4% Asian/  26% Unknown 

91



 

P a g e  79 | 82 

 

Similarly, there are 

different perceptions 

about what is and is not 

an inappropriate 

relationship based on 

age differences.  Again, 

these are not always the 

same across different 

communities.  Young 

people and young adults 

are also likely to consider age differences in different ways. 

Some young adults may not have considered the emotional and physical impact of sexual contact on younger 

teenage partners, particularly those under 16.  Determining whether there is an equal relationship or 

whether it is exploitative can be difficult.  This is especially true if the age difference is not large, for example 

between a 19 year old and a 15 year old, which legally is therefore without consent.  For CSE to have occurred, 

there has to be an exploitative or unequal relationship.  However, CSE perpetrators who deliberately target 

younger people will take advantage of this confusion. 

The analysis of these known offender or suspect ages does show that many of the offenders are aged just 

above the age of their victims.  It is possible that these young adult offenders do not appreciate that they 

have committed a criminal act and that they could face prison and be registered as a sex offender.  This will 

be a life-changing event for them and if they had been fully aware of the consequences it may have influenced 

their actions 

 

 

 

 

Examples where the Police and partners have worked together to reduce risk within CSE: 

1. Rochdale – Police, local authority and partners working together to understand how and when 

licenses can be revoked for taxi drivers and fast food restaurants. 

2. Rotherham – Multi-partner scoring tools combined with professional judgement when risk 

assessing. 

 

  

Recommendation: The significant consequences of committing CSE offences need to be publicised in 
order that potential offenders realise the implications these offences will have on them. 

 

Recommendation: To conduct a Northamptonshire communities profile focusing on cultural beliefs 

with respect to relationships and sexual consent.  This should then be used to tailor social media 

messages on CSE with both an enforcement and preventative perspective 

Recommendation: To find partners outside of the usual Police, Health, Education and Social Services 
arena. For example within the night time economy, hospitality, leisure, and retail industries. 

 

92



 

P a g e  80 | 82 

 

10. Conclusion and Next Steps  

Northamptonshire has made large strides in the way in which children and young people are safeguarded 

against child sexual exploitation in the last two years. This report shows that all of the partnership agencies 

within RISE and MASH are working more closely together than when the last report was completed and 

therefore helping Northamptonshire to become a safer place.  

In order to take the next steps in a programme of continuous improvement to safeguard in the future, all of 

the agencies should aim to be more proactive in seeking out where CSE could be occurring rather than 

focusing on only what we know already. Crime prevention is about taking the earliest intervention 

opportunities and nowhere is this more important than in the prevention of child sexual exploitation and the 

identification and prosecution of the perpetrators of these crimes. 

So what are the next steps that should be taken in order to achieve a greater degree of proactivity? 

This report has identified that there are further opportunities for partnership collaboration particularly 

around progressing the use of Ecins. Pro-activity is the key theme in this report and the opportunities that 

being more pro-active present should not be lost. The way that intelligence is collected, analysed and 

interpreted across all the partners needs to be better used to achieve this. 

Partners should therefore take steps to work together more to find those methods which ensure that where 

there is knowledge, it is developed into such a way that action is taken at every possible opportunity. Equally 

where there are knowledge gaps these should be identified and awareness raised to support how these gaps 

will be filled. This report highlights several areas both in terms of geography and demographics where this 

should be achieved. 

A recommendation setting meeting should be arranged at the earliest opportunity. 

 

 

 

  

93



 

P a g e  81 | 82 

 

11. References and Useful Websites 

There are many reports on both missing persons and child sexual exploitation. Some of the most important 

reports can be accessed by the links listed below: 

Northamptonshire Safeguarding Children Board (2015), ‘Northamptonshire Multi-Agency Protocol on 

Children who Run Away or go Missing from Care (Local Arrangements) 
http://www.northamptonshirescb.org.uk/policies/missing-children-protocol/ 

Northamptonshire Safeguarding Children Board (2015), ‘Making Children Safer: Thresholds and Pathways’ 
http://www3.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/children-families-education/help-and-protection-for-children/protecting-

children-information-for-professionals/Documents/NCC114615_Thresholds%20and%20Pathways%20June%202014_AW3.pdf  

Missing Children (2013) - Ofsted 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/missing-children 

The Marie Collins Foundation 
http://www.mariecollinsfoundation.org.uk/ 

College of Policing – Responding to child sexual exploitation 
https://www.app.college.police.uk/app-content/major-investigation-and-public-protection/child-sexual-exploitation/ 

Barnardos 
http://www.barnardos.org.uk/what_we_do/our_work/sexual_exploitation.htm?gclid=CPHNrpaOqs0CFe4y0wodmsEANw 

The National Working Group for Sexually Exploited Children 
http://www.nwgnetwork.org/ 

The Children’s Society 
http://www.childrenssociety.org.uk/ 

Centrepoint 

http://centrepoint.org.uk/ 

Independent Inquiry into Child Sexual Exploitation in Rotherham 
http://www.rotherham.gov.uk/downloads/file/1407/independent_inquiry_cse_in_rotherham 

Independent Review of Child Sexual Exploitation – Rochdale Borough Council 
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/policies-strategies-and-reviews/reviews/Pages/independent-review-of-

cse.aspx 

Problems and Solutions from the Perspective of Young People – Cardiff University 
http://www.cardiff.ac.uk/cascade/files/2014/10/Briefing-3.pdf 

Dealing with Child Sexual Exploitation – HM Government 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/tackling-child-sexual-exploitation--2 

National Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Children – How Safe are our Children? 
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/services-and-resources/research-and-resources/2015/how-safe-are-our-children-2015/ 

Child Sexual Exploitation: Problem Profile – Devon and Cornwall Police (2015) 

(Available to Police) 

How to spot child sexual exploitation – NHS 
http://www.nhs.uk/Livewell/abuse/Pages/child-sexual-exploitation-signs.aspx 

 
94

http://www.northamptonshirescb.org.uk/policies/missing-children-protocol/
http://www3.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/children-families-education/help-and-protection-for-children/protecting-children-information-for-professionals/Documents/NCC114615_Thresholds%20and%20Pathways%20June%202014_AW3.pdf
http://www3.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/children-families-education/help-and-protection-for-children/protecting-children-information-for-professionals/Documents/NCC114615_Thresholds%20and%20Pathways%20June%202014_AW3.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/missing-children
http://www.mariecollinsfoundation.org.uk/
https://www.app.college.police.uk/app-content/major-investigation-and-public-protection/child-sexual-exploitation/
http://www.barnardos.org.uk/what_we_do/our_work/sexual_exploitation.htm?gclid=CPHNrpaOqs0CFe4y0wodmsEANw
http://www.nwgnetwork.org/
http://www.childrenssociety.org.uk/
http://centrepoint.org.uk/
http://www.rotherham.gov.uk/downloads/file/1407/independent_inquiry_cse_in_rotherham
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/policies-strategies-and-reviews/reviews/Pages/independent-review-of-cse.aspx
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/policies-strategies-and-reviews/reviews/Pages/independent-review-of-cse.aspx
http://www.cardiff.ac.uk/cascade/files/2014/10/Briefing-3.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/tackling-child-sexual-exploitation--2
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/services-and-resources/research-and-resources/2015/how-safe-are-our-children-2015/
http://www.nhs.uk/Livewell/abuse/Pages/child-sexual-exploitation-signs.aspx


 

P a g e  82 | 82 

 

Parents Against Child Sexual Exploitation 
http://paceuk.info/ 

Childline 
https://www.childline.org.uk/Pages/Home.aspx 

Researching Child Sexual Exploitation – Bedford University 
http://www.beds.ac.uk/ic 

It’s not okay – Lets stop child sexual exploitation now. 
http://www.itsnotokay.co.uk/what-is-it/real-stories/ 

 

12. Appendix A - Local Profiles 

 

As a multi-partner profile on CSE for Northamptonshire, this report cannot reflect the varying situations 

experienced across the County. Neither is it appropriate for this report to identify perpetrators or victims 

currently of concern. If local profiles for the seven Northamptonshire Districts were produced in partnership 

with each other, they would focus on the individual needs of each of these areas, whilst retaining countywide 

work practices. These profiles need to focus on the local nature of how grooming may be taking place rather 

than merely hot spotting CSE within that area. This would then identify the opportunities for CSE prevention 

within that area. The following is a list of subjects that the profiles would hopefully attempt to cover. 

 

For Each Area: 

Victims, Offenders, Suspects and Locations 

Who is vulnerable? 

Who are the victims? 

How can they be protected from harm? 

Who are the offenders and suspects? 

Where are the high risk locations? How can they be made safer? 

What are the contributory factors (drugs, alcohol, DV, health, online)? 

Opportunities for crime prevention 

 

Partnership Working 

How and who do victims report to? 

Could the existing reporting mechanisms be made simpler? 

How joined up are the different agencies? Do they share information? 

Which agencies contribute to safeguarding children? 

Do all agencies identify perpetrators? 

Is intervention taking place at the right time? 

What support is available to victims? 

What mechanisms are in place to report intelligence? 

 

 

95

http://paceuk.info/
https://www.childline.org.uk/Pages/Home.aspx
http://www.beds.ac.uk/ic
http://www.itsnotokay.co.uk/what-is-it/real-stories/


 
 

1 
 

 

NSCB RESPONSE TO NORTHAMPTONSHIRE BOROUGH COUNCIL SCRUTINY  
 

Core Questions on Child Sexual Exploitation 
 
 

1 Please provide 
details of the work 
currently being 
undertaken by your 
organisation to 
address child sexual 
exploitation (CSE) 
 

The NSCB has a CSE Sub Group with members from across 
partnership agencies. Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) and 
Missing Children is a Sub Group of the NSCB. The aim of 
the group is to: 
 

 Raise awareness 

 Identify areas of concern within the county 

 Develop an effective response to tackle perpetrators of 
CSE 

 Ensure that there is support for victims of CSE and their 
families 

 
The Sub Group sits on a monthly basis and has a 
progressive action plan that is reviewed at each meeting. 
The main priority areas over the next year include focus on 
the night time economy, work with schools and targeting 
harder to reach groups (LGBT, ethnic minority communities, 
young males and children with disabilities). 

 
Further examples of the work undertaken by the NSCB since 
2015 include: 
 

 A 'Tackling CSE Toolkit' was created to provide advice 

for all professionals on their responsibilities in relation to 

identifying CSE and what action should be taken if it is 

identified. The Toolkit and presentations from the 

Northants Tackling CSE Conference held on 22nd May 

2015 can be viewed on the website:   

http://www.northamptonshirescb.org.uk/police/toolkits-

professionals/  

 A high profile publicity campaign with the tagline “Say 
Something If You See Something” to highlight the signs 
of CSE, and encourage reporting was completed. 

 A multi-agency CSE and Missing performance data 
scorecard has been developed and is reviewed regularly 
by the group.  

 Protective Behaviours and CSE training programmes for 
schools have been developed and delivered to a 
number of schools in the county throughout the year. 

 

2 Is there a clear and In addition to the action plan, there is a CSE Strategy which 

96

Agenda Item 5b

http://www.northamptonshirescb.org.uk/police/toolkits-professionals/
http://www.northamptonshirescb.org.uk/police/toolkits-professionals/


 
 

2 
 

robust multi-Agency 
strategy for 
information sharing, 
preventing and 
managing CSE? 
 

is currently being updated and reviewed.   
 
 

3 What other multi-
Agency forums exist 
to facilitate joint 
working? 
 

There is a CSE and Missing Forum which sits on a monthly 
basis, the purpose of which is to review the cases of young 
people in the County who are considered to be most at risk 
of CSE and going missing. The Forum is made up of 
representatives from various agencies including Police, 
Children’s Services, YOS, Health and Education.  
 

4 What is the extent 
and profile of CSE 
in Northampton? 
How do we know 
this? 
 

A local Problem Profile for Northamptonshire has just been 
finalised and will be published shortly. 
 

5 How effective has 
NBC, its partners 
and the Police, 
been in engaging 
with the local 
community and 
other organisations 
in raising awareness 
of CSE? 
 

As part of its focus on the night time economy, the NSCB 
Sub Group has recently requested position statements from 
all Districts and Boroughs in the County to establish what 
progress has been made in relation to tackling CSE across 
the County. Once the position statements have been 
received, the intention will be for the NSCB to support the 
Districts and Boroughs in completing focused and targeted 
work within their respective areas in order to tackle CSE. 
This work will include engaging with the local community and 
awareness raising.  
 
Representation for the District and Borough Councils is 
provided by Nicola Riley, Shared Interim Community 
Partnerships and Recreation Manager for Cherwell and 
South Northants Council.  
 

6 How can awareness 
be raised further of 
CSE, human 
trafficking and 
domestic slavery of 
children in 
Northampton? 
 

NCC has a Policy Officer who has been tasked with 
developing policies and procedures in relation to child 
trafficking which will be available through the NSCB once 
finalised.  
 
A Modern Slavery Sub Group sits bi-monthly and the Policy 
Officer will ensure safeguarding of children is included, 
where relevant, in any work going forwards.  
 

  

97



 
 

3 
 

7 How is CSE 
incorporated into 
local training 
programmes, and 
who is able to 
access this 
training? 
 

Barnardo’s are commissioned to deliver face to face training 
on CSE across the County on behalf of the NSCB. 

 

In addition, an e-learning course, Safeguarding Children 
and Young People from Abuse by Sexual Exploitation, is 
available via the Safeguarding e-learning Academy.  
 
Training is provided free to all members of the children’s 
workforce in the County.  
 
The Reducing Incidents of Sexual Exploitation (RISE) unit is 
the dedicated multi agency team tackling Child Sexual 
Exploitation (CSE). It comprises staff from Safeguarding and 
Children’s Services, Police, CAN (a third sector drug, alcohol 
and homeless service) and Health. It is co-located at 
Mereway, Northamptonshire Police Force Headquarters.  
 
The RISE team regularly delivers training on CSE 
throughout the County. 
 

8 What support is 
available to current, 
potential and 
historic victims of 
CSE? 
 

Once a case has been opened to RISE, the young person is 
appointed an engagement worker who provides one to one 
work with them for as long as it is needed. 

 

Young people can also be signposted to Serenity which is a 
sexual assault referral centre in Northampton and Voice 
who support victims of crime. 
 

9 Do you have further 
information 
regarding the role 
of NBC in tackling 
CSE?    
 

Chapter 6 of the NSCB CSE Toolkit 6 specifically covers the 
role of District & Borough Councils and the hospitality 
industry.  
 
The NSCB is seeking to achieve a consistent approach 
across all the District and Boroughs in relation to tackling 
CSE.  
 
As stated above, a programme of support and resources will 
be rolled out shortly to all Districts and Boroughs with an 
initial focus on the night time economy. 
 
The NSCB would be happy to provide direct support to NBC 
in progressing its work in relation to tackling CSE.  
 

 

98



1 
 

                         
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

RISE CSE TEAM 

 

MONTHLY REPORT TO THE NSCB 

CSE and MISSING SUB GROUP 

 
SEPTEMBER 2016 

99



2 
 

RISE 
 
RISE is Northamptonshire’s dedicated multi agency team tackling Child Sexual Exploitation. It 

comprises staff from Police, Safeguarding and Children’s Services, CAN (3rd sector drug, alcohol 

and homeless service), and Health. 

 

 
Remit 
 
The following report details the work of CSE/RISE during the month of September 2016 with 

specific information in relation to the following: 

 

• Referrals received into RISE 
• Analysis of referrals received into RISE 

• Open Cases 

• Multi Agency engagement meetings 

• Statistics 

• Year to date Statistics  

• Missing children in Northamptonshire Statistics 

• Analysis of Missing Data with a Specific Focus on Looked After Children  

• Arrests/Interviews 

• Strategy Meetings and Achieving Best Evidence Interviews attended 

• Investigations of Note 

• Proactive Safeguarding Team 

• POLIT (On Line CSE Team)  

• Health 

• Bereavement and Emotional Support 

• CSE Awareness raising delivered by RISE Team 

• Comments and Recommendations 

  

 

 

Referrals received into RISE 

 

 

 
Total no. of Referrals received for September 2016 = 13 * 

 

 

Accepted 

 

Declined 

 

Cases pending 

allocation 

Current no. of Open Cases to 

RISE Team (includes any 

referrals pending allocation) 

 

4 

 

 

7 

 

0 

 

 

51 

 

* This figure includes 2 referrals received but the young people live out of county 

so not discussed at new referrals meeting.   

 

  

100



3 
 

Analysis of referrals received into RISE 

 

Date 

G 
e 

n 
d  

e 
r Age  Referrer 

Referrer  

Score 

Multi-

Agency 
Score * Outcome 

06.09.16 F 16 NCC Childrens Services, First Response 

Team 3 

43 35 Declined – Limited evidence 

of CSE. 

13.09.16 F 13 NCC Childrens Services, LAC South 29 29 Declined – Limited evidence 

of CSE. 

13.09.16 F 17 NCC Childrens Services, UASC Team 30 30 Declined – Limited evidence 
of CSE. 

13.09.16 F 13 NCC Childrens Services, First Response 
Team 3 

42 42 Accepted 

20.09.16 M 17 NCC Childrens Services, Disabled 
Children's Team 

26 - Young person out of County 
referral received but not 

considered as not met 
threshold. 

27.09.16 F 14 NCC Childrens Services, Safeguarding and 

Care Planning North 4 

34.5 31 Declined – Limited evidence 

of CSE. 

27.09.16 M 15 NCC Childrens Services, First Response 

Team 2 

42 37 Declined – Limited evidence 

of CSE. 

27.09.16 F 15 NCC Childrens Services, Initial  Response 
Team 3 

47 47 Accepted 

27.09.16 F 17 Police Safer Community Team, Rushden 25 25 Declined – below the RISE 
threshold. 

27.09.16 F 16 LAC North 20 20 Declined – Limited evidence 
of CSE. 

27.09.16 F 12 NCC Childrens Services, Safeguarding and 
Care Planning North 2 

43 43 Accepted 

04.10.16 + F 15 Buckby House Care Home 39 39 Accepted 

04.10.16 + F 15 NCC Childrens Services, First Response 

Team 3 

36 36 Declined – Limited evidence 

of CSE. 

+ Please note above 2 referrals received into RISE in September 2016, but not discussed until new referrals meeting on 04.10.2016. 

 

 

* The score relates to the Northamptonshire Safeguarding Children’s board CSE risk assessment. 

Completion of the CSE risk assessment is required in order to make a referral to the RISE team.  

A score of 38 and above indicates a high risk of CSE, which is the general threshold for acceptance 

into RISE.  The RISE management team exercise professional judgment though when reaching a 

decision and hold a weekly referral meeting, which includes a representative from Education and 

the Youth Offending Service in addition to the RISE partners of Children’s Services, Health, Police 

and CAN (a third sector organisation).      

 

 

 

  

101



4 
 

Open Cases     
 

 
G
e

n
d
e 
r 

A 
g 

e 

Town Education 
Establishment 

Team Legal 
Status 

Date 
Accepted 

Missing/ 
Absent 

episodes 
01.09.16 to 

30.09.16 

F 14 Towcester NK Norfolk Social Care 
 

06/09/2016 2/7 

F 16 Kettering Southfield School 
for Girls 

Safeguarding & Care 
Planning North 6 

CP 15/03/2016 0/2 

F 15 Northampton The CE Academy Safeguarding & Care 
Planning South 1 

CIN 06/09/2016 0/0 

F 15 Rushden Rushden 
Community College 

Safeguarding & Care 
Planning South 7 

CP 18/06/2015 0/2 

F 13 Kettering Progress School Safeguarding & Care 

Planning North 4 

CIN 24/05/2016 0/0 

F 15 Northampton Northampton 
College 

Safeguarding & Care 
Planning South 3 

ICO 09/08/2016 0/0 

F 17 Daventry UTC Daventry Safeguarding & Care 
Planning North 4 

S20 09/08/2016 0/0 

F 15 Brackley Silverstone UTC Safeguarding & Care 
Planning South 8 

LAC 26/07/2016 0/0 

F 14 Peterborough The CE Academy Safeguarding & Care 
Planning South 7 

CIN 02/08/2016 0/0 

F 13 Kettering Overstone Park 
School 

Safeguarding & Care 
Planning North 5 

CIN 31/05/2016 0/1 

F 15 Northampton College Safeguarding & Care 
Planning North 1 

CIN 12/07/2016 0/0 

F 15 Northampton NEET Safeguarding & Care 
Planning South 1 

CIN 12/04/2016 0/0 

F 17 Northampton NEET LAC South S20 05/07/2016 0/0 

F 17 Northampton N/K Safeguarding & Care 
Planning South 3 

CIN 22/12/2015 0/0 

F 14 Wisbech Virtual School for 
Looked After 

Children 

Safeguarding & Care 
Planning North 8 

S20 05/01/2016 0/3 

F 14 Northampton Thomas Beckett 
Catholic School 

Safeguarding & Care 
Planning South 5 

CIN 05/07/2016 2/0 

F 17 Corby NEET LAC North S20 24/08/2016 0/0 

F 14 Kettering Buccleuch Academy Safeguarding & Care 
Planning North 1 

CP 16/02/2016 0/0 

F 15 Market 
Harborough 

Campion School LAC South S31 22/12/2015 0/0 

F 14 Rushden Northampton 
School for Girls 

Safeguarding & Care 
Planning South 6 

S20 19/01/2016 1/0 

F 15 Wellingborough Bishop Stopford 
School 

LAC South S31 19/07/2016 0/0 

F 14 Wellingborough Wollaston School Safeguarding & Care 
Planning North 7 

CIN 24/05/2016 0/0 

F 16 Towcester Sponne School Safeguarding & Care 
Planning South 7 

CIN 10/05/2016 0/0 

F 12 Northampton Northampton 
School for Girls 

Safeguarding & Care 
Planning South 3 

CIN 24/08/2016 0/0 

F 13 Corby Kingswood 
Secondary 
Academy 

Safeguarding & Care 
Planning North 2 

CP 05/01/2016 0/0 

F 15 Kettering Kettering Science 
Academy 

Safeguarding & Care 
Planning North 2 

CP 26/04/2016 0/0 

F 15 Northampton Northampton 

Academy 

Safeguarding & Care 

Planning South 6 

CIN 09/08/2016 1/0 

102



5 
 

F 15 Northampton CANTO College Safeguarding & Care 

Planning South 6 

CP 24/08/2015 0/0 

F 13 Corby Northampton 
Academy 

Safeguarding & Care 
Planning South 5 

S20 16/08/2016 1/1 

F 14 Corby Corby Business 
Academy 

Safeguarding & Care 
Planning North 6 

CIN 10/12/2015 1/1 

F 16 Kettering College Safeguarding & Care 
Planning North 7 

CIN 10/05/2016 1/0 

F 15 Corby Corby Technical 
School 

Safeguarding & Care 
Planning North 4 

CIN 28/06/2016 1/0 

F 13 Rushden Rushden 

Community College 

Safeguarding & Care 

Planning North 1 

CIN 21/06/2016 0/0 

F 13 Northampton Caroline Chisholm 
School 

None Closed 17/07/2015 0/0 

F 15 Northampton Weston Favell 
Academy 

Safeguarding & Care 
Planning South 5 

CP 28/06/2016 0/0 

F 15 Daventry Not listed Safeguarding & Care 
Planning South 7 

CIN 26/11/2015 0/0 

F 15 Northampton Northampton 
School for Girls 

Safeguarding & Care 
Planning South 6 

CIN 23/02/2016 0/0 

F 14 Northampton Northampton 

Academy 

First Response Team 1 CIN 09/08/2016 1/0 

F 15 Rushden Kettering Science 
Academy 

Safeguarding & Care 
Planning North 8 

CIN 09/08/2016 0/0 

F 16 Rushden Northampton 
College 

Safeguarding & Care 
Planning North 5 

CIN 26/01/2016 0/0 

M 16 Rushden Northampton 
College 

Safeguarding & Care 
Planning South 2 

CP 03/05/2016 0/0 

F 13 Corby Kingswood 
Secondary 
Academy 

Safeguarding & Care 
Planning North 5 

CIN 13/09/2016 0/0 

F 14 Corby Corby Technical 
School 

Safeguarding & Care 
Planning North 7 

CIN 17/05/2016 0/0 

F 14 Wellingborough Fairlawn School Safeguarding & Care 
Planning North 2 

ICO 
 

27/07/2015 0/0 

F 16 Daventry Danetre School Safeguarding & Care 
Planning South 7 

CIN 09/08/2016 0/0 

F 12 Kettering Elective Home 
Education 

Safeguarding & Care 
Planning North 2 

CP 23/03/2016 0/3 

F 17 Wellingborough Tresham Institute Safeguarding & Care 
Planning North 4 

CP 26/07/2016 0/1 

F 16 Northampton Moulton College Safeguarding & Care 
Planning South 5 

CIN 12/01/2016 0/0 

F 12 Wellingborough Weavers Academy Safeguarding & Care 
Planning North 2 

CIN 27/09/2016 0/0 

F 15 Milton Keynes Not listed Safeguarding & Care 
Planning South 8 

CIN 27/09/2016 0/0 

M 15 Northampton Daventry UTC First Response Team 2 CIN 27/09/2016 0/1 

 
 

KEY: 

CP SUBJECT TO CHILD PROTECTION PLAN 

CIN CHILD IN NEED PLAN 

ICO INTERIM CARE ORDER 

S20 VOLUNTARY ACCOMMODATED 

S31 CARE ORDER 

LC LEAVING CARE 

 

 

  

103



6 
 

Multi Agency engagement meetings  

 

 

Total number of engagement meetings with young people in September 

2016 

 

1:1 meetings 

completed 

1:1 meetings 

attempted 

Professional 

meetings attended 

Parent/Carer 

meetings attended 

 

91 

 

36 

 

23 

 

2 
 

 

 

Statistics 

 

 

 

 

Open RISE cases Trend to September 2016 

 

34
37

42 42

46

50
48 49

44
46

53 53
50 49 49 49

43

51

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

104



7 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Year to Date Statistics 

 
2015/2016 
 

Arrests 
(RISE 

Police) 

Total new 
referrals 

received 

Closed 
Cases 

Open Cases 
to RISE 

Team  

Engagement 
meetings 

April 4 12 9 34 - 

May 6 14 3 37 63 

June  8 19 9 42 100 

July 5 18 4 42 68 

August 4 21 4 46 77 

September 4 15 5 50 79 

October 5 20 6 49 94 

November 2 25 3 44 101 

December 3 20 7 48 58 

January  4 21 5 49 73 

February  3 23 2 53 91 

March 5 21 6 53 86 

April 3 12 3 50 118 

May 7 19 6 49 105 

June 8 10 6 49 109 

July 4 13 5 49 106 

August 6 15 12 45 90 

September 11 13 0 51 91 

 

 

 

  

105



8 
 

Missing Children in Northamptonshire Statistics 

 

2015/2016 Total No. of 
Missing/ 

Absent 
Incidents 

No. of 
Absent 

Incidents 

No. of 
Missing  

Incidents 

Return 
Interviews 

Completed 

Return 
Interviews 

Completed 
within 72 hrs 

% 
Completed 

within 72 hrs 

April  160 119 41 33 16 55.00 

May  144 106 38 34 16 68.18 

June 178 123 55 48 32 74.29 

July 176 98 78 69 47 68.10 

August 139 64 75 43 28 65.11 

September  168 64 104 64 50 78.19 

October 162 71 91 48 34 70.80 

November 144 53 86 38 27 71.10 

December 127 70 57 33 17 51.50 

January  165 51 114 53 36 67.90 

February  180 58 122 45 34 75.60 

March 174 67 107 46 37 80.04 

April  145 55 90 50 42 84.00 

 
 

Please note that missing figures are now calculated differently due to more accurate reporting. 

 

2016 Total No. of 

Missing/ 

Absent 

Incidents 
 

No. of 

Absent 

Incidents 

No. of 

Missing  

Inciden

ts 

IRI’s 

assigned 

IRI’s 

engaged 

with  and 

completed 

IRI’s 

success-

fully 

completed 
within 72 

hrs 

% of 

completed 

IRI’s 

conducted 
within 72 

hrs 

% of 

assigned 

IRI’s 

completed 
within 72 hrs 

May 195 72 123 113 84 58 69.00 51.00 

June 187 94 93 83 55 38 69.10 45.70 

July 157 49 108 93 60 52 86.06 55.90 

August  168 64 103 88 56 47 83.93 53.40 

September 198 94 104 87 62 44 71.00 50.57 

 

 

  

106



9 
 

Analysis of Missing Data September 2016 with a Specific Focus on Looked After 

Children 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Any Other Reason

8%

Contact with Family 

(Have or Avoid)

19%

Contact with Friends 

(Have or Avoid)

38%

Reason Unknown

32%

Suspected Sexual 

Exploitation

3%

Non Looked After Children 
Most Prominent Reason for Missing Episodes

September 2016

107



10 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

  

Any Other Reason

37%

Contact with Family 

(Have or Avoid)

6%

Contact with Friends 

(Have or Avoid)

44%

Reason Unknown

13%

Looked After Children (LAC) 
Most Prominent Reason for Missing Episodes

September 2016

8

6

23

17

8

9

10

12

16

0 5 10 15 20 25

Domestic Violence

Gangs

Misuse of Substance

Offending Behaviour

Other

Parent/Carer Abuse

Risky Sexual Behaviour

Self Harm

Sexual Exploitation

Risks Identified through Independent Return Interviews

108



11 
 

Arrests/Interviews 

 

 
Date Suspect 

 
Offence OIC Outcome 

09/09/16 1 Inciting a child to commit sexual 

activity 

DC Kate 

Robinson 

Bailed 

09/09/16 2 Child Abduction  PC Steve 

Knight 

Charged and 

remanded 
16/09/16 3 Sexual activity with child PC Mark 

Abbott 

Bailed 

16/09/16 4 Inciting a child to commit sexual 

activity 

DC Kate 

Robinson 

Bailed 

Various 

dates 
5  7 x arrests for Operation Hames (4 

of the arrests took place in August 

2016).  This is an investigation into 

the circumstances surrounding a 

15 year old missing school child 

from Kettering area. 

DC Sam 

Kelley 

5 x NFA 

2 remain on 

Police bail 

16/09/16 6 Sexual assault of a child  DC Ollie 

McNally 

(MOSOVO) 

Reg. sex 

offender Charged 

and remanded 
23/09/16 7 Rape of a child, and administering 

substance 

DC Ruth 

Banyard 

Bailed  

28/09/16 8 Possession of Indecent Images Of 

Children 

DC Kate 

Robinson 

Bailed  

30/09/16 9 Sexual assault DC Kate 

Robinson 

Bailed 

 
 

 

Strategy Meetings and Achieving Best Evidence Interviews attended 

 

 

Police Officer  Strat 

Meetings 

attended 

ABE 

Interviews/ 

Assessments 

completed 

PC Louisa Dyer 0 0 

PC Mark Abbott 0 0 

DS Helena Congreve 0 0 

DC Ruth Banyard 4 1 

DC Kate Robinson 0 1 

DI Richard Tompkins 2 0 

PC Kate Smith/PC Steve Knight                  1 0 

 

 

109



12 
 

Investigations of Note  

 
On 09th September a 22 year old male from Corby was re-arrested in relation to suspected child 

abduction and his exploitation of a 15 year old female. The arrest was necessitated by information 

suggesting the perpetrator was continuing a sexual relationship with the victim including spending 

time with her during a missing episode. This was despite police bail conditions and a Child 

Abduction notice being issued to him. The male was charged with 4 counts of sexual activity against 

the victim. Information had also emerged that the same male had sexually offended against 

another 13 year old female in the area and he was also charged with this. The male was remanded 

in custody and is to re-appear at Northampton Crown Court on 11th October 2016. Both victims 

are now being supported by RISE engagement work.  

 

Following disclosures by a 13 year old female open to the RISE team two males have been arrested 

in unrelated incidents within East Northants. A 19 year old male was interviewed on 09th September 

in relation to suspected sexual activity (his second arrest relating to this child) and an 18 year old 

male was arrested by the same RISE officer a week later following on suspicion of inciting a child 

to commit sexual activity. Both have both given conditional police bail. 

 

A 23 year old male from the Daventry rural area was arrested for inciting a child under 16 to 

commit sexual activity. This followed a 15 year old female, open the RISE team, confirming she 

had had sent indecent images of herself having been requested to do so by the offender. The male 

has admitted the activity and a file is being prepared for the CPS, seeking authority to charge.   

 

On 23rd September 2016 a 25 year old male form Corby was arrested on suspicion of rape, sexual 

activity with a child and administering a substance with intent to commit a sexual offence. This 

follows an investigation into events that occurred in Corby in June this year during a missing 

episode of a 15 year old female who is now engaged with the RISE team. The male has been given 

conditional police bail until 5th November 2016. 

 

Following a protracted enquiry a RISE investigator arrested and interviewed a 30 year old male on 

the Isle of Wight on 30th September 2016, after the ship he had sailed within to the UK docked. 

The male was arrested on suspicion of the sexual touching of a 13 year old female, this offence 

having taken place 2 years ago on Tristan de Cunha, a small, isolated British Territorial island in 

the South Atlantic, some 5000 miles from the UK. The case is now being managed by a detective 

sergeant based in the South Atlantic territories who co-ordinated the arrest of an adult male on 

Tristan De Cunha at the same time. This followed a disclosure from a female formerly open to the 

RISE team. The suspects were bailed. 

 

   

  

110



13 
 

Proactive Safeguarding Team 

 
RISE 

The Proactive Safeguarding Team conducted enquiries into the continued contact between a 15 

year old girl and a 19 year old male who had previously been served a CAWN and was also on 

Police bail with conditions preventing this contact.  A statement was taken evidencing these 

breaches and the suspect was arrested on suspicion of Child Abduction. 

 

The suspect admitted to being in a sexual relationship with this particular child but also admitted 

to engaging in sexual activity with a 13 year old girl and was therefore charged and subsequently 

remanded.   

 

A male was arrested for causing/inciting a child into sexual activity who was already on Police bail 

for sexual offences relating to the same child who is an open case to RISE.  A second male was 

also identified and arrested for Meeting a Child following Grooming in respect of this same child. 

 

A vulnerable CSE victim placed within Northants from Norfolk began to cause concerns in relation 

to missing episodes and some proactive work is ongoing in respect of her phone which has been 

seized. 

 

Concerns were identified regarding a group of girls who were repeatedly going missing together 

and one of them was the victim of sexual offences whilst they were attending a party in 

Northampton.  The circumstance around these parties has been the subject of extensive enquiries 

to identify who is responsible for organising them and this work is still ongoing. 

 

Two boys were visited in relation to concerns raised regarding their association with an older male 

however no disclosures were forthcoming from either child. 

 

The Proactive Safeguarding Team have been completing enquiries into the circumstances of a 17 

year old girl from Coventry travelling to Northampton to meet with a male she had met online.  

She is a looked after child from London and the work undertaken has resulted in her disclosing an 

offence of rape.  This is currently being investigated jointly by the team and RISE. 

 

A male was arrested for the rape of a child relating to a disclosure obtained following a missing 

episode.  RISE is investigating this offence and support was provided by the Proactive Safeguarding 

Team in terms of the ABE, arrest, statements and subsequent interview.  This male remains on 

Police pre charge bail. 

 

A significant amount of time was taken up with a high profile missing person.  The 15 year old was 

located on 9th September 2016, the team have retained ownership of the investigation that was 

generated throughout the period that she was missing. 
 

The Police return home visit was conducted together with her Social Worker at her foster 

placement.  Whilst the young person was engaging she refused to provide any information 

regarding whom she had associated with throughout this time stating that she had remained with 

the male she was found with for most of it and considered him to be her boyfriend.  She did not 

make any disclosures of offences. 

 

Throughout the investigation a total of seven people were arrested in relation to the contact they 

were known to have had with the young person during the time that she remained missing.  Five 

of these have now been refused charge in relation to any offences and the remaining two are still 

due to answer bail.  However in light of there being no disclosures from the young person it is 

unlikely that any charges will be made in relation to either. 

 

As a direct result of the arrests extensive searches were completed at each address associated to 

those arrested and the process of returning or authorising the destruction of property seized is still 

ongoing. 

 

111



14 
 

The paperwork generated throughout the investigation is still being scheduled and filed 

appropriately so that all information generated is readily accessible for any future review or audit 
of this case. 

 

Paedophile Online Investigation Team (POLIT) 

Three warrants were executed in support of POLIT colleagues this month with arrests made at 

each and searches conducted of the associated premises. 

 

Domestic  Violence 

One High Risk Domestic Violence victim was seen and her safety ensured but she declined any 

follow up contact from the Sunflower Centre. 

 

Missing 

The Proactive Safeguarding Team conducted enquiries into concerns that had been identified 

around a looked after child from Northants associating with males known to the Police during a 

missing episode from her placement out of county.  Statements were obtained in support of issuing 

CAWN’s to these associates.  However whilst still trying to locate the missing person one of these 

males was seen driving a van and was circulated as wanted for an offence of burglary.  This person 

was arrested as were other males two of which have subsequently been remanded into custody.  

CAWN’s will be served on them upon release if still appropriate. 

 

The team located another missing person with CSE concerns and Police protected her.  A meeting 

was in progress with professionals and the child’s mother and she was therefore taken to the 

meeting and left in the care of her mother. 

 

 

POLIT (On Line CSE Team)  

 

4 warrants executed 

 

2 child protection referrals made 

 

1 suspect arrested 

 

The following people were convicted/sentenced: 

 

• MALE – sentenced 23/09/16 for offences of: 1 x assault a girl under 13 by touching and 6 

x making indecent images of children (IIOC).  Received 8 years imprisonment and an 

indefinite Sexual Harm Prevention Order (SHPO).  Sex Offender Register (SOR) for life. 

 

• MALE – convicted and sentenced 07/09/16 for offences of: 3 x making IIOC and 1 x 
possession of an extreme pornographic image.  Received 4 months imprisonment 

suspended for 24 months.  7 year SHPO.  SOR 7 years. 

 

• MALE – convicted 01/09/16 for offences of: 2 x making IIOC.  Sentenced 22/09/16 to a 2 

year community order and an indefinite SHPO. SOR for life. 

 

• MALE – convicted 16/09/16 for offences of: 3 x making IIOC, 1 x distributing IIOC, 1 x 

possession of an extreme image, 1 x possession of a prohibited image and 1 x attempting 

to arrange or facilitate commission of a child sex offence. Remanded in custody pending 

sentence.  He has been placed on the sex offender register however the length of time on 

the register will be determined by the sentence received. 

 

• MALE – convicted 19/09/16 for offences of: 3 x making IIOC, 3 x distributing IIOC and 5 x 

possession of extreme pornographic images. Remanded in custody pending sentence.  He 

has been placed on the sex offender register however the length of time on the register will 

be determined by the sentence received. 

 

112



15 
 

• MALE – convicted 15/09/16 for offences of: 1 x incite a female aged 13 to engage in sexual 

activity and 1 x possession of an extreme pornographic image.  Remanded on bail pending 
sentence.  He has been placed on the sex offender register however the length of time on 

the register will be determined by the sentence received. 
  

POLIT are currently working with Cambs Police POLIT to try and identify 24 potential children that 

may have been a victim/witness of an adult male who has been on the ooVoo video chat and 

instant messaging application portraying himself to be a female aged between 12 -14 years old.  He 

has been in a chat room of victims aged between 8-11 and uploaded a video of a male 

masturbating.  He has also privately messaged an 8 year old female and tried to incite her into 

engaging in sexual activity online and made threats towards her if she did not comply.  This 

investigation is ongoing and the POLIT teams from both forces are working together in order to 

put the appropriate safeguarding measures in place. 

 

Further to August’s report, POLIT is still working on the two protracted investigations as previously 

mentioned:  

 

- The first is linked to a large scale paedophile ring which has now gone global; so far 3 

suspects have been remanded in custody pending court appearances - two are in force and 

have been convicted and have been placed on the sex offender register, both awaiting 

sentence.  The other suspect is out of force and is awaiting a court appearance.  Enquiries 

ongoing which includes numerous secondary investigations.  

 

- Another investigation surrounds fake social media accounts whereby an adult male has 

posed as a 14 year old female online and has incited young males into engaging in sexual 

activity online.  This has identified possibly up to 75 victims and work is ongoing to try and 

identify the victims in order for safeguarding measures to be put in place. 

 

 
Health 

 

The Specialist Nurse in the RISE team has continued to liaise with health staff, update health 

records, and give advice and support to health staff working with vulnerable children/young people 

at risk of CSE. 

 

The Specialist Nurse has met with one school nurse to provide safeguarding children supervision 

about sexual exploitation cases.  

 

The first ‘Midlands CSE Nurses Health Meeting’ took place at the RISE offices on 8th September – 

the purpose of this is for CSE Nurses in CSE teams within the West and East Midlands to meet up 

to share best practice and for peer support. This is being led  by the Specialist Nurse in the RISE 

team.  

 
This month, the CSE Nurse has met with RISE team engagement workers to discuss the health 

needs of each child/young person open to the team. 

 

The Specialist Nurse has met with Dr James Finlay, Designated Safeguarding General Practitioner 

for Northamptonshire, to provide guidance on child sexual abuse and exploitation as part of his 

ongoing work to develop a guide for General Practitioners.  

 

Peer support took place with a Safeguarding Named Nurse from Warwickshire.  

 

Ongoing Health representation at CSE and Young Persons Missing Forum at Police HQ was by the 

Specialist Nurse on 2nd September. This was sharing of information about vulnerable children and 

updating health records and liaising with relevant health professionals after the meeting. 

 
 

 

Client contact by CSE Specialist Nurse: 

113



16 
 

 

Date 

 

Purpose of client contact 

01/09/16 Assess emotional wellbeing 

12/09/16 Discussion about pregnancy 

 

Number of clients pregnant: 3 

 

 
Bereavement and Emotional Support 

 

There were a total of 44 referrals received by RISE through the period July 2016 to September 

2016. Analysis of the referral forms, supported by information from other sources has taken place 

to establish how many of the young persons referred had experienced bereavement. The 

bereavement experienced by the young people were from significant family members including a 

parent, grandparent, sibling or another significant adult role model in their lives. This is 

documented in the below table. 

 

BEREAVEMENT/LOSS JULY AUGUST SEPTEMBER 

Yes  8 5 6 

No  4 11 6 

Not Known 1 3 0 

 

The statistics indicate that 41% of young persons referred into RISE (18/44) had experienced 

bereavement.   

 

The RISE specialist nurse, Paula Swain, has been unable to locate published research and 
documented links between bereavement and CSE but comments: 

 

Research suggests that bereaved children may experience psychological problems, 

behavioural and somatic problems, problems in school performance and peer 

relationships.  There is limited evidence about what works for children/young people 

who are bereaved with scant specialist bereavement services, which makes them more 

vulnerable. Therefore, I would say that bereavement and significant loss are ‘push 

factors’ for CSE.  

Statistics published by the Childhood bereavement network ,a charity offering support when a child 

faces bereavement, indicate that 111 children each day in the UK lose a parent, and that 1 in 29 
school children has been bereaved of a parent or sibling – effectively a child in every school class.  

The nurse has recently raised the issue with the Commissioners for health services, highlighting a 

need for effective specialist bereavement care for children and young people. She also intends to 

discuss the issue at the next Midlands CSE nurse network meetings (a new forum she established 

that met for the first time last month at the RISE offices)  

A new plan to assess the emotional wellbeing of all the young people open to RISE is being put in 

place. The RISE specialist nurse has meet with the Child and Adolescent mental Health Service 

(CAMHS) service manager and is developing a process to assess the emotional well-being of the 

RISE cohort of young people. She will not be assessing mental health but looking at emotional 

needs, with bereavement, anxiety etc as a focus and referring each young person where necessary 

to the appropriate service.  Every young person, even if they are working with CAMHS, will be 

assessed to gain a better understanding within the RISE team about each young person’s emotional 
wellbeing and who is working to support that young person. 

 
  

114



17 
 

CSE Awareness raising delivered by RISE Team 

 

DATE Delivered 

by 

Training/presentation 

delivered 

Venue Number of 

practitioners 

01/09/16 Richard 

Tompkins 

30 minute Input to Rectory 

Farm Primary school.  

Rectory Farm 

Primary School 

25 teachers 

06/09/16 Richard 

Tompkins 

45 minute Input to Bench 

Probation service 

Wellingborough  

Probation Service, 

Wellingborough 

8 

14/09/16 Paula Swain RISE team and CSE Specialist 

Nurse role 

NWG Network in 

Derby 

12 

27/09/16 Paula Swain CSE awareness for health 

practitioners  

Northampton 

General Hospital 

16 

27/09/16 Abbie 

Conway 

Training to Foster Carers Collingtree Village 22 

28/09/16 Richard 

Tompkins 

30 min presentation to Licensing 

committee forum, East 

Northants council plus Q&A 

session (1930 x 2130). 

East Northants 

Council, Thrapston 

30 

29/06/16 Abbie 

Conway 

CSE awareness to Foster Carers Nene White Water 

Centre  

20 

 

 

Comments and Recommendations 

 

 
1) The number of open cases to RISE has exceeded 50 for the first time in six months  

(accurate as of 5th October 2016), this follows the acceptance of six new cases in the last 
month.   

 

2) Numbers of absent children episodes sharply increased in September to 94, some 30% 

above the long term average. The reasons for this are not clear especially as missing 

episodes remained static. Looked After Children accounted for 54% of all missing children.  

 

3) Analysis of referrals into RISE over the preceding 3 months reveal that nearly half (48.6%) 

of the young persons referred had experienced bereavement of a close family member.  The 

RISE specialist nurse has frequently highlighted the strong link between bereavement and 

vulnerability to CSE due to the significant emotional impact this causes, effectively acting 

as a ‘push’ factor. Improved emotional support for young person’s open to RISE is being 

developed by the nurse who will now seek to meet with each new young person accepted 
into RISE to assess their emotional well-being.     

 

4) Capacity of the RISE Investigation team is limited throughout October due to abstraction of 

two members of the team and as well as a vacancy (for which a recruitment process is 

under way). The Safeguarding Proactive Team will provide support in order to minimise the 

impact on operational effectiveness.  

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

115



1 

 

NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

 

SCRUTINY PANEL  1  –  CHILD SEXUAL EXPOITATION 

CORE QUESTIONS  –  EXPERT ADVISORS 

 

The Scrutiny Panel is currently undertaking a review that is investigating Northampton Borough 

Council (NBC) plays an active role in tackling Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) 

 

Key Lines of Enquiry 

 To gain an understanding of the work currently being undertaken by partnerships, 

statutory and voluntary organisations, and the Police to address these issues 

 To investigate how NBC contributes to the above work  

 To raise awareness of CSE, human trafficking and domestic slavery of children in 

Northampton  

 To explore best practice elsewhere in identifying and providing support to victims of CSE 

 To understand what NBC is doing outside the Scrutiny process in relation to human 

trafficking and domestic slavery of children 

 

 

The expected outcomes of this Scrutiny Review are: 

 To make evidence based recommendations to improve the role that NBC has in tackling  CSE  

 To make recommendations, as appropriate, regarding partnership working in tackling CSE 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

116

Agenda Item 5d



2 

 

CORE QUESTIONS: 
 

A series of key questions have been put together to inform the evidence base of the Scrutiny 

Panel:  

1. Please provide details of the work currently being undertaken by your 

organisation to address child sexual exploitation (CSE) 

The Educational and Inclusion Partnerships Team (EIP) attend the monthly 

multi-agency CSE/missing persons forum and also the monthly steering 

group.  

EIP officer based in the MASH attend the weekly RISE (Reducing incidents of 

Sexual Explotation) allocation meetings. 

 

2. Is there a clear and robust multi-Agency strategy for information sharing, 

preventing and managing CSE? 

Please see the above groups 

 

3. What other multi-Agency forums exist to facilitate joint working? 

We are represented in the MASH and MASH steering group, the FGM/HBV 

sub- group and feed into the FGM community group. EIP are represented on 

the PREVENT and attend the Channel meeting where appropriate. 

 

 

4. What is the extent and profile of CSE in Northampton? How do we know this? 

For the most complete and accurate information please refer to the RISE 

team which is led by DI Richard Tompkins in Northants Police. 

 

5. How effective has NBC, its partners and the Police, been in engaging with the 

local community and other organisations in raising awareness of CSE? 

From a NCC, Learning, Skills and Education perspective information is shared 

with schools. Schools are aware of their obligations towards safeguarding.  

In May 2015 professionals working directly with children in Northamptonshire 

had the opportunity to attend the  launch of the CSE toolkit to support them to 

ascertain the level of risk of CSE children and young people may be exposed 

to. 

Schools Information is shared at Locality forums and Peer Support groups for 

schools’ staff across the County on a termly basis. 

Secondary Schools and Academies have had the opportunity to access 

“Sophie’s Choice”, an awareness raising  CSE education play devised for 

year 9+ (ages 13 and 14), which is followed by a question and answer session 

and follow up work in lessons. Part of this programme also includes 2 days 

triaining for schools’ staff. This is delivered via the Targeted Mental Health 

117



3 

 

(Tamhs) programme which is available to schools via the NCC Education 

Psychology Service.  

 

6. How can awareness be raised further of CSE, human trafficking and domestic 

slavery of children in Northampton? 

For local groups to have a lead responsible for the above who is able to liaise 

with the relevant community groups and attend training sessions through the 

local Northamptonshire Safeguarding Children’s Board in order to better 

understand the local context.  

 

The EIP team within Learning Skills and Education are currently devising a 

series of twilight training sessions for Designated Safeguarding Leads in all 

schools. It is anticipated that these will be held in four venues across the 

county on a termly basis where all safeguarding issues and information, 

including CSE, human trafficking and domestic slavery can be shared. We are 

hoping to be able to invite community groups and other professionals to help 

facilitate these sessions. 

 

 

 

7. How is CSE incorporated into local training programmes, and who is able to 

access this training? 

Resources and Training, including the CSE toolkit, are available for children, 

parents, carers and professionals through the Local Northamptonshire 

Safeguarding Children’s Board www.northamptonshirescb.org.uk  

 

8. What support is available to current, potential and historic victims of CSE? 

Please refer to DI Richard Tompkins and the work of the RISE team 

 

9. Do you have further information regarding the role of NBC in tackling CSE?    

Please liaise with the Northamptonshire RISE team, led by DI Richard 

Tompkins. This team takes the lead for CSE across Northamptonshire. 

118

http://www.northamptonshirescb.org.uk/


1 

 

NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

 

SCRUTINY PANEL  1  –  CHILD SEXUAL EXPOITATION 

CORE QUESTIONS  –  EXPERT ADVISORS 

 

The Scrutiny Panel is currently undertaking a review that is investigating Northampton Borough 

Council (NBC) plays an active role in tackling Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) 

 

Key Lines of Enquiry 

 To gain an understanding of the work currently being undertaken by partnerships, 

statutory and voluntary organisations, and the Police to address these issues 

 To investigate how NBC contributes to the above work  

 To raise awareness of CSE, human trafficking and domestic slavery of children in 

Northampton  

 To explore best practice elsewhere in identifying and providing support to victims of CSE 

 To understand what NBC is doing outside the Scrutiny process in relation to human 

trafficking and domestic slavery of children 

 

 

The expected outcomes of this Scrutiny Review are: 

 To make evidence based recommendations to improve the role that NBC has in tackling  CSE  

 To make recommendations, as appropriate, regarding partnership working in tackling CSE 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

119

Agenda Item 5f



2 

 

Response covering Community Safety, including Anti-Social Behaviour Unit 
 
CORE QUESTIONS: 
 

A series of key questions have been put together to inform the evidence base of the Scrutiny 

Panel:  

1. Please provide details of the work currently being undertaken by your 

organisation to address child sexual exploitation (CSE) 

  

 CSE affects all communities; neither victims nor perpetrators come 
solely from  any particular social, economic, ethnic or faith background.  
Therefore, it is important that a joined up approach is taken across all 
agencies.  This has been recognised within Northampton Borough 
Council and also the Northampton Community Safety Partnership 
(NCSP).   
 
A multi-agency countywide approach has been established to respond 
to and address issues of CSE.  In response to this NBC Community 
Safety and NCSP has undertaken the following action: 

  

 CSE Training has been provided to: 

 Frontline officers 

 Councillors 

 Housing Officers 

 Taxi drivers (also included in the Taxi driver induction course 

for new drivers) 

  

 Established as a Community Safety Partnership (CSP) priority, under 
Violent Crime and Vulnerable people. 
 

 CSE established as a separate agenda item on CSP Board and 
Officer Group meetings and sub groups. 
 

 Community Safety representation on relevant countywide groups. 
 

 Community Safety are picking up on actions within the countywide 
CSE action plan 

 

  

2. Is there a clear and robust multi-agency strategy for information sharing, 

preventing and managing CSE? 

 

 There is an established multi-agency Countywide Information Sharing 

 Agreements covering community safety (which would include CSE) in 

120



3 

 

place.  In support of this there are also more robust ISA’s for specific 

areas such as Anti-Social behaviour and Housing; these too, would also 

enable information on CSE to be shared. 

 

 In addition to this Section 115 of the Crime & Disorder Act 1998 (revised 
2005) enables any person to disclose information for the purposes of 
any provision of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 to a relevant authority, 
or to a person acting on behalf of such an authority. 

 

3. What other multi-Agency forums exist to facilitate joint working? 

 

Partnership working is well established within Northampton and NBC 
has a long history of working in this way.  The following forums in 
Northampton and Northamptonshire enable joined up working to take 
place effectively: 
 
 Community Safety Partnership Board 
 Community Safety Officers Group 
 Northampton Town Centre Task Group 
 Northampton Anti-Social Behaviour Action Group 
 Northampton Street Community Group 
 Countywide Community Safety Managers Group 
 Countywide Interpersonal Violence Group 
 Countywide Child Sexual Exploitation sub group 

 

4. What is the extent and profile of CSE in Northampton? How do we know this? 

 

 Main information for Child Sexual Exploitation sits with the Police.  Data 

is not shared routinely with CSP’s.  However, information is shared with 

NBC and the more specifically the CSP on a need to know basis to 

inform partnership working and enable response. 

 

5. How effective has NBC, its partners and the Police, been in engaging with the 

local community and other organisations in raising awareness of CSE? 

 

 Over the past 12 months Northamptonshire Police and 

Northamptonshire County Council have led on a joint countywide CSE 

campaign to raise awareness within organisations and with local 

communities.  This approach saw the following activities taking place: 

 

 Countywide Multi-Agency CSE Conference 

 NBC CSE Conference led by head of Housing & Wellbeing 

 Establishment of Countywide CSE sub group 

 2 x countywide media campaigns 

121



4 

 

 Information leaflets and posters distributed within NBC and to 

other local organisations on CSE 

 Training undertaken as detailed in question 1 

 Information leaflets available through NCSP ‘Weeks of Action’ 

 

As NBC and NCSP form part of a wider countywide approach it is 

difficult to establish how effective we have been.  However, referrals into 

the Reducing Incidents of Sexual Exploitation (RISE) team have 

increased significantly over the year, and this could be attributed to the 

higher levels of awareness raising undertaken within organisations and 

with communities. 

 

6. How can awareness be raised further of CSE, human trafficking and domestic 

slavery of children in Northampton? 

 

 Establish CSE Awareness as part of Core Induction Programme 

for staff and councillors.  This could be undertaken either through 

face to face training or an e-learning module. 

 

 Continue supporting the countywide awareness raising 

campaigns led by Northants Police and NCC.  Ensure key 

messages are cascaded within NBC and through our 

Communications team.   

 

 Communicate though established groups such as Forums, Weeks 

of Action, CSP sub groups, One Stop Shop message board, 

community and NBC events, Community Centre management 

teams 

 

 Work with business communities, contacts that we can have 

influence with such as licensed premises, taxis, public transport 

(Northgate Bus Station), hotels, Town Centre BID, Brackmills, BID, 

Pubwatch. 

 

  Engage with Local Safeguarding Children’s Board and 

Northamptonshire Inter Personal Violence Group  

 

7. How is CSE incorporated into local training programmes, and who is able to 

access this training? 

 

 Training is currently provided on identified need or demand – initial 

training has been undertaken with front-line officers, housing officers, 

councillors and taxi drivers. 

122



5 

 

 

 CSE awareness training should be established as part of NBC’s core 

induction programme for staff and councillors.  Nominated officers 

trained to deliver face to face training and an e-learning module should 

be developed.  Ideally refresher training should be undertaken every 2 

years by staff.  This could be monitored through the annual appraisal 

process.  

 

8. What support is available to current, potential and historic victims of CSE? 

 

 NBC would not deal directly with potential or historic victims as they 

require a specialist support service.  Therefore, if we became aware of a 

victim a Safeguarding referral would be made via the RISE Team, who 

would then pick up on this.  The RISE team is made up of a range of 

agencies that have the skills to provide support, such as social workers, 

family support, specialist police staff, drug & alcohol worker and 

specialist nurse. 

 

 In addition to this there is also specialist support available through 

VOICE (victim support services), Northamptonshire Rape Crisis Centre, 

Serenity (sexual assault referral centre) and Women’s Aid  

 

  

9. Do you have further information regarding the role of NBC in tackling CSE?    

 

 Good partnership working with the Police, NCC and other relevant 

 agencies is key to ensuring a joined up and effective response to CSE.  

This is taking place through established working relationships and 

meeting structures.   

 

 

On behalf of: 

 

Julie Seddon 

Director of Customers & Communities 

 

Cllr Mike Hallam 

Cabinet Member for Community Safety 

123



Scrutiny Panel 1 Child Sexual Exploitation 
 
Response to core questions:  Ruth Austen Environmental Health and 
Licensing Manager NBC 
 

1. Please provide details of work currently being undertaken by your 
organisation to address CSE. 
 

1. As a regulatory body CSE impacts on a range of our work.  Frontline staff have 

all received briefings on CSE and are reminded to be alert for any signs of it 

occurring during their routine work.  If any suspicious activity is noted and 

referrals made to the RISE team.  Team members attended the CSE conference 

in 2016. 

 

Fit and proper person checks are carried out on taxi and private hire drivers and 

operators and a range of other licence holders.  This process involves DBS 

checks.  In addition, information about any taxi / private hire driver / operator 

arrested for sexual or violent offences is passed to the Licensing team by the 

Police under the Police Common Law Disclosure process.  On the basis of 

information received licences may be revoked or other enforcement action taken.  

Information on CSE is included in the training day for all new Private Hire Drivers.  

The understanding of this information is tested as part of the driver assessment 

process.  Two briefing sessions on CSE have been provided for hackney drivers 

and private hire drivers and operators which were attended by approximately 200 

people.  – it is proposed that further similar briefings for the taxi / private hire will 

be arranged in future and work is progressing to arrange similar briefings for the 

hotel and on-licenced trade. 

 

2. Is there a clear and robust multi-Agency strategy for information 

sharing, preventing and managing CSE? 

Work in accordance with CSE Toolkit 

 
3. What other multi-Agency forums exist to facilitate joint working? 

Arrangements in place for information sharing with Police as outlined in 

1 above.  Northants Licensing Liaison Group which has reps from all 

District Councils, County Council (Health and Trading Standards), 

Police, and a range of other agencies discusses Licensing issues and 

Safeguarding / CSE is a standing agenda item. 

Member of CSP officer group which has some discussion on CSE 

Involvement where necessary in case conferences / LADO meetings 

on a case by case basis 

 

4. What is the extent and profile of CSE in Northampton? How do we 

know this? 

124



Aware that it is a nationwide issue and of the existence of the RISE 

team in Northants.  Awareness of overall issues through professional 

contacts /meetings. 

 
5. How does NBC contribute to the above work   

See above.  Awareness of staff / eyes and ears on ground 

 

 
6. To raise the Scrutiny Panel’s awareness, please supply details of what 

NBC is doing, outside the Scrutiny process, in relation to human 

trafficking and domestic slavery of children   

Some involvement with multi-agency operations to address human 

trafficking.  Joint visits have been carried out to food premises and to 

on and off licenced premises – these have not been specifically to 

target slavery involving children but have had a more general focus. 

 
7. How effective has NBC, its partners and the Police, been in engaging 

with the local community and other organisations in raising awareness 

of CSE? 

See point 1 above regarding taxi / private hire industry.  General 

campaigns to raise awareness of issue / reporting mechanisms quite 

effective but may be some denial that this type of thing happens here. 

 
8. How can awareness be raised further of CSE, human trafficking and 

domestic slavery of children in Northampton? 

Further publicity campaigns, reporting successful cases and operations 

 
9. How is CSE incorporated into local training programmes, and who is 

able to access this training? 

See point 1 above 

 
10. What support is available to current, potential and historic victims of 

CSE? 

I do not have any specific experience in this area. 

 
11. Do you have further information regarding the role of NBC in tackling 

CSE?    

125



 
 

 
 

NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

SCRUTINY PANEL 1 
Child Sexual Exploitation 

 
10 November 2016 

 
BRIEFING NOTE: BACKGROUND DATA 

 
1       INTRODUCTION 

 

1.1       At its inaugural scoping meeting, Scrutiny Panel 1 (Child Sexual 

Exploitation) agreed that it would receive details of background 

research reports to inform its evidence base. 

  

1.2        A number of  published research papers were presented to the 

Scrutiny Panel at its meeting on 8 September 2016 for information. 

 

1.3       The research papers for consideration by the Scrutiny Panel at its 

meeting on 10 November 2016 are: 

 

                   Jay Report 

 

1.3.1       The publication of independent review in 2014 by Professor Alexis 

Jay - Jay Report into child sexual exploitation in Rotherham 

highlighted a number of serious failings by key agencies in meeting 

their statutory responsibilities to protect vulnerable children from 

being sexually exploited. A series of similar high profile CSE cases 

around the country have led to increased awareness of this still 

hidden crime and prompted responses from national and local 

decision makers to look critically at what is being done to protect 

vulnerable children. 

 

1.3.2       The Government published a detailed response to the findings of the 

Jay Report - Tackling Child Sexual Exploitation (March 2015).The 

document makes reference to the overarching responsibilities of local 

authorities to safeguard and promote the welfare of children. The 

Scrutiny Panel was provided with details of this document at its 

meeting of 8 September 2016. 

 

126

Agenda Item 6

http://www.rotherham.gov.uk/downloads/file/1407/independent_inquiry_cse_in_rotherham


 

 

 

2 

                  New system to tackle Child Sexual Exploitation 

1.3.3 A report was published by the University of Bedfordshire into a new 

system for tackling child sexual exploitation (CSE) at root. In theory 

this should significantly reduce the risk of organised paedophilia 

across the country. 

1.3.4 The system, called Families and Communities Against Sexual 

Exploitation (FCASE) is a multiagency approach led by the child 

welfare charity Barnardo’s, in cooperation with amongst other 

agencies, the police and social services. Over 2500 people working 

with children were trained while the study was focused on three 

geographical areas and looked after over 250 vulnerable children. 

                 Early intervention 

1.3.5 The reported aim of FCASE is to prevention. Vulnerable children and 

families were identified and approached to keep them out of trouble. 

1.3.6 A key factor in this was Barnardo’s role. Its keyworkers were on the 

frontline in the project, talking to and relating with families. Families 

gained trust and good relations with the keyworkers – one mother 

said she felt as if she was talking to her best friend and that she could 

tell them anything. 

1.3.7 Another family had a lot of distrust in the police, but in engaging with 

the system in this way began to feel that the police were on their side, 

and started talking to the police about their worries. 

1.3.8 Children who had already been abused yet were on the verge of 

being abused again learned that the abuse wasn’t their fault. Looking 

back 30 odd years to when it happened to me in the 1980’s, I still 

have trouble believing that the sexual abuse I received wasn’t my 

fault. Such early engagement can help heal lifelong wounds. 

                 Family education and relations 

1.3.9 Adolescents think they are adults as soon as their hormones kick in. If 

there are problems at home they will seek solace among their social 

circles. It is reported that this is where paedophiles lurk, both online 

and offline in the real world. 

1.3.10 FCASE spends eight weeks working with adults and children in those 

troubled families, working on conflict resolution within those families, 

and showing both the teenagers and adults how to spot when a 

paedophile is grooming. In a number of cases, families didn’t even 

realise that their child was being groomed even as it was happening. 

127



 

 

 

3 

This was a bit of a shock, and on spotting it the families took action to 

prevent anything serious happening. 

1.3.11 The report suggested that monitoring children’s  online and social 

media presence is a key action all parents should do to avoid 

grooming from taking place. Regular check ins with their children at 

all times of the day is something the more troubled families didn’t do, 

and this changed too. 

                 Community events 

1.3.12 57 community events were held to engage community groups and 

specific communities to help raise awareness of grooming and sexual 

exploitation. This included forced marriage within certain ethnic 

communities, but also got people thinking about children they knew. 

                  Professionals’ education 

1.3.13 As part of the process, professionals who worked with children in 

healthcare, police, social care and a number of other disciplines were 

trained as well. By law any professional who worries for the welfare of 

the child in any way should report it. The training however taught 

them how to spot the signs of CSE, and gave them a specific set of 

resources for reporting it. 

                 Conclusions 

1.3.14 The report concluded that FCASE was a resounding success, and 

prevented a large number of children from being abused. Barnardo’s 

CEO Javed Khan said of the pilot, “Keeping children safe and 

preventing abuse before it occurs has to be our overriding priority. 

Everyone has a role in achieving this and it is vital that families and 

communities are kept engaged and informed 

                 National Action Plan to Prevent and Tackle Child Sexual 

Exploitation (CSE)   

 

                 Strategic approach  

 

1.3.15       The report states that he Ministerial Working Group and National 

Sub-group have agreed the long term, intermediate and contributory 

outcomes which will achieve progress towards its aim of eliminating 

child sexual exploitation in Scotland.   

 

1.3.16 The plan is structured around four intermediate outcomes:  

 

1.3.17 The risk that children and young people are exploited is reduced 

through a focus on prevention and early identification.  

128



 

 

 

4 

 

1.3.18 Children and young people at risk of or experiencing sexual 

exploitation and their families receive appropriate and high quality 

support.  

 

1.3.19.       Perpetrators are stopped, brought to justice and are less likely to re-

offend. . Cultural and social barriers to preventing and tackling CSE 

are reduced.  

 

1.3.20 It is reported that each section provides an update on work underway 

since the publication of the first national plan and set out key actions 

over the next 2-3 years which build on current activity. Outcomes at 

each level are inter-related and many of the actions contribute  to 

achieving more than one outcome. We will develop a set of indicators 

to measure  progress towards achieving the outcomes set out in the 

plan by December 2016: 

 

 
 

 What is being done: 

 

1.3.21                         Raising awareness amongst parents and the wider public 

 Building the knowledge and resilience of young people 

 Helping young people understand their rights and stay safe 

online 

129



 

 

 

5 

 Improving protection and encouraging reporting in minority 

ethnic Communities 

 Providing guidance and training to help equip practitioners 

to recognise and respond 

 Raising awareness of legal preventative measures 

 

What’s next 

 

1.3.22  Details of what’s next are stated in the report and include: 

 

 Continue to build the knowledge and resilience of young 

people 

 Strengthen the local response 

 Develop a framework for Child Protection Committees to 

facilitate a consistent and collaborative approach to 

preventing, identifying and responding to child sexual 

exploitation across Scotland.  

 Develop guidance for practitioners and agencies which will 

identify best practice and resources to support the 

identification and assessment of child sexual exploitation, by 

September 2016.  

 Deliver three child sexual exploitation regional workshops 

for practitioners during 2016-17 to share learning and best 

practice. 

 Develop a better understanding of scale and nature and a 

more robust evidence base 

 Develop guidance for medical practitioners 

 Support night-time economy workers to recognise and 

report warning signs 

 Continue to raise awareness and empower communities to 

identify risks and act to prevent abuse 

 Reform the system of civil orders to better protect 

communities from those who may commit sexual offences 

 

2              RECOMMENDATION 

 

2.1 That the information provided in this briefing note informs the 

evidence base of this Scrutiny Review. 

 

 

 
 
Author:  Tracy Tiff, Scrutiny Officer, on behalf of Councillor  Dennis Meredith, Chair, Scrutiny Panel  

1 – Child Sexual Exploitation 
 

 18 October 2016 
 

  

130



 1 

 

 
NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

 
SCRUTINY PANEL 1– CHILD SEXUAL EXPLOITATION (CSE) 

  
10 NOVEMBER 2016 

 
BRIEFING NOTE: DESKTOP RESEARCH 

 
1  Introduction 

 

1.1 The Scrutiny Panel, at its inaugural scoping meeting, agreed that desktop research would be 

undertaken regarding organisations and Local Authorities noted for their best practice procedures 

in tackling child sexual exploitation. 

 

2 Information 

 

2.1 Local Government Association 

 

2.1.1 In its resource pack for Council‟s the Local Government Association (LGA) details a number of 

case studies that highlight various Local Authorities and organisations as examples of best 

practice: 

 

2.1.2 Blackburn with Darwen Council: Engage Team 

 

Background 

 

Operation Engage was a police led operation set up in 2005, focusing on an area of  

Lancashire where there were a large number of missing children. Operation Engage worked  

with a total of 30 children, all girls, over a period of three years. The team built up ongoing,  

trusting and supportive relationships with the young people, who over time disclosed a range  

of sexual and violent abuse. All of the children (bar one) were looked after, and mostly cared  

for in children‟s homes.  

 

The project  

 

In 2008 the Engage Team, a co-located multi-agency response to tackle CSE, was established  

by Blackburn with Darwen Safeguarding Children Board to continue the work initiated under  

Project Engage. The team are co-located in one building and key partners are social care,  

police and health. Voluntary sector service providers are also a key delivery partner. The team  

consists of: one team manager; six young people‟s workers (from the council, Barnardo‟s and  

Brook); one social worker; one administrator; two nurses; one PACE worker (Parents Against  

Child Sexual Exploitation, parent support worker); one Princes Trust worker; one detective  

sergeant; four detective constables and one missing from home coordinator (police). Many  

external partners are also involved in the work of the team, with virtual support for the wider  

group of partners who have weekly team meetings e.g. youth offending, schools, the women‟s  

centre, drug and alcohol service and licensing services. 

131



 2 

 

The team has developed over time, becoming more specialised in CSE services from 2009  

onwards. Understanding of patterns of abuse, risk factors and warning signs of CSE has  

developed over time and the team approach reflects this. Since April 2014 the team has  

additionally been responsible for all interviews when a child returns from a missing episode.  

The team are independent of the care planning pathway process for 11 -18 year olds, and  

only involve social workers when there is a clear need, for example where there are cases of  

neglect at home. CSE demands a non-stigmatising response, so young people‟s workers are  

the preferred main point of contact. 

 

The team has access to information on databases from all agencies; the information is shared  

openly (and legally) in order to protect children. The team reports are always reported up to  

the LSCB. A work culture where everyone has a genuine voice, where all agencies are equal  

partners, works well in Blackburn with Darwen; there is no single dominating partner and  

everyone has ownership of the issues. 

 

Impact  

 

Current key challenges for the team are to ensure that they remain child focussed and non- 

stigmatising, whilst also aligning processes, such as the recording and evidencing required  

by social work procedures. Incorporating processes, without letting services be dictated by  

that process has been a key challenge, avoiding delays in supporting the child or loss of the  

sensitive approach.  

 

Local case studies 

 

The team has achieved a number of successful prosecutions, resulting in a total of 700  

years in custody for perpetrators. This accounts for sexual offences specifically, and does  

not include other disruption activity such as prosecution for offences such as drugs related  

charges or abduction order notices. Prosecutions are led by police staff in the Engage Team.  

The Engage Team worked with the Crown Prosecution Service (CPS) to assess how they could  

gain convictions using robust evidence, and consequently the team now looks for evidence  

which supports the young person‟s story, rather than identifying the gaps and weaknesses. A  

young person‟s key worker will prepare the child for the court process, throughout the case,  

including post-trial; and a PACE worker provides support for parents. The team has a 98 per  

cent success rate. Over time the team is now predominantly dealing with grooming offences;  

concentrating on prevention and disruption activity.  

 

The Engage Team Manager, Nick McPartlan, advises that “senior leaders and politicians need  

to be open, honest and transparent and demonstrate flexibility when addressing the abuse.  

Political sign-up, resources and capacity are vital.” 

 

2.1.3 Calderdale Council: Co-located specialist CSE team and daily intelligence sharing 

meetings 

 

Background 

 

In Calderdale, prior to June 2014, children who were identified as being at risk of sexual  

exploitation were experiencing different levels of service provision across the first 

response and locality teams. Communication between the key agencies involved in 

service delivery was sometimes a barrier in ensuring young people received a swift joint 

132



 3 

approach to address their needs. The agencies delivering relevant services were based in 

different locations and not always available to respond immediately.  

 

The project 

 

Since June 2014, police officers and social workers have been co-located in a specialist 

CSE team at the police station. Other key agencies such as The Children‟s Society‟s „Safe 

Hands‟, health, youth services and the youth offending team are also part of the virtual 

team. Daily briefings are held and any intelligence is shared immediately so robust action 

can take place to ensure children identified at risk of CSE are safeguarded. The roles and 

responsibilities of the police officers and social workers within the team are clearly set out, 

as are the responsibilities of the key partner agencies working with the team. The wider 

operational group of partner agencies now attend a weekly meeting so that all information 

can be shared in a more timely and effective way.  

 

Impact 

 

The new approach has led to a number of improvements in local work to protect children 

and young people from CSE: 

 

 all new cases are discussed at the next daily briefing and multi-agency decisions 

are made  

 regarding the appropriate action to be taken 

 fewer transfer points are promoting greater consistency in services for children and 

young  

 people 

 there is improved communication and joint working between social care, the police 

and the  

 voluntary sector service provider and an increased number of joint visits between 

the three  

 key agencies 

 the continuity of shared intelligence and response delivered by social care staff 

within the  

 team has improved 

 the team provides CSE expertise, support and where required, joint visits to 

children on the  

 local CSE Matrix who have remained with other social care teams 

 there is CSE social care support and guidance in respect of thresholds regarding 

young  

 people who are on the CSE Matrix  

 the team ensures that all operational group recordings and intelligence is shared 

with other  

 social care staff and recorded on the child‟s electronic file 

 social care staff are now a part of the preventative programme delivered to other 

agencies. 

 Many of the actions being taken in Calderdale are recent processes, and results 

and  

133



 4 

 improvements in processes are already being seen. The council and partners 

acknowledge  

 that there are still areas for further action including the continual review of team, the 

processes  

 in place and resources available and needed. 

 

2.1.4 Essex Safeguarding Children Board: CSE champions  

 

Background 

 

Essex Safeguarding Children Board (ESCB) formed a strategic group with neighbouring 

local authorities, Southend and Thurrock, to ensure a joint approach to child sexual 

exploitation (CSE) across the County.  

 

One of the key outcomes from the strategic group was to develop a CSE champion role, 

and each organisation was subsequently asked to nominate a lead within their agency.  

 

The project 

 

The key features of the CSE champion‟s role are to: 

 

 keep up to date with developments, policy and procedures in relation to CSE 

 act as a point of contact for disseminating information from the ESCB  

 provide advice and signposting in relation to individual cases. 

 

The CSE champions are expected to be familiar with the Essex CSE risk assessment  

toolkit, know how to submit intelligence to Essex Police, cascade the learning from the 

CSE champions training and provide ongoing updates to their teams. 

 

Impact  

 

There have been about 300 CSE champions trained from various organisations across 

Essex; some organisations have more than one champion because of their size.  

 

Currently the format of the champions training comprises a full day, with the first half 

delivered by local practitioners from the Essex Police child sexual exploitation triage team 

and the Essex County Council CSE lead. The afternoon session is delivered by a 

psychotherapist who focuses on brain science, understanding perpetrators and making 

sense of responses of victims. 

 

Going forward, Essex intends to make this a half day training session facilitated by the 

police and council with input from a voluntary sector organisation. The training will be 

more focussed on how to apply the tools available in Essex and will be a practical session 

using case studies. 

 

One of the biggest outstanding challenges is being able to meet the demand for training,  

particularly as it is being delivered by operational staff and therefore has to fit in with the  

demands of their day job. 

134



 5 

The champion role is an important mechanism for the ESCB, helping to raise awareness 

about CSE, the Essex risk assessment toolkit, and the importance of submitting the right 

intelligence to the police. Champions also act as a key communication route through the 

agencies to staff teams and the community.  

 

As a way of providing ongoing support, the ESCB has recently completed four CSE  

Champions networking forums in each quadrant area, which have been well attended. 

This is part of the ongoing commitment to supporting CSE champions in their workplace. 

 

2.1.5 Greater Manchester: Project Phoenix, It’s not okay campaign 

 

Background 

 

Project Phoenix emerged from the Greater Manchester Safeguarding Partnership in April 

2012, following a scoping exercise into existing practice in relation to child sexual 

exploitation. The project was partly a response to high profile cases in Rochdale, 

Stockport and other parts of the country and recognition from all partners that a more 

effective joined-up approach was needed to tackle CSE. Project Phoenix was Greater 

Manchester‟s single, collaborative approach which aimed to improve the response to CSE 

strategically, operationally and tactically.  

 

The project 

 

Phoenix is a key priority for the Association of Greater Manchester Authorities‟ (AGMA) 

Wider Leadership Team. The Phoenix Executive Board is chaired by the City Director for 

Salford City Council and the Board feeds directly into the AGMA Wider Leadership Team 

and the Greater Manchester Leaders‟ Forum. Tackling CSE is also a priority for the Police 

and Crime Commissioner and Greater Manchester Police. 

 

The main objectives of Phoenix are to: 

 

 raise standards across all partners in dealing with CSE 

 improve cross-border working between local authorities in Greater Manchester 

 improve consistency across Greater Manchester 

 achieve buy in from all key partners 

 raise awareness of CSE with the public, professionals, businesses, young people, 

etc. 

 encourage people to report concerns in relation to CSE. 

 

Under Phoenix there are now specialist CSE teams in place in each of the ten districts of  

Greater Manchester. Each team works with young people being sexually exploited and 

offers a joined-up, multi-agency response. Prior to Phoenix, there were only two such CSE 

teams in the region. Phoenix provides advice, support and guidance to these teams to 

ensure that all professionals are working to a consistent set of standards and procedures 

to improve services offered to victims and those at risk of CSE. 

 

 

 

135



 6 

Impact  

 

One of the main achievements of Phoenix has been to develop and roll out a consistent  

approach to measuring a young person‟s risk of CSE. Regardless of where a young 

person lives in Greater Manchester they will receive the same CSE assessment, meaning 

that all local authorities and key partners are talking about the same thing when it comes 

to CSE risk. The scoring system of the tool allows for professional judgements to be made 

and is child focussed. The information can be collated and sent to LSCBs in a consistent 

way and is used to develop a better picture of the scale of CSE across Greater 

Manchester. The project has also developed local information sharing protocols, 

education guidance and guidelines around disruption activity.  

 

According to Damian Dallimore, Project Phoenix Manager, “Since its inception in 2012 

Phoenix has made great strides in the services it offers to young people affected by CSE 

and their families. To do this it needs the support of the public, professionals, businesses 

and young people, to contact us with any concerns they may have in relation to young 

people being targeted and exploited in this way and I would encourage everyone to have 

a look at our website www.itsnotokay.co.uk where you can find out more about CSE as 

well as help and advice about where to report it and steps you can take to ensure young 

people are kept safe.”  

 

2.1.6 Pan-London Operating Protocol for CSE 

 

Background 

 

The Metropolitan Police Service (MPS) first set up a London wide CSE team in 2012, and  

the Pan-London Operating Protocol to tackle CSE emerged from the work of this regional  

team. Detective Superintendent Terry Sharpe chaired a multi-agency group and 

researched best practice in tackling and disrupting CSE from other areas, and those who 

had managed successful disruption and prosecution of offenders.  

 

The project 

 

The Pan London Operating Protocol brought together a set of procedures on how to tackle  

CSE for all 32 London Boroughs, to ensure a consistent approach was being taken across  

the capital. The Protocol was originally trialled in the summer of 2013 to ensure it was fit  

for purpose and the final version was launched in February 2014 in London‟s City Hall. 

The primary aim of the Protocol is to safeguard children and young people across London 

from sexual exploitation, and all London boroughs and LSCBs are signed up to the 

Protocol. 

 

The Protocol is designed to raise awareness, safeguard children and young people and  

enable identification of perpetrators of CSE and to bring them to prosecution. To do this 

local interventions and disruptions are being put in place. It can often take a long time to 

gain the trust of a victim to get them to disclose what has happened to them, so in the 

meantime creative disruptions are put in place to stop or prevent the abuse from 

happening. For example  

136

www.itsnotokay.co.uk%20


 7 

a CSE investigation into one perpetrator led to their vehicle registration number being 

added to the police database. As a result the perpetrator was pulled over and firearms 

were found in the back of their vehicle. The perpetrator is now in prison, but is not aware 

that he was stopped as a result of a child sexual exploitation investigation. 

 

The Protocol has established three categories of CSE. The first category, Level 1, is used 

when there is suspicion of CSE, but no evidence as to what is happening. This is recorded 

on the police system, so that if there are further suspicions at a later point in time, then 

there is more evidence to support the case. The information also helps to identify 

perpetrators and potential „hotspots.‟ Level 1 cases are dealt with by local borough police 

officers or the appropriate statutory agency who is best placed to provide clarity regarding 

these suspicions. Details of children and young people and with suspected perpetrators 

are entered onto the Police National Database (PND). Therefore, if a frontline officer finds 

a young person in a known „hotspot‟ area for CSE, or if they stop a car and have 

concerns, they will be able to take the appropriate action to safeguard the child even when 

no offences have been disclosed. The level 1 category was not previously recorded by the 

police in London on a crime recording database, as no crime has been known to be 

committed at this stage. Level 2 and 3 cases are more serious and dealt with by the 

centralised MPS CSE Team. 

 

Impact 

 

The Protocol is helping to raise awareness of CSE, particularly amongst frontline police  

officers. Two videos have been shown to all frontline officers, including telephone staff  

handling 101 calls. This includes a video outlining the warning signs of CSE. The 

mnemonic „SAFEGUARD‟ has also been created to help officers remember the warning 

signs along with an app that can be downloaded to assist in remembering the signs. The 

second film highlights the approach taken by Thames Valley Police in the „Operation 

Bullfinch‟ investigation and shares a victim‟s perspective of how she was dealt with by the 

police during her ordeal. This is followed up with a one hour training session, which all 

frontline Met police officers have attended. 

 

The Protocol has led to improved awareness of CSE amongst the community, particularly 

with hoteliers and other local businesses such as taxi firms. For example, the London 

Borough of Waltham Forest has recently launched „Operation Makesafe,‟ a partnership 

initiative with the local business community to identify potential CSE victims and, where 

necessary, to deploy police officers to intervene before any harm occurs to a child or 

young person. Operation Makesafe has involved an awareness raising marketing 

campaign and training for local hoteliers, off licences and taxi firms, to recognise the CSE 

warning signs and what action should be taken if CSE is suspected. As a result of the 

training a local firm agreed to donate marketing materials, such as hotel door adverts, 

posters and car mirror hangers for taxis, for free.  

 

According to Detective Superintendent Terry Sharpe “senior level engagement across 

partner agencies in delivering the protocol makes a big impact in tackling CSE.” 

 

 

 

137



 8 

2.1.7 Portsmouth: CSE strategy and awareness raising campaign 

 

Background  

 

The Portsmouth Safeguarding Children Board set up a CSE sub Committee in 2012 and 

tasked the Council in early 2014 with developing the local CSE strategy. The strategy has 

been implemented across partners alongside a local CSE action plan and risk assessment 

tool. 

 

The project/strategy 

 

In conjunction between the Portsmouth LSCB and the Safer Portsmouth Partnership, a  

marketing campaign was launched in 2013, using a web based approach and traditional  

billboard and bus adverts to promote „Is this Love?‟ The campaign looked at the aspects  

of a healthy relationship, highlighting the concerns about both domestic abuse and sexual  

exploitation of young people. The campaign also tied into the Safer Portsmouth 

Partnership priority of addressing high rates of domestic abuse in the area, particularly 

amongst young people. It is important to distinguish CSE from other forms of abuse such 

as domestic violence, however, there may sometimes be links and similar indicators, so all 

teams in Portsmouth are joined up to ensure appropriate information sharing and plans 

are in place to safeguard children and young people identified as at risk of abuse. 

 

In addition to the publicity work, a theatre based production for young people, Chelsea‟s  

Choice, was run in Portsmouth secondary schools to help young people explore the risks 

and warning signs of CSE. In early 2014 an awareness campaign was also delivered 

across local services including GPs and the police, this included a CSE conference for 

local agencies. 

 

A risk assessment tool was developed as part of the local action plan, based on the Derby  

Model, and adapted to the local circumstances. This was recently implemented for local  

agencies to help identify children at risk of CSE. Spot the signs training was also delivered 

to professionals across the partner agencies. In early 2014 a local CSE strategy was 

developed; the strategy is a short document, used as a practical tool for front line workers, 

particularly to give local context to the CSE action plan. The CSE sub-committee of the 

Portsmouth Safeguarding Children Board has also established a multi-agency operational 

panel to ensure the coordination of the identification, assessment, and planning for 

children and young people at risk of or experiencing CSE. 

 

Impact 

 

As a result of the specific local focus and joined up approach to tackling CSE; there have 

been huge improvements in identification and support for children and young people at 

risk of CSE.  

 

In Portsmouth a Joint Action Team, with co-located services including social workers, 

police, health, a domestic abuse worker, targeted youth support worker and Barnardo‟s, 

lead on working with young people identified as being at risk of CSE or trafficking, as well 

as children and young people who have returned from a missing episode. The work of the 

138



 9 

team feeds directly into the multi-agency CSE operational group comprising health, police 

and children‟s services. The group regularly shares information on the age profiles of 

victims, gender and ethnicity information, as well as whether children are looked after by 

the local authority and any professional from any team can raise concerns they have 

about a specific young person.  

 

Details of suspected perpetrators, locations of concern and disruption work are also 

shared within the group. The meetings give the police the opportunity to share „soft 

information‟ of interest, for example where shops may have been selling legal highs.  

 

The Portsmouth CSE strategy provides direction and filters down to the front line to give 

focus on CSE, and has influenced changes in practice, for example the risk assessment 

toolkit is being updated to reflect recent national level developments in CSE. The CSE 

action plan and strategy is in the process of being refreshed to ensure that it incorporates 

the wider approach to missing, exploited and trafficked children and young people. 

Portsmouth Council, the LSCB and the police have also been working on an improved 

data gathering process for children who go missing. Incidences of children who go missing 

are currently under-reported, and the council and key partners are working to understand 

the levels of need of children who have been trafficked.  

 

The refresh of the CSE strategy and action plan is examining in closer detail the impact 

and outcomes of the local approach, for example, many local indicators are moving in the 

right direction but the committee is now evaluating impact to establish whether the 

improvements are a direct result of the local action plan, awareness raising and disruption 

activities. 

 

Nicola Waterman, Strategy Manager, says that “commitment of all partners is essential in  

developing a CSE strategy and action plan. Involving all partners from the outset, 

particularly where there are a number of health agencies, is vital.” 

 

2.1.8 Slough Council: Licensing ‘splinter’ group 

 

Background 

 

In late 2013, Slough LSCB and Thames Valley Police agreed to work together on a CSE  

awareness raising campaign for licensed premises. A „licensing splinter‟ group was  

established, linked to the CSE sub- group and consisting of representation from Slough  

Borough Council licensing team, an Engage worker (CSE specialist team) and a Thames 

Valley Police Inspector. The group continues to meet on a bi-monthly basis; their work is 

strongly supported by councillors and forms a key part of the overall communications 

package on CSE awareness raising. 

 

The project 

 

In late 2013, the licensing group wrote a short article about CSE, which was published in 

the Slough Taxi & Private Hire Newsletter. CSE has consistently featured in subsequent 

newsletters to re-enforce awareness, and taxi firms and ranks are a key focus for the 

„Licensed Premises‟ working group. CSE is now mainstreamed into the work of the council 

139



 10 

licensing team, which has been significant in helping to maintain momentum on issues 

such as delivery of a CSE presentation to the Pub Watch Scheme members in December 

2013. The three teams involved in the working group set about coordinating premises 

visits in specific areas, and team members unfamiliar with CSE were trained and briefed 

on the key messages and action to take. A script with consistent messaging was 

developed to relay to local businesses. Thames Valley Police and the licensing team have 

now visited all local hotels and B&B‟s. The Engage team and police community support 

officers visited other local businesses and the council‟s food and safety and trading 

standards officers are also raising awareness at fast food outlets and other retail outlets 

during routine inspections. 

 

During visits to local businesses, awareness raising packs were distributed. Hotels and 

B&Bs received a Say Something If You See Something (SSIYSS) poster, Children‟s 

Commissioner CSE indicators, a letter from the Slough LSCB Chair and a Barnardo‟s 

leaflet. 

  

Impact 

 

Following each „wave‟ of visits, the team completed an evaluation detailing exactly which  

premises were visited and noting the time it took, who they spoke to and comments about 

the discussions with businesses and any concerns or questions that were mentioned. 

 

 During 2013 there were 24 joint visits to hotels and B&B‟s, 44 packs were 

distributed. 

 261 joint visits were made to local businesses. 

 Hotels contacted 101 to share concerns about CSE on three occasions. 

 The number of visits in the two years up to December 2014 has now risen to 

441. 

 

The SIYSS posters and full awareness raising packs that the team put together, including 

the letter from the Chair of the LSCB, enabled a professional and credible range of 

information to be presented to the hotel trade. Over the summer of 2014 the team 

revisited premises in particular „hotspot‟ areas, including hotels. The team took out posters 

and enquired to find out if they hotels had been displaying them and how staff members 

were being involved in being alert to CSE. 

 

A multi-agency approach, embedded via the „splinter group‟, has delivered enormous 

benefits, enabling a sharing of resources without placing a large capacity strain on a 

single agency. By visiting premises and hotels, publishing articles and having a better, 

wider presence across the town, the licensing working group has increased the degree of 

conversation within the communities about the issue of CSE in Slough. 

 

In May 2014 the Engage team at Slough Council received an award from the National 

Working Group: Tackling Sexual Exploitation Network, for their work to address CSE. The 

council‟s licensing team was also recognised in early 2014 with a Berkshire Environmental 

Health Officers Award for Achievement for their work on raising awareness of CSE. 

 

 

140



 11 

2.1.9 Stoke-on-Trent City Council: Commissioning an independent review of CSE and 

missing children services 

 

Background 

 

Stoke-on-Trent City Council has always taken a proactive approach to analysing the work 

being done to protect and support vulnerable children and young people and was keen to 

learn how they could improve their practices and processes in this area.  

 

A third sector organisation, Brighter Futures, is commissioned to deliver services for 

young people at risk and victims of sexual exploitation in Stoke-on-Trent. The service, 

known as Base 58, was due to be re-commissioned by March 2015. In February 2014, the 

decision was made to examine the existing service provision, looking at the strengths and 

weaknesses of the wider CSE multi-agency system, and assess where there were 

improvements needed. Brighter Futures was additionally contracted, alongside Base 58, 

to follow up children who had been reported missing, with workers making contact with 

young people who had been reported as missing within 48 hours of their return.  

 

The authority commissioned a review of its CSE and missing children service which took  

place between May and July 2014. In August 2014, „The Child Sexual Exploitation Service 

and Missing Children Service for Young People in Stoke-on-Trent; A Review‟ was 

published. 

 

The project 

 

The CSE and missing children service review was commissioned by children and young  

people‟s commissioners; with the public health team and the Stoke-on-Trent Safeguarding  

Children Board supporting the review.  

 

The proposal for the review went to the LSCB for their approval and commitment. The 

process took a total of 8 months from the initial proposal to the final report. The design of 

the review included an assessment of best practice and benchmarking of the CSE and 

missing children services. Chanon Consulting in conjunction with the University of 

Bedfordshire was deemed to be the most appropriate bid, due to the academic rigour and 

credibility of the proposed approach.  

 

The approach entailed a paper review of policies and procedures, as well as numerous  

qualitative and quantitative methods. Focus groups were conducted with practitioners,  

commissioners from the children and young people‟s service, police, managers, and third  

sector providers. Children in care were involved, as was the Chair of the LSCB. In 

addition, case studies of children and young people who had been using the services 

were also provided. 

 

Outcomes 

 

The report highlighted significant good work and practice, particularly concerning the 

council‟s joined-up work with safeguarding partners. In addition, there was praise for the 

recognition by agencies that CSE continues after 18, with support for young people 

141



 12 

transitioning to adult services; and mention of the efforts made with schools to raise 

awareness of the issues. 

 

Recommendations for further work were also noted, with the need to address some minor  

issues, as well as longer term goals for the CSE and missing children service and 

suggestions for improved multi-agency working. Quick wins included the creation of a 

CSE coordinator post. The review has resulted in an action plan which has been put 

together and is being taken forward. The action plan is owned jointly by all agencies on 

the LSCB executive. The current CSE and missing children service has been extended for 

12 months to enable the council to ensure that it gets the recommendations of the report 

right, and to implement any necessary CSE service and wider system re-design.  

 

Amanda Owen, strategic manager for safeguarding and quality assurance at Stoke-on-

Trent City Council, says: “We take the issue of child sexual exploitation extremely 

seriously. That is why, as part of our overall strategy to prevent CSE in the city and to 

protect our vulnerable young people, we commissioned this independent review. The 

report has left the city in a very good position to improve services.”  

 

To fully benefit from a review of CSE services and strategies, councils and LSCBs should: 

 

 be prepared to take an honest look at the services delivered 

 be absolutely honest and transparent about arrangements, for example with the 

public, the media and all key stakeholders  

 consider whether a review is being conducting for the right reasons. Are you willing 

to redesign and improve your services as an outcome of the review? 

 ensure that the review is undertaken by professionals with an understanding of the 

effect of CSE on children and is undertaken with academic rigour. 

 

2.1.10 West Midlands Region: Regional standards, pathways and self-assessment 

 

Background 

 

The West Midlands region recognised the cross boundary nature of CSE and the need for 

a robust response, so in 2011 set up a CSE strategic group. The group was established 

on a metropolitan area regional level involving the seven local councils and the respective 

police force in the region, as well as voluntary sector and health representatives. The 

group focussed on the common challenges of tackling CSE and what could be done 

together. The councils involved included: Birmingham City Council; Coventry City Council; 

Dudley Metropolitan Borough Council; Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council; Walsall 

Council; Wolverhampton City Council and Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council as well 

as the West Midlands Police. There was recognition of the cross boundary nature of the 

threat and the need for a robust and consistent regional approach to CSE, to avoid a 

postcode lottery of service provision across the West Midlands.  

 

The project 

 

In 2013 a task and finish group, chaired by a local authority chief executive, was set up to  

create a consistent and child centred approach to responding to CSE across the region.”  

142



 13 

The group developed 15 regional standards and pathways for tackling CSE. Guidance 

was also developed for front line practitioners and managers to support the 

implementation of the regional standards and pathways. It is anticipated that the regional 

standards will be added to each member LSCB‟s safeguarding procedures manual. (The 

pathways, standards and self-assessment tool can be found online at 

www.local.gov.uk/cse )  

 

The aim of the approach was to create a consistent and child centred approach to 

responding to CSE across West Midlands Police Force area, underpinned by the See Me 

Hear Me framework developed by the Office of the Children‟s Commissioner. There are 

still locally tailored pathways in each council area, dependent on local level 

circumstances, but a more unified regional level approach is in place, for example through 

a regional induction pack for the workforce on missing children, trafficking and CSE.  

 

Impact 

 

Implementation of the standards and pathways was managed at the local level, with LSCB  

Chairs playing a key role in monitoring the progress and impact of the regional standards.  

A self-assessment framework assisted LSCBs with local implementation, and also 

enabled the identification of common areas for improvement across the seven LSCB 

areas; a regional workshop for practitioners and managers was held to support with 

implementation.  

 

As a result of the common pathways and standards, and self-assessment screening tool,  

Solihull MBC has found that they are now much better at identifying victims of CSE. There 

has been a significant increase in the number of young people identified as at risk of harm 

from CSE since the screening tool was embedded, with an increase of 104 per cent of 

children identified at risk between May 2013 and October 2014.  

 

Key learning from the regional approach suggests that: 

 

 effective data collection is critical to the delivery of a robust response and to 

regional  

 problem profiling  

 a regional response does not replace the need for robust, coordinated action at a 

local level 

 establishing a regional approach needs a commitment to extra resources and 

capacity to  

 ensure timeliness and understanding and embedding of the approach 

 senior buy in is needed for influence and impact 

 sound governance arrangements were crucial to embed the standards and 

pathways when  

 partners were at different stages of implementation. 

 

Liz Murphy, former Safeguarding Children Business Manager at the Solihull LSCB 

highlights that “our aim has been to create a consistent response to CSE across the 

region and, most importantly, to use feedback from children and young people to develop 

and embed a multi-agency response that recognises and responds to children and young 

143



 14 

people as victims, and actively involves them in the safeguarding process. In addition we 

wanted to ensure sufficient emphasis on the disruption and prosecution of offenders.” 

 

2.2 Pace – Parents Against Child Sexual Exploitation 

 

2.2.1 Pace has published a document – “The Relational Safeguarding Model: Best practice in 

working with families affected by child sexual exploitation”. 

2.2.2 Pace reports that intervening early and adopting  a „ Relational Safeguarding Model‟ when 

working with families (rather than using the standard „child protection model‟) reduces the 

CSE risk factors for a child and maximises the ability of statutory agencies and parents to 

safeguard them. 

Pace goes on to state that the relational safeguarding model has been developed out of 

the latest research and professional experience on the benefits of a family-centred 

approach for safeguarding children specifically from CSE.  

Pace‟s report on the model is rooted in best practice and encompasses the rationale 

behind the model, the benefits of a specialist parents‟ support worker, and practical advice 

What is the relational safeguarding model? 

It is reported that it can be defined as: 

Professionals work in partnership with parents, facilitating and supporting them, in order to 

maximise the ability and capacity of statutory agencies’ and families’ to safeguard a child 

at risk of/being sexually exploited. 

The model has been developed to: 

 Safeguard children 

 Respond to the specific emotional and relational dynamics of the „grooming‟ 

of a victim by an external perpetrator and the impact on a family unit 

 Increase focus on early intervention and prevention of CSE 

 Increase prosecutions of perpetrators 

 Improve parent and family engagement with statutory agencies 

 Empower parents to provide long term support for the victim  

Why is the relational safeguarding model needed? 

Pace reports that successful convictions, effective working practice, surveys and 

academic research increasingly confirm that working in partnership with parents and 

carers is crucial for both preventing and responding to CSE. 

However, the existing child protection model does not adapt well to the reality of child 

sexual exploitation (where the risk is, as a rule, external to the family) as it is designed to 

144



 15 

respond to child abuse within the home through the assessment of parental and home 

circumstances. 

Pace adds that professionals taking the standard approach risk causing parental 

disempowerment and disengagement from the CSE safeguarding process.  This in turn 

can exacerbate hostility and loss of the shared focus of all involved to safeguard a child. 

The residues of victim-blaming persist, with many professionals continuing to believe that 

in most cases parents are in part responsible for the exploitation of their child. This issue 

needs to be confronted and eradicated, as it is taking the blame and focus away from the 

external perpetrator who is sexually exploiting and abusing a child and assuming the 

child‟s background is the root cause of abuse. 

Working with families, keeping families together and helping to rebuild families needs to 

become an integral part of the statutory response to CSE across the United Kingdom. 

Pace comments that all the professionals interviewed noted that by supporting the 

parents, they could then better protect the child. 

What does the relational safeguarding model provide? 

 Potential statutory cost savings including reducing the risk of a child going 

into a secure unit, court cases collapsing due to the failure of child witnesses 

to attend and family breakdown. 

 Cost effective support for parents in order to maintain the emotional, physical 

and mental resilience of the family while supporting a sexually exploited 

child. 

 The empathy and time to build a relationship with families, which facilitates 

mutually beneficial engagement with the statutory agencies. 

 Independent support to parents to empower them to work in partnership with 

statutory agencies in protecting a child and prosecuting perpetrators. 

 An increase in parental understanding  and knowledge of CSE and a 

reduction in the CSE risk to children and young people. 

 A conduit for parents to share information with the police which can support 

intelligence-led mapping, targeting of perpetrators and prosecutions. 

 Knowledge, support and practical intervention to ensure parents and the 

child or young person attend court as witnesses. 

 Long term emotional support and resilience before, during and post the 

criminal justice process. 

A copy of the document can be located:  http://www.paceuk.info/wp-

content/uploads/2013/11/Relational-Safeguarding-Model-FINAL-PRINTED-May-2014.pdf 

 

 

 

145

http://www.paceuk.info/wp-content/uploads/2013/11/Relational-Safeguarding-Model-FINAL-PRINTED-May-2014.pdf
http://www.paceuk.info/wp-content/uploads/2013/11/Relational-Safeguarding-Model-FINAL-PRINTED-May-2014.pdf


 16 

2.3 University of Bedfordshire 

 

2.3.1 The University of Bedfordshire was commissioned to publish a document “A Study of 

Current Practice in London”.  The report was commissioned by London Councils and  

the London Safeguarding Children Board. 

 

It is reported that in autumn 2013, London Councils and the London Safeguarding 

Children Board commissioned a team of researchers from the University of Bedfordshire 

to map current responses to child sexual exploitation (CSE) across London.  

 

The study was conducted in October/November 2013. The findings are drawn from an in- 

depth quantitative survey (completed by 30 London boroughs and local safeguarding  

children boards) and eight semi-structured interviews with statutory and voluntary sector  

providers.  

 

The report provides a snapshot of current responses to CSE across London, in relation to:  

 

• Local scoping of the issue;  

• Local policies and procedures;  

• Training and awareness raising;  

• Identification and early intervention (re. victims and perpetrators);  

• Responding to cases of CSE (re. victims and perpetrators); and  

• Overarching reflections on progress and challenges.  

 

The University of Bedfordshire reports that although there is still much progress to be 

made, the report encouragingly demonstrates that significant work is underway within this 

field, with pertinent learning emerging from a number of different boroughs.  

 

Key Statistics  

 

According to the information provided in the 30 survey returns completed by Assistant  

Directors (ADs) of Children‟s Services and Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) 

Chairs in October/November 2013:  

 

 Local scoping of the issue: Eight London boroughs have a completed CSE problem 

profile at that point in time (2013). Fifteen more are developing this and just under 

two-thirds have some other form of scoping mechanism in place (most frequently 

multi-agency sexual exploitation panels, LSCB CSE sub-groups and/or multi-

agency safeguarding hubs).  

 Monitoring numbers of children at risk: Just over half of London boroughs have a 

system in place to monitor the numbers of children at risk of CSE in their local area. 

All but two of the remainder are developing this.  

 Local Policies and Procedures: Seven out of ten London boroughs have a CSE 

strategy and four out of five have a local CSE guidance document or protocol. 

Three-quarters have a multi-agency and/or single agency CSE action plan, whilst 

three out of five have an information sharing protocol for cases of CSE. One in 

three currently has an outcomes framework for monitoring progress against their 

CSE strategy and/or action plans.  

146



 17 

 Multi-agency forums: Six out of seven London boroughs have a CSE specific LSCB 

sub-group and/or a LSCB sub-group including CSE within its remit. Just over two-

thirds have introduced multi-agency sexual exploitation (MASE) meetings as part of 

their local response to CSE. Seventy percent operate multi-agency safeguarding 

hubs (or the equivalent).  

 CSE co-ordinators/agency leads: All but one London borough has, or is in the 

process of establishing, a CSE co-ordinator role holding either an exclusive 

portfolio for CSE or, more often, dealing with CSE as part of a wider safeguarding 

remit. Four out of five London boroughs have CSE agency leads within children‟s 

services and the police. Proportions of boroughs with agency leads vary 

considerably by other professions from 71% (youth service) to three percent 

(Crown Prosecution Service).  

 Voluntary sector partnerships: Just under three-quarters of London boroughs have 

some form of formal partnership with a voluntary sector agency for tackling CSE 

within their borough. This includes both pan-London/national agencies and local 

agencies. Two-thirds of the 21 boroughs who reported having a voluntary sector 

partnership said that they funded this partnership in some way.  

 Professional training: Just over four-fifths of LSCBs include CSE in their general  

 safeguarding training. The same proportion offer bespoke training on CSE for 

professionals. The professional groups that this training has most frequently been 

delivered to across the different boroughs are children‟s services, education, health 

and the youth service. Two in five LSCBs have evaluated this training.  

 Awareness-raising with children and young people: Thirteen LSCBs have 

undertaken awareness raising initiatives with children or young people; a further 

seven are developing this area of work.  

 Awareness raising with parents/carers and the wider community: Twelve LSCBs 

have undertaken awareness raising initiatives on CSE for parents/carers; a further 

nine are developing this. Seven LSCBs have undertaken awareness raising work 

with wider communities; a further six are developing this. Three have done specific 

work with licensed premises and six more are developing this particular area of 

work.  

 Identification of risk: Four-fifths of London boroughs have a set of vulnerability 

factors that they use to proactively identify children at risk of CSE within their area. 

Children‟s services, the police and education are the three most frequently 

identified sources of referrals for concerns about CSE across the different 

boroughs.  

 Assessing and responding to risk: Just under three-quarters of London boroughs 

have a common risk assessment tool in use across agencies for assessing children 

who are at risk of CSE and identifying thresholds for statutory intervention. Similar 

proportions have a multi-agency forum in which cases of children at risk of CSE are 

discussed. There are high levels of representation from children‟s services, police, 

education, health and youth offending across these multi-agency operational 

forums. Youth service representatives are engaged in just over half of the London 

boroughs, as are voluntary sector providers.  

 Support available for young people identified as being at risk of CSE: Diversionary 

or early help is available within four out of five London boroughs when concerns are 

identified about CSE. CSE focused individual work with young people is available in 

virtually all London boroughs, whilst group-based CSE work is available in just 

147



 18 

under half. Support for associated issues and support for parents/carers are 

available in just under two-thirds of London boroughs.  

 Support for victims of CSE: The three forms of support most frequently available 

across the boroughs for identified victims of CSE were (a) individual therapeutic 

support (93%), (b) sexual health/relationship education (89%) and (c) drug/alcohol 

support (89%). These, and other support services, were delivered by a range of 

statutory and voluntary sector providers.  

 Use of secure, LAC systems and serious case reviews: Half of the London 

boroughs have secured a young person on welfare grounds as a result of concerns 

about CSE since 2009. Three-fifths have placed a young person in care as a result 

of concerns about CSE in the same period, whilst two-thirds have moved a young 

person out of area for the same reason. Two have undertaken a serious case 

review (SCR) where CSE was a feature, but none have conducted a SCR with CSE 

as the primary reason of concern.  

 Identification and pursuit of perpetrators: Three-fifths of London boroughs have a  

 specialist police response as part of their CSE case management system. Half 

have utilised disruption techniques (such as child abduction notices or prosecution 

for alternative illegal offences) in responding to suspected perpetrators of CSE. 

Just under three-fifths have had one or more criminal investigations in relation to 

CSE, whilst eight have had CSE related prosecutions.  

 

Discussion of Findings  

 

     The report details: 

 

The last few years have witnessed significant developments across many London 

boroughs in terms of their recognition of, and response to, CSE. Progress is clearly 

observable at a strategic level in terms of the development of policies and procedures, 

investment in professional training and the establishment of multi-agency groups. 

Most areas are providing or commissioning some form of support for those at risk of 

and/or those experiencing CSE with increased recognition of the contribution the 

community and voluntary sectors can offer in this regard. There is also increased 

recognition of the need to focus on those perpetrating this abuse and a number of 

areas have instigated successful investigations and disruption strategies in this 

regard.  

 

It goes on to note that whilst these developments are without doubt encouraging, 

significant scope for improvement still remains and boroughs themselves recognise 

this. Both survey respondents and interviewees identified ongoing challenges, and the 

need for further progress, with regard to a range of issues including:  

 

 Evidence-based knowledge about the nature and extent of the issue in their 

local area;  

 Alternative forms of CSE, such as peer on peer abuse;  

 Vulnerability of specific groups, including looked after children;  

 Cross-borough working;  

 Translating policies and guidance into practice;  

 Capacity/resources;  

148



 19 

 Preventative initiatives;  

 Identification of victims and assessment of risk, vulnerability and resilience;  

 Provision of (ongoing) support for victims;  

 Identification, disruption and prosecution of perpetrators;  

 Community engagement; and  

 Sustainable leadership and co-ordination of multi-agency working.  

 

Moving forward  

 

Engagement in this study has presented boroughs with the opportunity to map and 

review their current strategic and operational response to CSE and their recognition 

of required improvements within this is to be welcomed. Moving forward, it is hoped 

that each borough will reflect on their individual survey response in light of the 

composite findings of this report to clarify areas for future development and 

evaluate their progress in relation to this. The University of Bedfordshire advises 

that it is also hoped that the findings of this study will provide those with a pan-

London remit with useful baseline data from which to promote and facilitate more 

consistent levels of protection for all of London‟s children. 

 

A copy of the full report can be located:  

https://www.beds.ac.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0020/302096/FullReportLondon.pdf 

 

3       Recommendations 

 

3.1  It is recommended that the information provided in this briefing note informs the evidence base of 

this Scrutiny Review.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Author: Tracy Tiff, Scrutiny Officer, on behalf of Councillor Dennis Meredith, Chair, Scrutiny Panel 1  - Child Sexual 
Exploitation 

 
Date: 18 October 2016 
 

149

https://www.beds.ac.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0020/302096/FullReportLondon.pdf

	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	Minutes

	5a Cabinet Member for Children's Services and Director of Children's Services, NCC
	CSE 2016

	5b Chair, Northamptonshire Safeguarding Board
	SCRUTINY - 2016-11-10

	5d Director, Education Services, NCC
	5f Leader of the Council, Cabinet Member for Community Safety, Director of Customers and Communities and Environmental Health and Licensing Manager, NBC
	Scrutiny Panel1 Child Sexual Exploitation Envir and Licensing Manager

	6 Background data
	briefing note -desktop research


